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Lead Plaintiff State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio (“Plaintiff” or “STRS Ohio”),
individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, by and through its attorneys, alleges the
following upon information and belief, except as to those allegations concerning Plaintiff, which
are alleged upon personal knowledge. Plaintiff’s information and belief'is based upon, among other
things, its counsel’s investigation, which includes without limitation: (a) review and analysis of
regulatory filings made by Charles River Laboratories International, Inc. (“Charles River” or the
“Company’’) with the United States (“U.S.”) Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”); (b)
review and analysis of press releases and media reports issued and disseminated by or about
Charles River; (c) review and analysis of analyst reports concerning Charles River, and Charles
River investors conferences and conference calls with analysts and investors; (d) consultation with
experts in economic loss, damages, non-human primates, and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
policies and procedures; (e) information concerning the U.S. Department of Justice and U.S. Fish
and Wildlife Service’s criminal investigation concerning the trafficking of non-human primates
into the U.S., including court filings in the criminal actions captioned U.S. v. Omaliss Keo, et al.,
22-cr-20340 (S.D. Fl.), and U.S. v. Tucker, 21-cr-20263 (S.D. FL.); (f) documents obtained from
the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service or the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention through
Freedom of Information Act requests, and documents that have been obtained from various state
regulators and the U.S. Department of Agriculture concerning the interstate shipment of non-
human primates; and (g) review of other publicly available information concerning Charles River.

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION AND OVERVIEW

1. This class action (the “Action”) is brought under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§78j(b), and 78t(a), Rule 10b-5
promulgated thereunder by the SEC (17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5).

2. Plaintiffs bring claims on behalf of persons and entities that purchased or otherwise
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acquired Charles River securities during the period May 7, 2020 and March 15, 2023, inclusive
(the “Class Period”).

3. The Defendants are Charles River, James C. Foster, the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer (“CEQ”), President and Chair of the Company’s board of directors (“Foster”),
and David R. Smith, the Company’s former Corporate Executive Vice President (“VP”’) and Chief
Financial Officer (“CFO”).!

4. Charles River is a non-clinical (animal or preclinical), global drug development
company that assists drug developers in the discovery and development of new products, and
purports to be the largest provider of outsourced drug discovery, non-clinical development, and
regulated safety testing services worldwide. Among other services, Charles River sells small and
large animals (animal models) to drug developers for use in animal safety studies. Separately,
Charles River uses these animals in its drug safety assessment studies that its customers outsource
to Charles River. Charles River’s “Safety Assessment” business is part of the Company’s
Discovery and Safety Assessment segment (“DSA”), reportedly its biggest source of revenue.

5. Under U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) regulations, safety assessment
studies on animals are required to demonstrate safety before a drug can be tested in humans. Key
animal models used in the Company’s Safety Assessment studies are non-human primates
(“NHPs”), a group of animals, like monkeys or apes, that are biologically similar to humans. For
biologic drugs, like monoclonal antibodies, NHPs are the only animals approved for preclinical
safety studies. Indeed, as Defendant Foster stated after the Class Period, “biologic drugs cannot

be approved for commercial use without NHPs” and “you don’t do work in large molecule drug

! Defendants Foster and Smith are defined below as the “Individual Defendants.” The Company and the Individual
Defendants are referred to as the “Defendants.”
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2

development without nonhuman primates. End of sentence, full stop.” A particular species of
NHP, the long-tailed macaque, is the NHP used most frequently used in preclinical safety studies
for biologic drugs.

6. There are no domestic breeding sources for long-tailed macaques and nearly all are
imported into the U.S. A single Safety Assessment study could employ the use of dozens of long-
tailed macaques. Charles River does not breed NHPs and the Company relies on external suppliers
to obtain NHPs. According to U.S. Department of Agriculture (“USDA”) reports, Charles River
is the largest commercial user of NHPs in the U.S. Accordingly, before and during the Class
Period, a steady and timely supply of long-tailed macaques was material to Charles River’s Safety
Assessment business and the Company’s revenue and operating margin.

7. The long-tailed macaque is a protected species under the Convention on
International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (“CITES” or “CITES
Convention”), which is enforced in the U.S. under the Endangered Species Act (“ESA”). The U.S.
Fish and Wildlife Service (“USFWS”), an agency within the U.S. Department of the Interior, is
designated by Congress under the ESA as the CITES enforcement authority within the U.S. In
addition, the Lacey Act combats trafficking of illegally taken wildlife.> Because of the legal
protections accorded to long-tailed macaques under CITES and that nearly all long-tailed
macaques are imported into the U.S., Charles River and its suppliers of long-tailed macaques were

subject to U.S. and international law governing the commercial trade of long-tailed macaques.

8. Before the Class Period, Charles River imported over 60% of its long-tailed

2 The ESA provides “[i]t is unlawful for any person ... to engage in any trade in any specimens [of wildlife] contrary
to the provisions of . . . [CITES] or to possess any specimens [of wildlife] traded contrary to the provisions of ...
[CITES].” 16 U.S.C. § 1538(c). The Lacey Act makes it unlawful for any person to import, export, transport, sell,
receive, acquire, or purchase any wildlife taken, possessed, transported, or sold in violation of any law, treaty, or
regulation of the U.S. 16 U.S.C. § 3372(a)(]).
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macaques from China. Indeed, in 2019, the Company acquired a majority equity interest in a
breeding farm in China to ensure a timely and steady supply of long-tailed macaques for the
Company’s Safety Assessment business.

0. That changed as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. In early 2020 China imposed
export restrictions applicable to many animal species including long-tailed macaques and Chinese
exports of long-tailed macaques to the U.S. declined to zero. At or around the same time, the
demand for the Company’s Safety Assessment services and long-tailed macaques increased due
to an increase in COVID-19 related drug research, an increase in the number of biologic drugs in
development generally, and because many of Charles River’s customers were unable to access or
use their facilities due to COVID-19 related restrictions.

10. To continue to meet its customers’ demand for Safety Assessment services and in
light of the loss of China as a supply source of long-tailed macaques to the U.S., Defendant Foster
reassured investors that the Company had alternative suppliers of long-tailed macaques, stating
shortly before the start of the Class Period that “we’ve made arrangements with other supply
sources around the world. So we won’t be interrupted there to any material degree.”

11. Throughout the Class Period, Defendants represented that the Company had a
timely and steady supply of long-tailed macaques to meet client demand and that the Company
and its suppliers complied with the requirements of CITES and U.S. law. For example, Defendants
represented that to avoid disruption to the supply of “large research models,” which include long-
tailed macaques, the Company took “steps to find alternative supply channels and lock in supply
with preferred sources through multi-year and/or minimum commitment contracts to ensure a
steady and timely supply” and that “[w]e proactively engaged with our suppliers beginning in

January 2020 to limit any potential disruption to our supply chain.”
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12. And when asked during Charles River’s conference calls with analysts and
investors throughout the Class Period about the Company’s supply of long-tailed macaques in light
of the increased demand for the Company’s Safety Assessment services, COVID-related
disruptions to the Company’s supply chain, and a scarcity of long-tailed macaques and increased
prices, Defendant Foster represented, for example:

e “we work really hard to have multiple supply sources from multiple
geographies and multiple suppliers within those geographies and have close
working relationships with them to ensure exceptional veterinary oversight
and supply numbers . . . [a]nd we feel really good about our supply situation

... we’re doing very well resourcing in [NJHPs.” (Oct. 29, 2020 conference
call);

e “we’ve done an exceptional job in adding, ensuring, tightening up,
expanding our supply sources so that we have multiple supply sources for
multiple countries such that we can support the demand, which is quite
significant. . . .” (Feb. 17, 2021 conference call); and

e “we work really hard at making sure we have sufficient supply of all of our
animal models, particularly some of the larger models. And we’ve had to
identify and validate multiple new sources of supply of multiple countries to
accommodate just the increase in demand and the pace of demand and just
to ensure that the supply is there. It’s an ongoing complex challenge, one that
I think we’re managing well.” (Nov. 3, 2021 conference call).

13. Unknown to investors, while Defendants represented that Charles River took steps
“to find alternative supply channels” and was “doing very well resourcing NHPs,” to meet
customer demand for its Safety Assessment services and to secure a timely and steady supply of
long-tailed macaques, Charles River engaged non-preferred suppliers of animals from Cambodia
at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques had suspiciously and rapidly
increased production and export of long-tailed macaques and it was very likely that wild-caught
long-tailed macaques were introduced into the Cambodian supply chain. By engaging and

purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River received animals trapped from

the wild, which materially and substantially increased the risk: 1) that shipments received from
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these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were not purpose-bred; 2) that the Company’s
conduct and its supply chain would be subject to heightened scrutiny including criminal and civil
investigations; and 3) that the Company’s supply chain of long-tailed macaques would be
materially interrupted thereby reducing the Company’s revenue and operating margin from its
Safety Assessment studies.

14. With Chinese suppliers out of the international market, in 2020 Cambodian
suppliers increased exports of long-tailed macaques to the U.S. by up to 86% over 2019, with
similar increases in 2021 and 2022 compared to 2019, causing Cambodian-sourced animals to
replace China as a source for over 60% of Charles River’s supply of long-tailed macaques in less
than one year. In 2019, Cambodia reportedly produced for export 13,922 (CITES data) to 14,931
(UN Comtrade data) long-tailed macaques, with 10,902 to 11,351 exported to the U.S. In 2020,
Cambodia reportedly produced for export between 24,500 (CITES data) to 28,295 (UN Comtrade
data) long-tailed macaques, with 19,035 to 20,277 exported to the U.S.

15. However, the rapid increase in production and export of long-tailed macaques from
Cambodia in response to the increased demand at or around the start of the Class Period could not
have been achieved through captive, legal breeding alone. The gestation period for long-tailed
macaques is roughly six months, and provided a pregnancy results in a live birth, a long-tailed
macaques pregnancy typically results in one offspring. Long-tailed macaques are not usually
exported for medical research until they are at least two years old. Thus, a minimum period of 30
months from the onset of pregnancy to the animals being ready for shipment is needed to produce
an offspring ready for export. Cambodia’s scaled up production and export of long-tailed
macaques in 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic could not have been available for export

until at least late 2022 at the earliest. Indeed, after the Class Period, Charles River’s Executive
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Vice President and Chief Operating Officer Birgit Girshick (“Girshick”) confirmed that “none of
the nonhuman primate farms can scale really, really quickly. So that - as you said, the gestation
doesn’t allow that. The animals have to be a certain age.”

16. As one analyst framed the issue after the Class Period: “Cambodia increased from
~11.4k US imports in 2019 to 18.6k US imports in 2021 . . . How did Cambodia ramp to that? . . .
the answer may be . . . illegally.” (Jefferies Feb. 23, 2023 research report). According to another
report, from a supply chain due diligence perspective, the rapid increase in Cambodian supply was
a red flag: “given the gestation periods and fecundity of primates, the rapid increase in supply
originating in Cambodia simply was not possible without including (illegally-sourced) wild
animals into the mix.” (June 13, 2023 UBS research analyst report).

17. By no later than the start of the Class Period, Charles River engaged suppliers that
were under criminal investigation for sourcing long-tailed macaques from the wild (not captive or
purpose-bred) in Southeast Asia, specifically Cambodia. Charles River’s suppliers included
companies that Defendant Foster described after the Class Period as brokers that Charles River
had “historically” used ‘“that get animals from wherever . . . We prefer not to use them.
Reputationally, I just don’t think they’re the best possible people to use. And I don’t actually think

b

they care where the animals come from or what the background is. ...
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Charles Rivers Suppliers of Long-Tailed Macaques from Southeast Asia

WW Primates

‘ ™ KF Cambodia

» L
N\ //

Vanny Cambodia
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Group of Companies
18. With a steady and timely supply of long-tailed macaques from Charles Rivers’
suppliers, the Company’s Safety Assessment business boomed and the Company reported
increased revenue and operating margin in the Company’s DSA segment. As a result, Charles
River’s stock price increased from $156.56 per share at the start of the Class Period, to a class

period high of $460.21 per share on September 24, 2021.
19. Defendants Foster and Smith took full advantage of the artificially inflated stock
price collectively, selling over $67 million in Charles River stock (net proceeds), and gifted shares
of Charles River stock valued at over $14 million to family members and others. As shown below,

Defendants Foster and Smith sold inflated Charles River stock at unusual and suspicious times:
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20. One such Charles River supplier of Cambodia long-tailed macaques during the

Class Period is a Company called Inotiv, Inc. (“Inotiv’’), which supplied Charles River Cambodian
long-tailed macaques through Inotiv’s subsidiaries Orient BioResource Center, Inc. (“Orient
BioResouce) and Envigo Global Services, Inc. (“Envigo™). After Charles River, Inotiv is the
second largest importer of long-tailed macaques into the U.S.

21. During the Class Period, facts emerged that put Defendants on notice that both
Envigo and Orient BioResource were under criminal investigation for supplying illegally sourced
long-tailed macaques. On August 4, 2021, the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) disclosed
through a press release that an executive of Orient BioResource (Gary Tucker) pled guilty to lying
to USFWS agents about his involvement in the procurement and importation to the U.S. of long-
tailed macaques in connection with what was described publicly by the DOJ as the USFWS’s
ongoing “criminal investigation into international trafficking of primates into the United States.”

22. Just days later, on August 6, 2021, Defendant Foster sold 10,000 shares of Charles
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River common stock for proceeds of over $4 million, and he gifted 2,500 shares with a value of
over $1 million. On August 9, 2021, Defendant Smith sold 1,750 shares of Charles River common
stock for proceeds of approximately $712,954.

23. On October 14, 2021, the DOJ issued a press release concerning the sentencing of
Mr. Tucker in connection with “a criminal investigation of international trafficking of primates
into the United States.”

24, Days later, on October 26, 2021, Defendant Foster gifted to his children Charles
River shares with a value of over $6.3 million.

25. On February 16, 2022, Inotiv disclosed that Envigo received a grand jury subpoena
in June 2021 issued by the DOJ related to the importation into the U.S. “of live non-human
primates originating from or transiting through China, Cambodia and/or Vietnam . ...”

26. Just days later, on February 22-23, 2022, Defendant Foster exercised 37,732
options to acquire shares of Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them for net proceeds
of over $6.1 million.

27. On May 16, 2022, Inotiv disclosed that in addition to Envigo, Orient BioResource
received a grand jury subpoena in June 2021 issued by the DOJ related to the importation into the
U.S. “of live non-human primates originating from or transiting through China, Cambodia and/or
Vietnam . ...” By May 2022, Envigo and Orient BioResource had supplied Charles River with at
least 1,990 long-tailed macaques since the start of the Class Period, including at least 1,247
expressly identified as Cambodia long-tailed macaques according government records obtained
through freedom of information requests.

28. Inotiv’s subsidiaries had obtained approximately 60% of its Cambodia long-tailed

macaques from the Vanny Group, a network of related companies based in Hong Kong, China,

10
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Cambodia and Vietnam, which include Vanny Bio-Research Center (“Vanny HK”), KHI
Bioservices Ltd. (“KHI”), Vanny Bio-Research (Cambodia) Corp. Ltd. (“Vanny Cambodia™), and
Nafovanny (based in Vietnam). Another broker which supplied Charles River with Cambodian
long-tailed macaques is Worldwide Primates, Inc. based in Miami (“WW Primates”). WW
Primates supplied Charles River with at least 956 long-tailed macaques in 2022.

29. Furthermore, Charles River obtained long-tailed macaques directly from suppliers
in Southeast Asia. A Company called K.F. (Cambodia) Ltd. (“KF Cambodia”), directly supplied
Cambodian long-tailed macaques to Charles River during the Class Period. Another direct
supplier of long-tailed macaques to Charles River was Nafovanny, which, as noted above, is part
of the Vanny Group. During the Class Period, Nafovanny directly supplied Charles River with live
animals, extracts and specimens sourced from Vietnam.

30. By no later than September 2022, the USFWS’s ongoing investigation, which had
focused on at least Inotiv’s subsidiaries and the Vanny Group, had turned its focus on the conduct
of Charles River and its direct supplier, KF Cambodia. On or around September 21, 2022, the
USFWS refused to clear a shipment of 360 long-tailed macaques with a reported value of $3.24
million from KF Cambodia to Charles River at Dulles International Airport in Virginia in
connection with the USFWS’s criminal ongoing investigation. By the end of the Class Period, the
USFWS blocked Charles River’s import of 1,269 Cambodian long-tailed macaques with a value
of at least $17-20 million directly from KF Cambodia. To this day Charles River has not been
permitted by the USFWS to use these animals for Safety Assessment studies.

31. Then, on November 16, 2022, a DOJ Indictment was unsealed in which two
Cambodian government officials responsible for implementation and oversight of CITES, and six

executives of the Vanny Group, including executives at Vanny HK and Vanny Cambodia, were

11
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charged with taking part in a scheme to smuggle long-tailed macaques into the U.S. (the
“Indictment”). The Indictment identified two “unnamed” co-conspirators, which are Inotiv or its
subsidiaries Orient BioResource and Envigo, in Alice, Texas, and WW Primates in Miami,
Florida—both suppliers to Charles River during the Class Period. The Indictment is attached as
Exhibit A.

32. According to a DOJ press release, dated November 16, 2022:

Members of an international primate smuggling ring have been charged with
multiple felonies for their role in bringing wild long-tailed macaques into the
United States.

The eight-count indictment charges two officials of the Cambodian Forestry
Administration, Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries; the owner/founder
of a major primate supply organization and its general manager; and four of its
employees with smuggling and conspiracy to violate the Lacey Act and the
Endangered Species Act. . . .

“Wild populations of long-tailed macaques, as well as the health and well-being of
the American public, are put at risk when these animals are removed from their
natural habitat and illegally sold in the United States and elsewhere,” said Edward
Grace, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Assistant Director, Office of Law
Enforcement. “The Service spearheaded this complex, multi-year investigation that
exposes the large-scale illegal laundering of wild long-tailed macaques for use in
biomedical and pharmaceutical research. We led multiple U.S. federal agencies to
provide a one-government approach to end the wholesale poaching of long tailed
macaques from the wild and shut down this criminal organization.”

33. The Indictment alleges, in part, the following:

e The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators engaged with
customers in the United States and elsewhere and entered into
contractual agreements to sell and export purportedly captive-bred
macaques from Cambodia to the United States.

e The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators established a
logistics system to allow buyers to inspect macaques prior to
sale, including through the use of veterinarians, to test the
monkeys for disqualifying conditions, quarantine shipments prior to
export, and arrange the necessary ground and air transportation to
facilitate the transactions.

e The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators arranged to

12



Case 1:23-cv-11132-DJC Document 36 Filed 11/14/23 Page 18 of 166

illegally purchase additional long-tailed macaques from black
market suppliers in Cambodia and Thailand to make up for the
lack of supply of suitable monkeys at their purported breeding
operations. . . .

e The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators delivered and
caused the delivery of wild-caught long-tailed macaques to various
international airports in the United States, accompanied by

Cambodian CITES Permits and FWS Form 3-177s falsely
identifying the monkeys as captive bred.

(Emphasis added).

34, On November 16, 2022, Charles River shares declined from a closing price on
November 15, 2022 of $250.07 per share, to close at $239.39 per share, a decline of $10.68 per
share or approximately 4.3% on heavier than usual volume.

35. On November 17, 2022, Inotiv filed a report with the SEC on Form 8-K that stated
that it had previously disclosed that grand jury subpoenas were issued to Envigo and Orient Bio
Resource in June 2021, and that further confirmed Vanny Cambodia was Inotiv’s principal
supplier of long-tailed macaques:

On November 16, 2022, Inotiv, Inc. (the “Company”) became aware that the U.S.

Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of Florida (“USAO-SDFL”) has

criminally charged employees of the Company’s principal supplier of non-human

primates (“NHPs”), along with two Cambodian officials, with conspiring to
illegally import NHPs into the United States from December 2017 through January

2022 and in connection with seven specific imports between July 2018 and

December 2021.

36. Despite obtaining a material number of long-tailed macaques from Inotiv or its
subsidiaries Envigo or Orient Bio Resource, WW Primates, and Vanny Group companies
Nafovanny and KHI since the start of the Class Period, Charles River waited two weeks to publicly
comment on the Indictment.

37. Then, on November 30, 2022, despite knowing, or disregarding with a high degree

of recklessness: 1) that Charles River’s suppliers of long-tailed macaques included Inotiv
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subsidiaries Envigo and Orient BioResource, and WW Primates, the unnamed conspirators in the
Indictment; 2) that starting in September 2022, the USFWS blocked the Company’s importation
of Cambodian long-tailed macaques directly from KF Cambodia; and 3) that Charles River had
directly obtained live long-tailed macaques and animal extracts and specimens from Nafovanny
and KHI, both Vanny Group companies, the Company and Defendant Foster made the following
materially false and misleading statements in a report filed with the SEC on Form 8-K and during
a Charles River investor conference:

a. Charles River was not named or referenced in the DOJ proceedings, and the
Company does not have any direct supply contracts with the
indicted Cambodian supplier.

b. Charles River has global supply sources, including other sources in
Cambodia, which is the primary country of origin of NHP imports to the United
States and to Charles River. However, in light of the indictment, and subsequent
statements made by the Cambodia government, Charles River is operating under
the expectation that for some time period supply of Cambodia-sourced NHPs will
be difficult to obtain in the United States . . . .

skeksk

[Defendant Foster:] there were also a couple of Cambodian officials that were
named in this indictment, and we don’t have any direct contacts with that
supplier either. . . .

we’re working really hard to mitigate any potential adverse impact with other
supply sources with our current supplier in Cambodia . . ..

So really complex [] situation at the moment, more complex by the fact that one of
the big suppliers from Cambodia, who’s not a supplier of ours is unable to
ship. So that’s going to hurt some folks. . . .

[the] [f]acility that we work with in Cambodia is extremely high quality one,
all the ones that we work with are high quality ones. . . .

we have a really good supplier over there and a good relationship and a big
supply contract . . .

the sort of allegations on the supplier in Cambodia was sort of dramatic. It’s not a
supplier of ours. It’s not directed to us. . . .

38. On this news, Charles River’s shares declined from $239.50 per share at the close
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of trading on November 29, 2022, to trade as low as $210.36 per share during trading on November
30, 2022, or a decline by over 12%, and closed at $228.57 per share on November 30, 2022, a
decline of $10.93 per share or 4.6%, on heavier than usual trading volume due to the disclosure
that Charles River’s supply chain of long-tailed macaques was overly concentrated in Cambodia,
that the supply chain from Cambodia was negatively impacted, and that for some time period its
supply of Cambodia-sourced NHPs will be difficult to obtain in the U.S.

39. However, while Defendants Charles River and Foster represented that Charles
River does not have any “direct supply contracts” or “contacts” with the indicted supplier, Vanny
Cambodia, this representation was materially false and misleading because Charles River and
Foster failed to disclose that Charles River had obtained long-tailed macaques indirectly from
Vanny Cambodia through the unnamed co-conspirators in the Indictment, Envigo or Orient
BioResource, and WW Primates.

40. Moreover, Defendant Foster’s representations were false and misleading because
he created the false impression that Charles River had no direct supply contracts with Vanny
Cambodia or its executives. In truth, Charles River had a direct relationship with Vanny Group
companies Nafovanny and KHI from whom, according to USFWS records, Charles River directly
imported a material number of live long-tailed macaques as well as extracts and specimen during
the Class Period.

41. Finally, Defendant Foster’s representations that “one of the big suppliers from
Cambodia, who’s not a supplier of ours is unable to ship. So that’s going to hurt some folks”
created the false impression that Charles River’s supplier, KF Cambodia, with which the Company
purportedly had a “big supply contract,” was able to ship animals to the U.S. and was not

implicated in the DOJ and USFWS investigation that led to the Indictment. However, Defendant
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Foster failed to disclose that, starting in September 2022, the USFWS had already refused or
rejected Charles River’s import of at least 360 live long-tailed macaques from KF Cambodia, and
that KF Cambodia, like Vanny, was “unable to ship” to the U.S. due to the ongoing criminal
investigation.

42. Indeed, Defendant Foster’s statements that “It’s not a supplier of ours. It’s not
directed to us” and that Vanny Cambodia’s inability to ship is “going to hurt some folks” created
the false impression among investors and analysts that Charles River’s conduct and its direct
supplier KF Cambodia were not implicated in the ongoing criminal investigation that led to the
Indictment. For example, on December 15, 2022, UBS published a research report concerning
Charles River that stated “[w]e think CRL would be in a positive position relative to peers in case
of a[n] export ban from Cambodia, due to its alternatives sources and could potentially leverage
further price increases due to the shortages.”

43. Then on January 12, 2023, Jefferies published a research report concerning Charles
River that stated:

Our previous NHP supply chain work concluded CRL’s NHP tox business was in

a privileged position and controlled its own destiny. The indictment of Vanny and

other Cambodian officials alters that viewpoint as we estimate ~24% of CRL’s

U.S. NHP usage relies on Vanny supply (likely through an indirect

relationship), a perspective underappreciated by investors. Immediately finding

new supply in an undersupplied market seems unlikely, putting at risk a high
growth contributor. . . .

(Emphasis added).

44, On January 12, 2023, in response to this news, Charles River’s stock declined from
a close on January 11, 2023 of $246.94 per share to close at $232.25 per share, a decline of $14.69
per share, or approximately 6% on heavier than usual trading volume.

45. On January 24, 2023, the USFWS blocked additional shipments to Charles River

from KF Cambodia, and by this date the USFWS had refused or rejected Charles River’s
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importation of 1,269 long-tailed macaques with a value of approximately $17-20 million directly
from KF Cambodia.

46. On February 15, 2023, Defendant Foster, while knowing or at least recklessly
disregarding material, nonpublic negative information concerning the Company, executed another
suspiciously timed sale of Charles River stock, reaping over $5 million just days before the
Company’s stock price crashed. On February 16, 2023, Ms. Girshick, the Company’s Chief
Operating Officer who oversaw the Company Research Models and Services segment, which
acquired long-tailed macaques, and Shannon M. Parisotto (“Parisotto”), Executive VP Discovery
and Safety Assessment, who oversaw the Company’s Safety Assessment studies for which long-
tailed macaques were essential, sold Charles River stock for net proceeds of $464,875 and
$661,247, respectively.

47. Then on February 22, 2023, before the market opened, Charles River revealed that
it had received a subpoena from the DOJ relating to the ongoing criminal investigation in
conjunction with the USFWS into the supply chain and trafficking of NHPs into the U.S. for
research. The Company noted that it was voluntarily suspending shipments of NHPs from
Cambodia, which would negatively impact its earnings for the year and would reduce revenue
growth by 200 basis points to 400 basis points, which based on Charles River’s 2022 reported
revenue, was a reduction in revenue growth of approximately $80-160 million for the Company’s
Safety Assessment business. Charles River disclosed that:

On February 16, 2023, we were informed by the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ)

that in conjunction with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), it had

commenced an investigation into our conduct regarding several shipments of non-

human primates from Cambodia. On February 17, 2023 we received a grand jury

subpoena requesting certain documents related to such investigation. We are aware
of a parallel civil investigation being undertaken by the DOJ and USFWS. . . .

we have voluntarily suspended future shipments of non-human primates from
Cambodia until such time that we and USFWS can agree upon and implement
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additional procedures to reasonably ensure that non-human primates
imported to the United States from Cambodia are purpose-bred.

(Emphasis added).

48. The Company further disclosed information concerning the shipments of 1,269
long-tailed macaques from KF Cambodia that the USFWS blocked starting in September 2022:

While these discussions with USFWS are ongoing, we have also agreed to continue
to care for the Cambodia-sourced non-human primates from certain recent
shipments that are now in the United States. The carrying value of the inventory
related to these shipments is approximately $20 million. . . .

49.  On this news, Charles River’s stock price declined from a close on February 21,
2023 of $243.60 per share to close at $219.09 per share on February 22, 2023, a decline of $24.51
per share, or over 10% on unusually heavy trading volume.

50.  The Class Period ends on March 15, 2023 when, after the opening of trading,
Barclays hosted a conference call for analysts and investors in which Defendant Foster participated
on behalf of Charles River. During the conference call, Defendant Foster admitted that Charles
River used non-preferred suppliers of long-tailed macaques from Cambodia:

Defendant Foster: So there are no U.S. breeding sources. There are a couple of
companies that sort of brokers that get animals from wherever. We have used those
folks to some extent historically. I'm trying to be careful picking my words here.
We prefer not to use them. Reputationally, I just don’t think they’re the best
possible people to use. And I don’t actually think they care where the animals
come from or what the background is and they’ve been kind of inappropriate
with pricing. So there are probably -- people say there are, I assume they’re telling
the truth. There are probably animals in country brought in from the outside,
including it could be from Cambodia. It could be from the source that DOJ is
looking at. I don’t know that. We’re just not using them, number one. Number two,
I don’t think it’s large numbers of the [animals]. Number three, I don’t know how
sustainable that is. . . .

(Emphasis added).

51. On March 15, 2023, Charles River’s stock declined from a closing price on March

14, 2023 of $205.02 per share to close at $194.90 per share, a decline of $10.12 per share or
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approximately 5% on heavier than usual trading volume.

52. Since at least May 2022, the Company has been under investigation by the SEC.
On May 16, 2023, the Company received an inquiry from the Enforcement Division of the SEC
requesting it provide information “primarily related to the sourcing of non-human primates in
Asia.” Relatedly, on May 23, 2023, Inotiv received a request from the SEC seeking documents
and information regarding Inotiv, Envigo, and Orient Bio Resource’s “importation of NHPs from
Asia, including information relating to whether their importation practices complied with the U.S.
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.”

53. In connection with the meeting of CITES’s Animal Committee on June 19-23,
2023, the U.S. government indicated that there was new information concerning Cambodian long-
tailed macaques and indicated that “urgent action may be needed concerning problems relating to
the implementation of provisions under the Convention for captive production of specimens.”

54. Shortly after the disclosure of the heightened scrutiny including criminal and civil
investigations into Charles Rivers and its suppliers’ conduct, Defendant Foster stated “we’re quite
confident from what we know that our supplie—he has [been] purpose breading these animals
according to all of our expectations, and we can demonstrate that . . . . we’re confident that we can
prove it and demonstrate it scientifically without a shadow of a doubt . . . .”

55. However, to date, rather than demonstrate Charles River’s long-tailed macaques
imported to the U.S. from Cambodia were captive or purpose-bred, Charles River shifted Safety
Assessment studies to its facilities outside of the U.S. to circumvent further U.S. government
scrutiny of its long-tailed macaque supply chain.

56. As of November 13, 2023, Charles River’s stock price has not recovered, closing

at $170.03 per share.
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57. Throughout the Class Period, Defendants made materially false statements and
failed to disclose material facts necessary in order to make their statements, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. Furthermore, Defendants employed
a scheme and engaged in acts, practices and a course of business which operated as a fraud upon
members of the proposed Class.

58. As aresult of Defendants’ wrongful acts and omissions, and the precipitous decline
in the market value of the Company’s securities, Plaintiff and other Class members have suffered
significant losses and damages.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

59.  This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1331 and Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa).

60.  Venue is proper in this Judicial District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and Section 27
of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa(c)). Substantial acts in furtherance of the alleged fraud or
the effects of the fraud have occurred in this Judicial District. Many of the acts charged herein,
including the dissemination of materially false and misleading information occurred, in substantial
part in this Judicial District. In addition, the Company’s principal executive offices are located in
this Judicial District.

61. In connection with the acts, transactions, and conduct alleged herein, Defendants
directly and indirectly used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including the
United States mail, interstate telephone communications, and the facilities of a national securities
exchange.

111. PARTIES
A. Lead Plaintiff

62. STRS Ohio, as set forth in the attached certification, purchased Charles River
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securities during the Class Period, and suffered damages as a result of the federal securities law
violations and false and misleading statements and material omissions alleged herein. With total
investments of $88.8 billion as of June 30, 2022, STRS Ohio is one of the largest public pension
funds in the country, serving approximately 500,000 active, inactive and retired Ohio
public educators by providing retirement benefits, access to health care coverage and many other
services.

B. Defendants

63.  Defendant Charles River is incorporated under the laws of Delaware with its
principal executive offices located at 251 Ballardvale Street, in Wilmington, Massachusetts 01887.
Charles River’s common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the
symbol “CRL.”

64.  Defendant Foster was the Company’s CEO at all relevant times. Foster joined the
Company in 1976 as General Counsel. During his tenure, Foster has held various staff and
managerial positions, and was named CEO and President in 1992 and Chairman of the board of
directors in 2000. During the Class Period, Defendant Foster signed Charles River’s quarterly and
annual reports filed with the SEC, and made representations to investors during Charles River’s
conference calls with analysts and investors.

65.  Defendant Foster began the Class Period with 337,915 shares of Charles River
common stock. During the Class Period, he acquired 327,832 shares of Charles River common
stock at no out of pocket cost to him through the exercise of stock options or compensation stock
awards, and he sold 277,430 shares of Charles River common stock (a reduction of over 41% of
his shares) for net proceeds of over $58 million, and he gifted 38,119 shares of Charles River
common stock with a value of over $12 million, including gifts to his children. Defendant Foster

did not purchase any shares of Charles River common stock on the open market during the Class
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Period. Defendant Foster’s sales of Charles River common stock were unusual and suspiciously
timed, as alleged herein and in Section V.

66. Defendant David R. Smith (“Smith”) was the Company’s Chief Financial Officer
(“CFO”) from August 2015 until May 2022. During the Class Period, Defendant Smith signed
Charles Rivers quarterly and annual reports filed with the SEC, and made representations to
investors during Charles River’s conference calls with analysts and investors.

67. Defendant Smith began the Class Period with 20,475 shares of Charles River
common stock. During the Class Period, Defendant Smith acquired 58,981 shares of Charles River
common stock at no out of pocket cost to him through the exercise of stock options or
compensation stock awards, and he sold 43,075 shares of Charles River common stock (a reduction
of over 54% of his shares) for net proceeds of over $9 million. Defendant Smith gifted 8,656
shares of Charles River common stock with a value of $2,367,762 to his spouse that were later
sold. Defendant Smith did not purchase any shares of Charles River common stock on the open
market during the Class Period. Defendant Smith’s sales of Charles River common stock were
unusual and suspiciously timed, as alleged herein and in Section V.

68. Defendants Foster and Smith (together, the “Individual Defendants”), because of
their positions with the Company, possessed the power and authority to control the contents of the
Company’s reports to the SEC, press releases, and presentations to securities analysts, money and
portfolio managers and institutional investors, i.e., the market. The Individual Defendants were
provided with copies of the Company’s reports and press releases alleged herein to be misleading
prior to, or shortly after, their issuance and had the ability and opportunity to prevent their issuance
or cause them to be corrected. Because of their positions and access to material non-public

information available to them, the Individual Defendants knew, or at least acted with a high degree
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of recklessness, that the adverse facts specified herein had not been disclosed to, and were being
concealed from, the public, and that the positive representations which were being made were then
materially false and misleading. The Individual Defendants are liable for the false statements
pleaded herein.

IV.  BACKGROUND

A. Charles River is a Provider of Animal Research Models and Contract
Drug Research Services

69. Charles River is a non-clinical (animal or preclinical), global drug development
company that assists drug developers in the discovery and development of new products.
According to its annual report for the quarter and year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the
SEC on Form 10-K on February 22, 2023 (“2022 10-K”), for over 75 years, Charles River has
been “in the business of providing the research models required in the research and development
of new drugs, devices and therapies,” and it purports to be the “largest provider of outsourced drug
discovery, non-clinical development and regulated safety testing services worldwide.” In 2022,
Charles River reported revenue of over $4 billion.

70. The Company has three reporting segments: Research Models and Services
(“RMS”), Discovery and Safety Assessment (“DSA”), and Manufacturing Solutions.

71. The RMS segment supplies animals, referred to as research or animal models, to
the drug development industry, and internally to the Company’s DSA segment for use in the
Company’s Safety Assessment studies. In 2022, RMS reportedly accounted for 18.6% of the
Company’s revenues. Research Models includes the commercial production and sale of small
research models, like rats and mice, as well as the supply of large research models, including
NHPs.

72. The DSA segment reportedly accounted for approximately 61.6% of the
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Company’s total revenue in 2022. DSA provides services that enables Charles River’s customers
to outsource their drug discovery research, their related nonclinical drug development activities,
and regulatory-required safety testing of potential new drugs, vaccines, industrial and agricultural
chemicals, consumer products, veterinary medicines and medical devices. Charles River’s DSA
services support the research, development, and regulatory-required safety testing of potential new
drugs before they can be tested in human trials.

73. According to its annual report filed on Form 10-K for the quarter and year ended
December 25, 2021 filed with the SEC on February 16, 2022 (“2021 10-K”), Charles River
purports to be “a premier provider of high quality, purpose bred, SPF [specific-pathogen-free]
large research models to the biomedical research community.” Unlike rodents, Charles River does
not breed NHPs. Rather, the Company procures NHPs from external suppliers for sale in the RMS
segment or for use in connection with Safety Assessment studies within the Company’s DSA
segment.

74. During a Charles River conference call with investors and analysts on February 11,
2020, Defendant Foster explained that the Company’s DSA segment is the largest customer of the
Company’s RMS segment. In other words, the research animals used in Charles River’s Safety
Assessment studies for its customers in the DSA segment are, in material part, obtained
intercompany through the RMS segment:

Research models remain an essential regulatory required scientific tool for early-

stage research and toxicology and a vital component of our portfolio to support our

clients and our own DSA segment, which remains the largest client of our research
models business [RMS].

B. Charles River’s Research Models Are Used in Nonclinical or Animal
Studies Required for Approval of New Drug or Biologic Products

75. In the U.S. applicants of new drug and biologic products are required to provide to

the FDA, among other information and data, pharmacology and toxicology information based on
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non-clinical or animal studies from which they have concluded that it is reasonably safe to conduct
clinical or human trials and ultimately to support marketing. 21 C.F.R. § 312.23 (Investigational
New Drug Application content and format); 21 C.F.R. § 314.5 (Content and format of a New Drug
Application); 21 C.F.R. § 601.2 (Applications for biologics licenses; procedures for filing).

76. According to Charles River’s 2023 Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on Schedule
14A on March 30, 2023 (2023 Proxy”), before a “drug can be evaluated in the clinic on humans,
in the absence of a validated alternative, the FDA requires testing in two animal species, including
one non-rodent species, to ensure patient safety. Because of their close genetic, physiological, and
behavioral similarity to humans, [NHPs] are often the only scientifically relevant animal models
for critical translational research and the required safety testing of biologic drugs.” NHPs are
useful because their similarities to humans with respect to genetic makeup, anatomy, physiology,
and behavior make it possible to approximate the human condition.?

77. According to the FDA, in contrast to most prescription drugs, which are chemically
synthesized, “biologics” or biological products are derived from natural sources, including living
entities, and include products such as vaccines, blood and blood components, and other therapies.*

78. The drug development pipeline has been shifting toward biologics for which NHPs

are critical.

3 Nonhuman Primate Models in Biomedical Research: State of the Science and Future Needs (2023), at 1.

4 https://www.fda.gov/about-fda/center-biologics-evaluation-and-research-cber/what-are-biologics-questions-and-

ansSwers
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79.  In connection with preclinical development of biologic drugs, substitutes for NHPs
are limited to non-existent. Indeed, according to Defendant Foster, “biologic drugs cannot be
approved for commercial use without NHPs” (May 11, 2023 Charles River conference call), and
“So you don’t do work in large molecule drug development without nonhuman primates. End of
sentence, full stop.” (March 15, 2023 Barclays investor conference).

80.  Because immune system response is the primary safety concern for biologics and
the NHP immune system most closely matches humans for testing purposes, NHPs are the model
of choice for preclinical studies for biologics.

C. The Steady and Timely Supply and Sale of NHPs Is Critical to Charles
Rivers’ Business

81. A timely and steady supply of NHPs is important to Charles River’s business,
financial results and results of operations.

82.  According to the USDA, Charles River is the largest user of NHPs in the U.S. Of
the 65,674 NHPs reportedly used in the U.S. in 2021 for teaching, research, experiments or tests,
Charles River accounted for 17,105 NHPs used, or approximately 26%. According to the USDA,

Charles River use of NHPs in its business since 2018 was as follows:
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2018—13,022 NHPs
2019—14,899 NHPs
2020—15,769 NHPs
2021—17,105 NHPs
2022—16,460 NHPs

83. A species of NHP called macaca fascicularis, also known as the long-
tailed macaque, the crab-eating macaque, or the cynomolgus monkey (“long-tailed macaque”), is
a species of NHP used for drug and biological efficacy and safety studies.

84. The long-tailed macaque and rhesus macaque are the predominant NHP species
used in biomedical research, however, rhesus macaques are available domestically whereas long-
tailed macaques are not and are sourced internationally.® The long-tailed macaque is reportedly
the most heavily internationally traded NHP species.®

85. According to the CDC, during the period 2019-22, the vast majority of NHPs

imported into the U.S. were long-tailed macaques (referred to in the chart below as cynomolgus

macaques), accounting for a yearly average of 95% of all NHP imports in 2019-22:

Number of Nonhuman Primates Imported

Nonhuman Primate Species FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022
Cynomolgus macaque 32,273 24,879 30,649 31.617
Rhesus macaque 964 724 80 0
African green monkey 328 720 711 808
Common marmoset 195 326 284 172
Squirrel monkey 30 34 68 60
Capuchin 15 0 40 86
Other* 13 45 12 68

Total 33,818 26,728 31,844 32,811

5 Weinbauer, Gerhard & Mecklenburg, Lars. (2022). Does Geographical Origin of Long-Tailed Macaques (Macaca
fascicularis) Matter in Drug Safety Assessment?: A Literature Review and Proposed Conclusion. Toxicologic
pathology. 50. 1926233221095443. 10.1177/01926233221095443.

%https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1002/ajp.23547; https://cites.org/sites/default/files/eng/com/ac/28/Inf/E-
AC28-Inf-32.pdf (stating “M. fascicularis is the most heavily-traded species of live mammal listed on the CITES
Appendices.”)
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86. The total value of the long-tailed macaque trade from 2010 to 2019 has been
estimated to be valued at nearly $1.26 billion.”

87. The international trade in long-tailed macaque involves both live animals as well
as specimens and extracts, such as blood and tissue.

88. During a Charles River earnings conference call with investors and analysts on
October 29, 2020, Defendant Foster stated that the Company’s supply of NHPs were nearly all
imported: “Supply sources are pretty much external. They’re coming from places like China and
Mauritius and Cambodia and Vietnam.”

89. Charles River’s business benefitted from the COVID-19 pandemic in large part due
to shut downs that hindered drug development companies’ ability to conduct research internally
and therefore sought Charles River’s services to outsource their preclinical studies. According to
Defendant Foster during a Charles River conference call at the Robert W. Baird Global Healthcare
Conference on September 14, 2021: “[p]robably the biggest benefit that we had, which is probably
impossible to calculate, is we had an accelerant—sort of accelerating impact from COVID from
the inability of clients to do work in a whole host of businesses . . . because they have had to close
down their own sites or our competitors couldn’t support them and they pivoted more quickly to
Charles River than perhaps they would have otherwise and/or tried us when they wanted to do the
work internally . . ..”

90. Due to an increased demand for the Company’s Safety Assessment services,
principally due to new biologics drug products, demand for long-tailed macaques for use in Charles

River’s Safety Assessment substantially increased during the Class Period.

"https://www.researchgate.net/publication/358580560 Monetary Value of Live Trade in a Commonly Traded
Primate the Long-Tailed Macaque Based on Global Trade Statistics
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91. The increased demand for long-tailed macaques caused the value of long-tailed
macaques to significantly increase. According to data from the USFWS, the declared value per
macaque was stable during the period 2017-19, with a long-tailed macaque being declared to have
a value of around $2,400. According to USFWS data, Charles River reported the value per long-
tailed macaque increased from an average value per animal of $2,300 in May 2020, to an average
value of $15-17,500 per animal near the end of the Class Period, an increase in value per animal
of over 660%.

D. Long-Tailed Macaques Are a Protected Species under International
and U.S. Law

92. Owing to the fact that Charles River’s supply of long-tailed macaques were
imported into the U.S., Charles River and its suppliers were subject to international and U.S. legal
regulations applicable to the trade of long-tailed macaques.

93. In order to protect certain species against over-exploitation, in 1975 the U.S.
became a signatory to an international treaty known as the Convention on International Trade in
Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora, or the CITES Convention. Depending on the
required level of protection needed by a species, CITES uses a system of appendices to classify
protected wildlife and plants, and monitor and regulate their usage.

94, Long-tailed macaques are protected under Appendix II of CITES. Appendix II
includes all species which although not necessarily now threatened with extinction may become
so unless trade in specimens of such species is subject to strict regulation in order to avoid
utilization incompatible with their survival. CITES, Art. II, 42; 50 C.F.R. § 23.4.

95. In a March 7, 2022 assessment, the International Union for Conservation of Nature
and Natural Resources (“IUCN”) reassessed the long-tailed macaque’s classification as vulnerable

and added it to its “Red List of Threatened Species,” which is used as a guide for the appendices
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to CITES Convention.® The IUCN found:
Reports throughout Southeast Asia indicate a continued and even increased
persecution of M. fascicularis [long-tailed macaques] throughout large expanses of
its current range. Hunting and trapping have been occurring and are now happening
at unprecedented levels . . . most ominously, to fuel both the legitimate and illicit
trade for research and other usages (Lee 2011, Hamada et al. 2011, Hansen et
al. 2021). Both price and demand for M. fascicularis as a trade commodity has
skyrocketed during the Covid-19 pandemic, relative to the already regular and
heavy pre-pandemic capture and trade (Hansen et al. 2021, 2022). . . . the demand
for non-human primates in research is threatening the species. As such, the research
industry needs to become accountable for the effects of their actions on wild non-
human primate populations. . . . Therefore, we assess the species as Endangered . .
9

96. On or around July 21, 2022, the ICUN’s reassessment was widely publicized and
disseminated in news media.

97. The U.S. along with over 180 other countries are parties to CITES Convention, and
bound to abide by its provisions and restrictions. Both Cambodia and Vietnam are signatories to
the CITES convention. '

98. Parties to the CITES convention regulate trade in specimens of various species and
their parts, products, and derivatives through a system of permits (“CITES Permits”). CITES
Permits enable the Convention parties to monitor the effects of the volume and type of trade to
ensure trade is legal and not detrimental to the survival of the species included in the various
Appendices.

99. Before importing a long-tailed macaque under Appendix II of CITES into the U.S.,

a valid CITES export permit must be obtained from the competent authority of the country of

8 https://www.iucnredlist.org/about/uses

° https://www.iucnredlist.org/species/12551/221666136#assessment-information (stating date of assessment Mar. 7,
2022).

10 https://cites.org/eng/disc/parties/chronolo.php (stating Viet Nam joined in 1994 and Cambodia joined in 1997).
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export or re-export. A separate original or a true copy of a CITES Permit must be issued before
import occurs and the document must accompany each shipment and be presented to USFWS upon
importation into the U.S. See CITES, Art. IV §§ 1 and 2; 50 C.F.R. § 23.20(c), 23.26(b).

100. CITES Permits for live long-tailed macaques or specimens are individually
numbered and include information such as the importer of record, exporter, a description of the
specimens, the CITES Appendix number, a source code, the quantity, and the date of issuance.
The source codes indicate the particulars of the specimen(s) listed on the CITES Permit: among
others, the code “W” denotes a specimen taken from the wild; “R” denotes a ranched specimen,
taken as an egg or juvenile from the wild and reared in a controlled environment; “C” denotes
animals bred in captivity; all subject to certain other terms and provisions on the Convention.

101.  Since 2010, Cambodia has outlawed the use of wild-caught long-tailed macaques
in breeding farms and for export, which is monitored through CITES Permits.!!

102. Under the CITES Convention, source code “C” indicates an animal has been bred
in captivity, which is defined to mean that the animals’ parents mated in a controlled environment
and the breeding stock is maintained without the introduction of specimens from the wild, except
under limited circumstances. '

103.  Under U.S. law, all imports of wildlife, including long-tailed macaques, must be

declared to the USFWS on a completed, signed, and certified Declaration for Importation or

' REVIEW OF MACACA FASCICULARIS IN CAMBODIA AND VIET NAM, CITES 28" meeting of Animals
Committee, 2015, https:/cites.org/sites/default/files/eng/com/ac/28/Inf/E-AC28-Inf-32.pdf (stating “in October 2010
permits for the collection and/or harvesting of M. fascicularis from the wild were suspended for a minimum of five
years. Cambodia states that the breeding stock in each of the captive breeding farms has been sufficient to produce
enough F1 and F2 offspring for export and, as a result, no augmentation with wild M. fascicularis has been required .
... Viet Nam states that M. fascicularis live in protected areas where trapping and trading are prohibited.”); CITES
Mgm’t Authority in Cambodia, Aug. 25, 2014, https://cites.org/sites/default/files/eng/com/ac/28/AC28-09-03-A2.pdf
(same).

12 https://cites.org/eng/node/130909
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Exportation of Fish and Wildlife (Form 3-177) and made available for inspection. 50 C.F.R. §§
14.61, 14.63. Form 3-177 requires importers or their agents to provide, among other information,
the source of the wildlife they are importing, specifically whether the wildlife was captive-bred,
farm-raised, or wild-caught. Importers or their agents must furnish all applicable information
requested on the Form 3-177 and must certify that the information furnished is true and complete
to the best of his/her knowledge and belief. 50 C.F.R. § 14.61.

E. The Endangered Species Act Implements the CITES Convention

104. USFWS, an agency within the U.S. Department of the Interior, is designated by
Congress pursuant to the ESA as the CITES enforcement authority within the U.S. The Department
of the Interior publishes regulations to implement CITES in 50 C.F.R. Part 23. A list of all species
protected by CITES and the ESA implementation program is maintained pursuant to the
Convention by the CITES Secretariat. 50 C.F.R. §§ 23.7 and 23.9.

105. The provisions of CITES are implemented through the ESA, which states in
relevant part, “[i]t is unlawful for any person . . . to engage in any trade in any specimens [of
wildlife] contrary to the provisions of . . . [CITES] or to possess any specimens [of wildlife] traded
contrary to the provisions of . . . [CITES].” “Trade” means, among other things, “export.” CITES,
Art. I, q(c). “Specimen” means “any animal . . . whether alive or dead.” CITES, Art. I, §(b).

106. Separately, the Lacey Act combats trafficking of illegally taken wildlife, fish, or
plants. The Lacey Act made it unlawful for any person to import, export, transport, sell, receive,
acquire, or purchase any wildlife taken, possessed, transported, or sold in violation of any law,
treaty, or regulation of the U.S. 16 U.S.C. § 3372(a)(l). The Lacey Act also made it unlawful for
any person to make or submit any false record, account, or label for, or any false identification of,
any wildlife which has been, or is intended to be (1) imported, exported, transported, sold,

purchased, or received from any foreign country; or (2) transported in interstate or foreign
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commerce. 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(d)(1) and (2). The Lacey Act defines “wildlife” as “any wild
animal, whether alive or dead, including without limitations any wild mammal . . . whether or not
bred, hatched, or born in captivity, and includes any part, product, egg, or offspring thereof.” 16
U.S.C. § 3371(a).

F. Charles River Assured Investors That It Monitored Its Supply Chain
for Legal Compliance

107. During the Class Period, Charles River assured investors that it maintained and
enforced standards of conduct concerning its suppliers. In response to the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Company stated that it modified its business practices, including suppliers, management of
production inventory, and supply chain risk management and the Individual Defendants repeatedly
stated that Charles River formed a tiered structure of designated COVID-19 crisis management
teams throughout the Company to identify, implement and monitor such actions as required by the
dynamic exigencies arising from the pandemic.

108. Before and during the Class Period, Charles River referred investors to the
Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Supplier Code of Conduct that, among other
requirements, provided that Charles River’s executives, officers and employees, and the
Company’s suppliers “must comply with the international agreements and conventions, as well as
the national, regional and local laws and regulations that apply to our global and international

29 ¢¢

business,” “[b]e truthful and accurate in all representations and certifications made to government

29 ¢¢

agencies,” “[w]e must always be truthful and accurate about our products and services,” and “we
must all be vigilant in meeting and going beyond our responsibilities to comply with relevant laws
and regulations . . . .” The Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Supplier Code

of Conduct were posted on Charles River’s website throughout the Class Period.

109. Charles River’s reputation for regulatory compliance and monitoring its supply
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chain were materially important to its customers and investors. Indeed, on May 27, 2021, Ms.
Girshick, Charles River’s Executive VP and Chief Operating Officer stated: “[o]ur integrated
comprehensive portfolio is taking complexity out of our clients’ drug development efforts and
supply chain. Our reputation for deep science and regulatory compliance as well as our broad
geographic coverage gives our clients the confidence that we are a reliable partner for their
programs.”

G. Charles River Loses Access to its Principal Supply of Long-Tailed

Macaques Due to China’s Export Ban and Charles River Pivots to
Cambodia

110. Before the Class Period, Charles River obtained over 60% of its supply of long-
tailed macaques from China. According to the CDC, in 2019 32,273 long-tailed macaques were
imported into the U.S., with 19,322, or approximately 60%, from China.

111. Before the Class Period, in early 2020, the Chinese government banned the
transport and sale of wild animals in response to the spread of COVID-19.!>!* While the ban
reportedly provided an exemption for use in research, subject to “strict approvals” by the Chinese
government, in practice strict application of the new ban effectively halted the trade in NHPs from
China.'

112. At that time, Charles River had a majority ownership interest in a Chinese supplier
of NHPs. As explained by Defendant Foster after the Class Period, the rationale for an economic

stake in a Chinese supplier of NHPs was to secure a preferred supply source: “[o]ur preference

13

https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/asia pacific/china-bans-wild-animal-trade-until-coronavirus-epidemic-

eliminated/2020/01/26/0e05a964-4017-11ea-971f-4ce4f94494b4_story.html.

14 https://www.nytimes.com/2020/02/27/science/coronavirus-pangolin-wildlife-ban-china.html

15 April 2, 2020, Globe and Mail published a story titled “Chinese wildlife ban freezes export of test monkeys amid
worldwide push for COVID-19 vaccine.”
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was to get those animals out of China and use that for safety assessment [in Charles River’s Safety
Assessment studies in the DSA segment].”!¢

113. Having access to a preferred supplier was important to Charles River because it
provided the Company with control over its supply chain, including the Company’s ability to
monitor and control compliance with applicable laws and regulations concerning the breeding and

import of NHPs into the U.S., and ensured a steady and timely supply of long-tailed macaques.

H. Cambodia Replaces China as Charles River’s Primary Source of Long-
Tailed Macaques

114. Following China’s export ban, Charles River pivoted to Cambodia for its supply of
long-tailed macaques.

115. During the Class Period, Cambodia substantially increased the export of long-tailed
macaques based on data from CITES and the United Nations Comtrade databases, with exports to
the U.S. increasing in 2020 by up to 86% over 2019.

116. On February 22, 2023, Defendant Foster stated “in recent years, NHPs sourced
from Cambodia have been responsible for approximately 60% of the NHPs supplied to the United
States and to Charles River for drug research and development.”

L. The Rapid Increase in Supply of Long-Tailed Macaques Was
Implausible Based on Captive Breeding Alone

117. It was very unlikely that captive-breeding farms in Cambodia legally increased their

numbers of long-tailed macaques from the production levels in 2019 to the massive increases

16 According to a May 11, 2023 research report published by Evercore ISI, during a call with Evercore representatives,
Charles River management stated that “several years ago, CRL had acquired a business in China with the intent of
supplying their SA [Safety Assessment] needs. As a result of China shutting down exports, CRL has been supplying
the local market with NHPs sourced from that region,” and according to a March 27, 2023 research report published
by Jefferies, Charles River owns 90% of the Chinese NHP supplier. According to Charles River’s Annual Report
filed with the SEC on Form 10-K on February 11, 2020, “[o]n August 28, 2019, the Company acquired an 80% equity
interest in a supplier, which included a 20% redeemable noncontrolling interest.”
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reported in 2020-22 given the constraints on breeding long-tailed macaques.

118.  The gestation period for long-tailed macaques is roughly six months, and provided
a pregnancy results in a live birth, a long-tailed macaques pregnancy typically results in one
offspring.

119. Long-tailed macaques are not usually exported until they are at least two years old,
which is the age required by medical researchers because the animal has sufficiently matured.
Thus, a minimum period of 30 months from the onset of pregnancy to the animals being ready for
shipment (six months gestation plus 24 months of post-natal growth before animals can be shipped
at 2 years old) is needed to produce an offspring ready for export.

120. Thus, the scaled production reported in 2020 in response to the COVID-19
pandemic could not have been available for export until at least late 2022 at the earliest.

121. A major supplier of long-tailed macaques, the Vanny Group (defined below),
confirms the constraints on the rapid increase in production from Cambodian breeding farms. The
website of the Vanny Group indicates a minimum period of 30 months from the onset of pregnancy
to animals being ready for shipment (macaque gestation length is roughly 6 months plus 24 months
of post-natal growth before animals can be shipped at 2 years old), and further indicates that it
could take up to five years to have offspring to export.'’

122.  Given the constraints of rapidly increasing the production of captive-bred animals,
Defendants knew, or at least disregarded with a high degree of recklessness, that after losing China
as a supply source, Cambodia’s supply chain of long-tailed macaques could not have been rapidly
increased from captive breeding alone. Indeed, the major constraints in increasing supply outlined

above have been acknowledged by Ms. Girshick, Charles River’s Executive Vice President and

17 http://vannylifesciences.com.hk/perdiemprogram.html (last accessed Sept. 26, 2023).
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Chief Operating Officer, who admitted after the Class Period: “none of the nonhuman primate
farms can scale really, really quickly. So that—as you said, the gestation doesn’t allow that. The
animals have to be a certain age.”'®

123.  According to one report, from a supply chain due diligence perspective, the rapid
increase in production from Cambodia was a red flag: “given the gestation periods and fecundity
of primates, the rapid increase in supply originating in Cambodia simply was not possible without

including (illegally-sourced) wild animals into the mix.” (June 13, 2023 UBS analyst report).

J. Charles River’s Suppliers of Long-Tailed Macaques from Southeast
Asia

124.  During the Class Period, Charles River directly imported or otherwise obtained
long-tailed macaques from Cambodia from various suppliers or animal brokers, including the
following:

1. Inotiv, Inc.

125.  Inotiv, a publicly traded U.S. Company, was a supplier of long-tailed macaques to
Charles River through its subsidiaries, Orient BioResource and Envigo. According to its annual
report filed with the SEC on Form 10-K on December 21, 2021 for the fiscal year ending
September 30, 2021, Inotiv purported to be the “largest importer of NHPs in North America, with
long-established relationships with the source breeders around the world,” including from
“breeding farms principally located in Cambodia, Vietnam, and Mauritius Island,” and “focuses
on “securing critical supply chain issues particularly related to research models.”

126. On November 5, 2021, Inotiv acquired Envigo, and on January 27, 2022, Inotiv

acquired Orient BioResource. According to records obtained through freedom of information

18 Transcript of Charles River Laboratories International Inc at Jefferies Healthcare Conference event, June 8, 2023.
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requests, during the Class Period, Charles River obtained at least 2,262 long-tailed macaques from
Orient BioResource and Envigo.

2. Inotiv’s Primary Supplier of Long-Tailed Macaques in
Cambodia is the Vanny Group

127.  Inotiv’s principal supply of long-tailed macaques came from Cambodia. Inotiv’s
principal supplier of long-tailed macaques in Cambodia was a network of related companies that
does business as the “Vanny Group,” which is based in Hong Kong, China, and has operations in
Cambodia and Vietnam. Mr. James Lau is the Vanny Group CEO (“Mr. Lau”).

128. The Vanny Group’s product is “Indochinese cynomolgus” monkeys, i.e., long-
tailed macaques, and its principal business is production, breeding, husbandry of long-tailed
macaques for use in scientific and academic research.

129. The Vanny Group companies include Vanny HK, KHI, Vanny Cambodia, Vanny
Chain Technology (HK) Ltd. (“Vanny Chain Tech”), and Nafovanny, also known as the Vietnam
Monkey Breeding and Development Joint-Venture, based in Vietnam, of which the Vanny Group
is reportedly the joint owner with the government of Vietnam.

3.  KF. (Cambodia) Ltd.

130. KF Cambodia directly supplied Charles River long-tailed macaques throughout the
Class Period. According to the CITES Management Authority of Cambodia, since 2005, KF
Cambodia manages a farm to breed and export young animals from Golden China Group Co., Ltd.
Prior to 2005, the farm had been managed by Golden China Group Co., Ltd.

131.  Golden China Group Co., Ltd. reportedly has been involved in the capture of wild

long-tailed macaques for export to the U.S., and Cambodian authorities have asserted that the
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Company had engaged in illegal wildlife trading.'®

132.  According to records obtained through freedom of information requests, during the
Class Period, Charles River obtained over 10,000 long-tailed macaques from KF Cambodia with
a total value of approximately $86 million—ranging from a value per animal at the start of the
Class Period of $2,300, to as high as $17,500 per animal in late 2022, an increase of over 660%.
In 2020, Charles River directly imported approximately 3,763 live long-tailed macaques from KF
Cambodia; in 2021, Charles River directly imported approximately 3,182 live long-tailed
macaques from KF Cambodia; and in 2022 Charles River directly imported approximately 3,096
live long-tailed macaques from KF Cambodia.

4. Worldwide Primates, Inc.

133.  WW Primates is a Miami, Florida-based company that purports to be a “leading
supplier of premium quality non-human primate models for research, including government,
university, and pharmaceutical level facilities” and purportedly strives “to be the Go To company
not only foron demand and last minute needs, but also for your standard day to day
requirements.” (Emphasis in original). WW Primates Primate Research Models include long-
tailed macaques. According to records obtained through freedom of information requests, during
2022, Charles River obtained at least 956 long-tailed macaques from WW Primates.

S. Nafovanny

134. In addition to sourcing long-tailed macaques from Cambodia, Charles River
obtained long-tailed macaques directly from Nafovanny, a member of the Vanny Group of
companies based in Vietnam. Nafovanny was established by Mr. Lau of the Vanny Group through

a joint venture between Vanny Chain and the government of Vietnam. According to records

19 https://www.phnompenhpost.com/national/road-gangs-turn-monkey-business
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obtained through freedom of information requests, during the Class Period, Charles River obtained
at least 512 long-tailed macaques directly from Nafovanny.

6. KHI Bioservices Ltd.

135.  According to records obtained through freedom of information requests, during the
Class Period, Charles River directly obtained over 1,000 specimens or extracts derived from long-
tailed macaques from KHI, a member of the Vanny Group of companies.

K. Defendant Foster Assured Investors That Charles River Had
Alternative Supplies for Long-Tailed Macaques

136. As a result of the abrupt interruption of the supply of long-tailed macaques from
China in early 2020, Charles River pivoted to obtain NHPs directly or indirectly from suppliers in
Southeast Asia, principally from suppliers who obtained animals in Cambodia.

137.  On March 11, 2020, during a Charles River conference call with analysts and
investors, Defendant Foster stated the following concerning the impact of COVID-19 on the
Company’s supply of NHPs from China:

So we use some large animals in our toxicology business. There was some noise

about supply sources being limited out of China. That doesn’t seem to be an

ongoing problem. Even if it was, we’ve made arrangements with other supply

sources around the world. So we won’t be interrupted there to any material
degree.

(Emphasis added).

138.  According to an April 20, 2020 report published by Jefferies, “[o]n its 4Q19
earnings call, CRL referenced a limited 1Q20 financial impact from the restricted movement of
NHPs in and out of China. According to our checks, alternative sources in Vietnam, Cambodia,
and the US mitigate the initial shock. The alternative supply should extend continuity out to late-
3Q, early-4Q20. The industry expects, by that time, to see resumption of supply out of China.

While not a significant source of revenue themselves, NHPs are necessary for certain SA [Safety
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Assessment] studies and the supply challenges into 2H20 could delay those studies.”

V. MATERIALLY FALSE AND MISLEADING STATEMENTS ISSUED DURING
THE CLASS PERIOD

139. During the Class Period, Defendants made representations that at the time were
materially false or omitted to disclose material facts necessary in order to make the statements
made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, as alleged
below.

A. Charles River’s Financial Results for the First Quarter 2020

140.  The Class Period begins on May 7, 2020 when the Company disclosed its financial
results for the quarter ended March 28, 2020 and Defendants Foster and Smith caused the
Company to issue a press release that was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K (“May 7, 2020 Press
Release”).

141. The May 7, 2020 Press Release quoted Defendant Foster as follows:

“[a]s the global COVID-19 pandemic intensified during the first quarter, we moved
swiftly to mitigate the anticipated impact, which will be most pronounced in the
research models business. We implemented measures that are focused on
maintaining . . . the continuity of our operations; sustaining our solid financial
position; and ensuring our ability to support our clients’ critical programs. As
a result of these measures, all of our operating sites have remained open and
adequately staffed to accommodate significant client demand across most of
our businesses.?’

142. Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by him, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not

misleading because Defendant Foster failed to disclose that to accommodate significant client

20 In Section V, Defendants’ materially false and misleading statements are emphasized in bold typeface, or
underlining, and other statements are included to provide context and illustrate the false and misleading nature of
Defendants’ statements.
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demand for the Company’s Safety Assessment studies, for which long-tailed macaques were
essential, the Company implemented measures to ensure a supply of long-tailed macaques by
engaging non-preferred suppliers of animals from Cambodia at a time when Cambodian suppliers
of long-tailed macaques had suspiciously and rapidly increased production and export of long-
tailed macaques and it was very likely that wild-caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into
the Cambodian supply chain. By engaging and purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely
that Charles River received animals trapped from the wild, which materially and substantially
increased the risk: 1) that shipments received from these non-preferred suppliers contained animals
that were not purpose-bred; 2) materially increased the risk that the Company’s conduct and its
supply chain would be subject to heightened scrutiny including criminal and civil investigations;
and 3) materially increased the risk that the Company’s supply chain of long-tailed macaques
would be materially interrupted thereby reducing the Company’s revenue and operating margin
from its Safety Assessment studies.

143.  Also on May 7, 2020, Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to file its
Form 10-Q with the SEC for the quarter ended March 28, 2020 (the “Q1 2020 10-Q”’), which was
signed by Defendants Foster and Smith. The Q1 2020 10-Q stated the following concerning
Charles River’s supply chain:

We are focused on ensuring that we have adequate inventory and supplies on hand

given the potential disruption of the COVID-19 pandemic to our suppliers and their

supply chain. Accordingly, we have and expect to continue to increase inventory

and supplies through the second quarter of 2020 and beyond as deemed

appropriate. We proactively engaged with our suppliers beginning in January

2020 to limit any potential disruption to our supply chain. However,

notwithstanding generally successful efforts to maintain supply chain continuity,

we have experienced and expect to experience increased costs and potential delays
throughout our supply chain during the pandemic.

144. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and

misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
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duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, because they failed to disclose that in order to increase
inventory and supply of long-tailed macaques for use in the Company’s Safety Assessment studies
and to limit disruption in the supply chain of long-tailed macaques, the Company engaged non-
preferred suppliers of animals from Cambodia at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed
macaques had suspiciously and rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed macaques
and it was very likely that wild-caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into the Cambodian
supply chain. By engaging and purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River
received animals trapped from the wild, which materially and substantially increased the risk: 1)
that shipments received from these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were not
purpose-bred; and 2) materially increased the risk that the Company’s conduct and its supply chain
would be subject to heightened scrutiny including criminal and civil investigations.

145. The QI 2020 10-Q included the following representation concerning Charles
River’s supply chain that warned of potential, future risks:

Several of our product and service offerings are dependent on a limited source
of supply that, when interrupted, adversely affects our business.

We depend on a limited international source of supply for certain products,
such as large research models. Disruptions to their continued supply from time to
time arise from health problems (including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic
and the spread of other diseases), export or import laws/restrictions or embargoes,
tariffs, international trade regulations, foreign government or economic instability,
severe weather conditions, increased competition among suppliers for models,
disruptions to the air travel system, activist campaigns, commercial disputes,
supplier insolvency, geopolitical disputes, measures intended to slow the spread of
COVID-19 or other ordinary course or unanticipated events. Any disruption of
supply could materially harm our business if we cannot remove the disruption or
are unable to secure an alternative or secondary supply source on comparable
commercial terms. While we continue to take steps to find alternative supply
channels and lock in supply with preferred sources through multi-year and/or
minimum commitment contracts, such mitigating efforts may not prove
successful at ensuring a steady and timely supply or may require (and in the past
have required) us to pay significantly higher prices for such products during periods
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of global shortage or restrictions on the transportation of products. In addition,
limited global supply or regional restrictions on transportation for certain
products may require us to source products from non-preferred vendors.

146. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, because Defendants failed to disclose that in order to
ensure a “steady and timely supply” of long-tailed macaques and avoid disruption to the supply
chain of long-tailed macaques, the Company engaged non-preferred suppliers of animals from
Cambodia at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques had suspiciously and
rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed macaques and it was very likely that wild-
caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into the Cambodian supply chain. By engaging and
purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River received animals trapped from
the wild, which materially and substantially increased the risk: 1) that shipments received from
these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were not purpose-bred; and 2) materially
increased the risk that the Company’s conduct and its supply chain would be subject to heightened
scrutiny including criminal and civil investigations. Further, while Defendants represented that
Charles River “may” in the future source products from “non-preferred vendors,” the Company
had at that time already engaged non-preferred suppliers of Cambodian long-tailed macaques like
Orient BioResource and Envigo who sourced Cambodian long-tailed macaques from the Vanny
Group.

147.  Further, the Q1 2020 10-Q represented the following concerning Charles River’s
suppliers:

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused us to modify our business practices,

including . . . suppliers . . . supply chain risk management . ... We have formed
a tiered structure of designated COVID-19 crisis management teams throughout
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our organization to identify, implement and monitor such actions as required by the

dynamic exigencies arising from the pandemic. Such measures and others may not

be sufficient to mitigate all the risks posed by COVID-19, and our ability to perform

critical functions could be materially adversely affected.

148. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, because while Defendants represented that the measures
implemented to modify the Company’s suppliers and supply chain risk management may not be
sufficient to mitigate risks posed by COVID-19, far from mitigating risks, Defendants had at this
time substantially increased the risks to the Company by engaging non-preferred suppliers of
animals from Cambodia at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques had
suspiciously and rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed macaques and it was very
likely that wild-caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into the Cambodian supply chain.
By engaging and purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River received
animals trapped from the wild, which materially and substantially increased the risk: 1) that
shipments received from these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were not purpose-
bred; and 2) materially increased the risk that the Company’s conduct and its supply chain would
be subject to heightened scrutiny including criminal and civil investigations.

149. The Q1 2020 10-Q stated the following concerning Charles River’s compliance
with U.S. law and standards set by CITES and the USFWS:

Any failure by us to comply with applicable regulations and related guidance

could harm our reputation and operating results, and compliance with new
regulations and guidance may result in additional costs.

Any failure on our part to comply with applicable regulations could result in the
termination of ongoing research or the disqualification of data for submission on
behalf of our clients to regulatory authorities. This could harm our reputation, our
prospects for future work and our operating results. . . . If our operations are found
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to violate any applicable law or other governmental regulations, we might be
subject to civil and criminal penalties, damages and fines or the temporary closure
of our facilities. Any action against us for violation of these laws or regulations,
even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal
expenses, divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business and
damage our reputation. . . .

Although we believe we are currently in compliance in all material respects
with applicable national, regional and local laws, as well as other accepted
guidance used by oversight bodies (including . . . the standards set by . . . the
Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and
Flora, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, The Centers for Disease Control . . .),
failure to comply could subject us to denial of the right to conduct business,
fines, criminal penalties and other enforcement actions.

150. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading. While Defendants represented that the Company was in
compliance with U.S. law and standards set by CITES and the USFWS, and warned that in the
future the Company could subject to enforcement actions, they failed to disclose that the Company
had already engaged in conduct that substantially and materially increased the risk to the Company.
By engaging and purchasing long-tailed macaques from non-preferred suppliers of animals from
Cambodia at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques had suspiciously and
rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed macaques, it was very likely that wild-
caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into the Cambodian supply chain. By engaging and
purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River received animals trapped from
the wild, which materially and substantially increased the risk: 1) that shipments received from
these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were not purpose-bred; and 2) materially
increased the risk that the Company’s conduct and its supply chain would be subject to heightened

scrutiny including criminal and civil investigations.
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151.  On May 7, 2020, Defendant Smith sold 1,884 shares of Charles River common
stock at $150 per share for proceeds of $282,600.

152.  On May 11, 2020, Defendant Foster sold 17,446 shares of Charles River common
stock for proceeds of $2,835,433.

153.  On May 14, 2020, Defendant Foster gifted 2,000 shares of Charles River common
stock with a value of $326,000, based on the closing price on May 14, 2020 of $163 per share.

154. On May 18, 2020, Defendant Foster exercised 17,435 options to acquire shares of
Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them at $175 per share for net proceeds of
$528,804.

155.  OnJuly 16, 2020, Defendant Foster gifted 2,000 shares of Charles River common
stock with a value of $381,400, based on the closing price on July 16, 2020 of $190.70 per share.

B. Charles River’s Financial Results for the Second Quarter 2020

156. On August 5, 2020, the Company disclosed its financial results for the quarter
ended June 27, 2020 and Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to issue a press release
that was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K. Also on August 5, 2020, Defendants Foster and Smith
caused the Company to file its Form 10-Q with the SEC for the quarter ended June 27, 2020 (the
“Q2 2020 10-Q”), which was signed by Defendants Foster and Smith.

157.  The Q2 2020 10-Q repeated representations that were substantially similar to the
representations delineated in Paragraphs 143, 145 and 147 concerning Charles River’s supply
chain.

158. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under

which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraphs 144, 146 and 148.
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159. The Q2 2020 10-Q repeated the representations that were substantially similar to
the representations delineated above Paragraph 149 concerning Charles River’s compliance with
U.S. law and standards set by CITES and the USFWS.

160. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 150.

161. Also on August 5, 2020, during a Charles River earnings conference call with
analysts and investors attended by Defendants Foster and Smith, Defendant Foster made the
following statements:

Rivka Regina Goldwasser — Morgan Stanley, Research Division — MD: Okay.

And the next one is just on supply sourcing a little bit. Last time we spoke, you

mentioned that you’re actively reevaluating outsourcing strategy and also reducing

dependency on Asia. So any updates there in how it impacts the business and
opportunities for the future?

Defendant Foster: Yes. We’re working really hard at our supply chain and critical
tools that we need to do our work. And I think we’ve done a very good job ensuring
that we have sufficient products to do our work, both living and in inanimate
from a variety of sources, some new, many increase from where they were
historically and some reduced from where they were historically. So we feel really

good about supply chain for the balance of this year, and we’ll be very well
prepared for next year as well.

(Emphasis added).

162. Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by him, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, because he failed to disclose that in order for the Company to have a “sufficient”
number of long-tailed macaques “from a variety of sources” to perform work in the Company’s

Safety Assessment studies and to have a sufficient supply of long-tailed macaques to be prepared
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for 2021, the Company engaged non-preferred suppliers who sourced long-tailed macaques from
Cambodia at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques had suspiciously and
rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed macaques and it was very likely that wild-
caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into the Cambodian supply chain. By engaging and
purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River received animals trapped from
the wild, which materially and substantially increased the risk: 1) that shipments received from
these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were not purpose-bred; 2) materially
increased the risk that the Company’s conduct and its supply chain would be subject to heightened
scrutiny including criminal and civil investigations; and 3) materially increased the risk that the
Company’s supply chain of long-tailed macaques would be materially interrupted thereby reducing
the Company’s revenue and operating margin from its Safety Assessment studies.

163. On August 6, 2020, Defendant Foster gifted 4,600 shares of Charles River common
stock with a value of $1,001,880, based on the closing price on August 6, 2020 of $217.80 per
share.

164. On August 7, 2020, Foster sold 24,000 shares of Charles River common stock at
$216.31 to $218.28 per share for proceeds of $5,219,771.

165. On August 7, 2020, Defendant Smith exercised 3,304 options to acquire shares of
Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them at $215.72 to $216.93 per share for net
proceeds of $237,454.

166.  On October 6 and 7, 2020, Defendant Foster gifted 2,000 shares of Charles River
common stock with a value of $470,730, based on the closing price on October 6 and 7, 2020 of
$233.38 per share and $237.35 per share, respectively.

C. Charles River’s Financial Results for the Third Quarter 2020

167.  On October 29, 2020 the Company disclosed its financial results for the quarter
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ended September 26, 2020 and Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to issue a press
release that was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K. Also on October 29, 2020, Defendants Foster
and Smith caused the Company to file its Form 10-Q with the SEC for the quarter ended September
26, 2020 (the “Q3 2020 10-Q”), which was signed by Defendants Foster and Smith.

168. The Q3 2020 10-Q stated the following concerning Charles River’s supply chain:

We are focused on ensuring that we have adequate inventory and supplies on hand
given the potential disruption of the COVID-19 pandemic to our suppliers and their
supply chain. Accordingly, we have and expect to continue to increase inventory
and supplies through 2020 and beyond as deemed appropriate. We proactively
engaged with our suppliers beginning in January 2020 to limit any potential
disruption to our supply chain. However, notwithstanding generally successful
efforts to maintain supply chain continuity, we have experienced and expect to
experience increased costs and potential delays throughout our supply chain during
the pandemic.

169. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 144.

170.  The Q3 2020 10-Q included the following risk factor concerning Charles River’s
supply chain:

Several of our product and service offerings are dependent on a limited source of
supply that, when interrupted, adversely affects our business.

We depend on a limited international source of supply for certain products,
such as large research models. Disruptions to their continued supply from time to
time arise from health problems (including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic
and the spread of other diseases), export or import laws/restrictions or embargoes,
tariffs, international trade regulations, foreign government or economic instability,
severe weather conditions, increased competition among suppliers for models,
disruptions to the air travel system, activist campaigns, commercial disputes,
supplier insolvency, geopolitical disputes, measures intended to slow the spread of
COVID-19 or other ordinary course or unanticipated events. Any disruption of
supply could materially harm our business if we cannot remove the disruption or
are unable to secure an alternative or secondary supply source on comparable
commercial terms. For example, as with other industry participants, certain of our
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activities rely on a sufficient supply of large research models, which has seen
increasing demand as compared to supply in 2020 due to a variety of factors.
First, the surge of research relating to COVID-19 has increased short term
demand. Second, China supplies a significant portion of certain critical large
research models, which have been subject to geographic export restrictions
applicable to many animal species since the beginning of the COVID-19
pandemic. While we continue to take steps to find alternative supply channels
and lock in supply with preferred sources through multi-year and/or
minimum commitment contracts, such mitigating efforts may not prove
successful at ensuring a steady and timely supply or may require (and in the past
have required) us to pay significantly higher prices for such products during periods
of global shortage or restrictions on the transportation of products. In addition,
limited global supply or regional restrictions on transportation for certain
products may require us to source products from non-preferred vendors.

171. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 146.

172.  The Q3 2020 10-Q repeated representations that were substantially similar to the
representations delineated in Paragraph 147 concerning Charles River’s supply chain.

173. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 148.

174. The Q3 2020 10-Q repeated the representations that were substantially similar to
the representations delineated in Paragraph 149 concerning Charles River’s compliance with U.S.
law and standards set by CITES and the USFWS.

175. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a

duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
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which they were made, not misleading, for the delineated in Paragraph 150.

176.

Also on October 29, 2020, during a Charles River earnings conference call with

investors and analysts attended by Defendants Foster and Smith, Defendant Foster made the

following representations concerning Charles River’s long-tailed macaque supply chain:

Jack Meehan — Nephron Research LLC — Research Analyst: Jim, there’s been
some [discussion] around some supply chain constraints when it comes to
nonhuman primates just being shipped around. I was curious if you’ve seen any of
that? And how you manage through it?

Defendant Foster: So an important part of research in a whole host of areas,
particularly for large molecules and have — it’s a model that’s been important for
years. Supply sources are pretty much external. They’re coming from places like
China and Mauritius and Cambodia and Vietnam.

And so we work really hard to have multiple supply sources from multiple
geographies and multiple suppliers within those geographies and have close
working relationships with them to ensure exceptional veterinary oversight
and supply numbers that are consistent and preferably and hopefully always
well in advance of when we need these animals because it’s an important
resource. And so we have always worked really hard at ensuring that supply
— overall supply and the numbers have ticked up over the last few years, so more
suppliers are necessary.

And we feel really good about our supply situation about our road to have
certainly a sufficient number of [animals] for the balance of this year and well
into next year.

And it’s a continual dialogue with the suppliers to try to match the supply with what
we anticipate the need will be based upon what we hear from our clients. But I think
we’re doing very well resourcing in [N]HPs.

177.

Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time

they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to

make the statements made by him, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not

misleading, because contrary to having “multiple supply sources from multiple geographies and

multiple suppliers within those geographies™ and “close working relationships with them to ensure

exceptional veterinary oversight,” in response to the loss of the Chinese market to source long-
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tailed macaques for export to the U.S. and Charles River’s preferred majority-owned breeding
farm in China, to ensure supply the Company had acquired a material number of long-tailed
macaques from suppliers or brokers that according to Defendant Foster “get animals from
wherever,” are not “the best possible people to use,” and did not “care where the animals come
from or what the background is” and had an over concentration and reliance on sourcing animals
from a single geography, Cambodia, at a time when suppliers of long-tailed macaques from
Cambodia had suspiciously and rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed macaques.
Moreover, Defendant Foster failed to disclose that in order for Charles River to have a sufficient
number of long-tailed macaques for the balance of 2020 and in 2021, the Company had engaged
non-preferred suppliers of animals from Cambodia at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-
tailed macaques had suspiciously and rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed
macaques and it was very likely that wild-caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into the
Cambodian supply chain. By engaging and purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that
Charles River received animals trapped from the wild, which materially and substantially increased
the risk: 1) that shipments received from these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were
not purpose-bred; 2) materially increased the risk that the Company’s conduct and its supply chain
would be subject to heightened scrutiny including criminal and civil investigations; and 3)
materially increased the risk that the Company’s supply chain of long-tailed macaques would be
materially interrupted thereby reducing the Company’s revenue and operating margin from its
Safety Assessment studies.

178.  On November 2, 2020, Defendant Foster sold 22,000 shares of Charles River
common stock at $231.22 to $234.39 per share for proceeds of $5,112,267.

179.  On November 13, 2020, Defendant Foster gifted to his children 4,706 shares with
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a value of $1,124,781 based on the closing price per share on November 13, 2020 of $239.01 per
share.

180. On January 4, 2021, Defendant Smith sold 5,000 shares of Charles River common
stock at prices from $243.37 to $254.94 per share for proceeds of $1,243,788.

181. On January 14, 2021, Defendant Foster gifted 3,500 shares of Charles River
common stock with a value of $934,185, based on the closing price on January 14, 2021 of $266.91
per share.

182.  On January 25, 2021, Defendant Smith gifted to his spouse 8,656 shares of Charles
River commons stock, which had a value of $2,367,762 based on the closing price on January 25,
2021, of $273.54 per share.

D. Charles River’s Financial Results for the Fourth Quarter and Full Year
2020

183.  On February 17, 2021 the Company disclosed its financial results for the quarter
and year ended December 26, 2020 and Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to issue
a press release that was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K. Also on February 17, 2021, Defendants
Foster and Smith caused the Company to file its Form 10-K with the SEC for the quarter and year
ended December 26, 2020 (the “2020 10-K”), which was signed by Defendants Foster and Smith.

184. The 2020 10-K repeated representations that were substantially similar to the
representations in the Q3 10-Q 2020 delineated in Paragraphs 168, 170, 172 concerning Charles
River’s supply chain.

185. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under

which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraphs 144, 146, 148.
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186. The 2020 10-K contained representations that were substantially similar to the
representations in the Q1 10-Q 2020 delineated above Paragraph 149 concerning Charles River’s
compliance with U.S. law and standards set by CITES and the USFWS.

187. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 150.

188. The 2020 10-K represented the following concerning Charles River’s large research
models:

The research models we supply have been, and continue to be, some of the most

extensively used in the world, largely as a result of our geographic footprint and

continuous commitment to innovation and quality. . . . We are also a premier

provider of high quality, purpose bred, SPF large research models to the
biomedical research community.

189. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, because contrary to the representation that Charles River
was a provider of “purpose bred” “large research models,” the Company had engaged non-
preferred suppliers of animals from Cambodia at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed
macaques had suspiciously and rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed macaques
and it was very likely that wild-caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into the Cambodian
supply chain. By engaging and purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River
received animals trapped from the wild, which materially and substantially increased the risk that
shipments received from these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were not purpose-

bred.

55



Case 1:23-cv-11132-DJC Document 36 Filed 11/14/23 Page 61 of 166

190. Furthermore, due to the increased risk that the Company was receiving Cambodian
long-tailed macaques from the wild, there was a substantially increased risk that the animals
Charles River received and provided to its customers were not SPF, or specific pathogen free
animals, as represented. For long-tailed macaques, an SPF colony is usually free of Herpes-B
virus and certain retroviruses. There is little chance that wild long-tailed macaques that have
reached the age to be ready for export will be Herpes-B free, as almost all long-tailed macaques,
unless isolated before sexual maturity in a controlled environment like a breeding farm, are
expected to be Herpes-B positive. Accordingly, maintenance of a SPF free colony requires SPF
animals to be kept separate from any non-SPF animals, something not possible with wild-caught
animals. SPF animals were materially important to Charles River’s business and its reputation
because such animals are the preferred research models type for scientific studies and the majority
of research institutions will not allow non-SPF long-tailed macaques in their facilities.

191.  The 2020 10-K made the following representation concerning demand for Charles
River’s research models and Safety Assessment services:

Robust Safety Assessment revenue growth in fiscal 2020 was primarily driven
by increased demand and pricing . . . .

192. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, because they failed to disclose that the client demand for
large research models, i.e., long-tailed macaques, and Charles River’s Safety Assessment studies
caused the Company to engage non-preferred suppliers of animals from Cambodia at a time when
Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques had suspiciously and rapidly increased production

and export of long-tailed macaques and it was very likely that wild-caught long-tailed macaques
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were introduced into the Cambodian supply chain. By engaging and purchasing from such
suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River received animals trapped from the wild, which
materially and substantially increased the risk: 1) that shipments received from these non-preferred
suppliers contained animals that were not purpose-bred; 2) materially increased the risk that the
Company’s conduct and its supply chain would be subject to heightened scrutiny including
criminal and civil investigations; and 3) materially increased the risk that the Company’s supply
chain of long-tailed macaques would be materially interrupted thereby reducing the Company’s
reportedly “robust” revenue and backlog growth from its Safety Assessment studies.
193. The 2020 10-K stated the following concerning Charles River’s “Code of Ethics”:
We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our
employees and directors, including our principal executive officer, principal
financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, or persons performing
similar functions. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our

website and can be accessed by selecting the “Corporate Governance” link at
http://ir.criver.com.

194. Under Charles River’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (effective July 12,
2012 and last updated September 17, 2018) (“Sept. 2018 Code”), “[cJompliance with legal
requirements and standards of honesty, safety, fairness and integrity are central to our success”
and “we expect our suppliers, vendors, and other business partners to comply with the high
ethical and legal standards described in the Code, as further described in our Supplier Code of
Conduct . . ..” (Emphasis in original and hyperlink to Supplier Code of Conduct omitted). The
Sept. 2018 Code included an introductory message from Defendant Foster that stated it “describes
our values and outlines the requirements and expected behavior for all of us who work on behalf
of the Company.”

195. Charles River’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics stated the following, which

applied to the Company’s suppliers:
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196.
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading. While the Sept. 2018 Code represented the Company and
its suppliers “must comply with the international agreements and conventions” and “must all be
vigilant in meeting and going beyond our responsibilities to comply with relevant laws and
regulations and in complying with all applicable policies and operating procedures,” at that time
Charles River had engaged non-preferred suppliers of animals from Cambodia at a time when

Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques had suspiciously and rapidly increased production

“Global Trade Compliance . .. We must comply with the international
agreements and conventions, as well as the national, regional and local
laws and regulations that apply to our global and international business.
This includes required certifications, standards, procedures and
documentation relating to the humane treatment, care and handling of
animals by dealers and research facilities. It also includes compliance with
other laws concerning the importing or exporting of goods, services and
technology.”

“Be truthful and accurate in all representations and certifications made
to government agencies”

“We must also make sure that all information furnished to any customs
officials or anyone we engage to facilitate our imports and exports is
accurate and truthful. To help ensure our compliance with applicable
trade bans and restrictions, we need to keep accurate records of all
international transactions.”

“We must always be truthful and accurate about our products and
services.”

“We are committed to compliance with both the letter and spirit of the laws
and regulations relating to the care and use of research animals and to the
other services and products we offer to support the activities of our clients.
Since we operate in a highly regulated environment, we must all be vigilant
in meeting and going beyond our responsibilities to comply with
relevant laws and regulations and in complying with all applicable
policies and operating procedures. Each of us plays a critical role in
ensuring that we meet these high standards.”

Defendants Charles River and Foster’s representations were materially false and
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and export of long-tailed macaques and it was very likely that wild-caught long-tailed macaques
were introduced into the Cambodian supply chain. By engaging and purchasing from such
suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River received animals trapped from the wild, which
materially and substantially increased the risk: 1) that shipments received from these non-preferred
suppliers contained animals that were not purpose-bred; and 2) materially increased the risk that
the Company’s conduct and its supply chain would be subject to heightened scrutiny including
criminal and civil investigations.

197. In contrast to the 2018 Code’s requirement that all Charles River’s executive,
officers and employees and its suppliers “[b]e truthful and accurate in all representations and
certifications made to government agencies” and that “all information furnished to . . . anyone we
engage to facilitate our imports and exports is accurate and truthful,” in order to maintain a steady
and timely supply of long-tailed macaques into the U.S., the Company engaged non-preferred
suppliers of animals from Cambodia at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques
had suspiciously and rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed macaques and it was
very likely that wild-caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into the Cambodian supply
chain. By engaging and purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River
received animals trapped from the wild, which materially and substantially increased the risk: 1)
that shipments received from these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were not
purpose-bred; and 2) materially increased the risk that the Company’s conduct and its supply chain
would be subject to heightened scrutiny including criminal and civil investigations.

198. Finally, the Sept. 2018 Code’s representation that Charles River’s executive,
officers and employees must be “truthful and accurate about our products and services,” was not

true at the time and was materially misleading because contrary to the representation that the
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Company provided “purpose bred,” “SPF” long-tailed macaques, the Company engaged suppliers
of Cambodian long-tailed macaques for use in Charles River’s Safety Assessment at a time when
Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques had suspiciously and rapidly increased production
and export of long-tailed macaques and it was very likely that wild-caught long-tailed macaques
were introduced into the Cambodian supply chain. By engaging and purchasing from such
suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River received animals trapped from the wild, which
materially and substantially increased the risk that shipments received from these non-preferred
suppliers contained animals that were not purpose-bred or SPF.

199. Under Charles River’s Supplier Code of Conduct (dated 2016), Charles River
represented that its suppliers “are expected to comply with all applicable laws, rules and
regulations as well as the standards set forth” in the Supplier Code of Conduct and “[w]e consider
you a part of the Charles River team” and “[s]uppliers are expected to conduct business in
accordance with the highest ethical standards and act with integrity.”

200. The Supplier Code of Conduct represented that Charles River’s suppliers:

e “comply with all applicable laws and regulations of the countries of
their operations”;

e “will not engage in bribery, corruption, extortion or embezzlement in
any form. Suppliers will comply with all applicable anti-corruption laws
or regulations. Suppliers will not offer or accept bribes, kickbacks or
participate in other illegal inducements in business or government
relationships”; and

b

o “will exercise responsible sourcing in the supplier’s supply chain ...’

201. Charles River’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and it failed to disclose material facts that it had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by it, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not

misleading. At this time Charles River had engaged non-preferred suppliers of animals from
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Cambodia at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques had suspiciously and
rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed macaques and it was very likely that wild-
caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into the Cambodian supply chain. By engaging and
purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River received animals trapped from
the wild, which materially and substantially increased the risk: 1) that shipments received from
these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were not purpose-bred; and 2) materially
increased the risk that the Company’s conduct and its supply chain would be subject to heightened
scrutiny including criminal and civil investigations. Indeed, the Company had engaged
nonpreferred suppliers, namely Orient BioResource, Envigo, the Vanny Group who, based on the
facts alleged herein, there is a strong inference were not complying with “all applicable laws and
regulations of the countries of their operations” and were not exercising responsible sourcing in
the supplier’s supply chain.”

202.  On February 11, 2021, Defendant Foster sold 30,000 shares of Charles River
common stock at $280.76 to $288.62 per share for proceeds of $8,550,557.

203.  On February 17, 2021, during a Charles River conference call with investors and
analysts attended by Defendants Foster and Smith, Defendant Foster made the following
statements:

Juan Esteban Avendano - BofA Securities, Research Division — Associate: . . .

it seems like the supply of nonhuman primates has been severely impacted by

COVID-19 and export bans from China. Are you seeing a benefit in your Research

Model volumes as clients might need to migrate towards smaller volumes in the
absence of the bigger models? This is a dynamic that I’ve been sort of tracking. . .

Defendant Foster: . . . So I’ll answer the one I thought you were going to ask and
answer the one that you did ask, why is that the supply is definitely constrained
around the world? I think we’ve done an exceptional job in adding, ensuring,
tightening up, expanding our supply sources so that we have multiple supply
sources for multiple countries such that we can support the demand, which is
quite significant. . .
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Work on large molecules really has to be done on larger species to get the sort of
quality results that we’re looking for. So I think NHPs will continue to play a
critical role.

204. Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, for the reasons set forth in Paragraph 177.

205. On February 19, 2021, Defendant Smith’s spouse sold 8,656 shares of Charles
River common stock that Defendant Smith previously gifted to her at prices from $290.00 to
$292.67 per share for proceeds of $2,515,686.

206. On February 22,2021, Defendant Foster exercised 17,436 options to acquire shares
of Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them on the open market at $280.08 to $284.97
per share for net proceeds of $2,411,652.

207. On February 23,2021, Defendant Foster exercised 20,295 options to acquire shares
of Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them at $274.48 to $282.92 per share for net
proceeds of $3,459,522.

208. On February 24,2021, Defendant Foster exercised 24,009 options to acquire shares
of Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them at $278.97 to $289.15 per share for net
proceeds of $4,722,615.

209. On March 1, 2021, Defendant Smith exercised 4,366 options to acquire shares of
Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them at prices from $290.00 to $290.28 per share
for net proceeds of $842,221.

210. On April 15, 2021, Defendant Smith sold 2,000 shares of Charles River common

stock at a price of $320 per share for proceeds of $640,000.
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211.  On April 22, 2021, Defendant Smith exercised 3,845 options to acquire shares of
Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them at $330 per share for net proceeds of
$848,438.

E. Charles River’s Financial Results for the First Quarter 2021 and June
2, 2021 Investor Conference

212. On May 4, 2021 the Company disclosed its financial results for the quarter ended
March 27,2021 and Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to issue a press release that
was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K. Also on May 4, 2021, Defendants Foster and Smith caused
the Company to file its Form 10-Q with the SEC for the quarter ended March 27, 2021 (“Q1 2021
10-Q”), which was signed by Defendants Foster and Smith.

213.  The Q1 2021 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factor in the 2020 10-K
concerning Charles River’s supply chain (“you should carefully consider the factors discussed in
Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in [the 2020-10-K] . . . There have been no material changes to
the risk factors set forth in [the 2020 10-K] . .. ) delineated in Paragraphs 145 and 172.

214. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraphs 146 and 148.

215. The QI 2021 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factors in the 2020 10-K
concerning Charles River’s compliance U.S. law and standards set by CITES and the USFWS.

216. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under

which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons set forth in Paragraph 150.
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217. On May 4, 2021, Defendant Smith exercised 3,305 options to acquire shares of
Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them at $340.01 per share for net proceeds of
$645,584.

218. On May 7, 2021, Defendant Foster sold 7,500 shares of Charles River common
stock at $341.24 to $346.15 per share for proceeds of $2,567,025.

219.  On June 1, 2021, Defendant Foster exercised 9,577 options to acquire shares of
Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them at $328.52 to $338.84 per share for net
proceeds of $1,489,886.

220.  On June 2, 2021, during a conference call in connection with the William Blair
Growth Stock Conference in which Defendant Foster participated on behalf of the Company,
Defendant Foster was asked “[w]e all hear a lot of questions about sort of supply chain stresses in
the new every day. Are you seeing any of that in your business?”

221. In response, Defendant Foster stated “I think we did a very good job throughout
COVID in protecting our supply chain with a whole host of different thing[s] that we buy. So it
was never a problem for us and doesn’t feel like a challenge at the moment. I think we’re managing
that well and not having any sort of external or artificial roadblocks.”

222. Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by him, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, because in order to avoid roadblocks and to protect the Company’s supply chain for
long-tailed macaques to meet demand in its Safety Assessment business as a result of the loss of
China as a market to source long-tailed macaques, the Company engaged non-preferred suppliers

of animals from Cambodia at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques had
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suspiciously and rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed macaques and it was very
likely that wild-caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into the Cambodian supply chain.
By engaging and purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River received
animals trapped from the wild, which materially and substantially increased the risk: 1) that
shipments received from these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were not purpose-
bred; 2) materially increased the risk that the Company’s conduct and its supply chain would be
subject to heightened scrutiny including criminal and civil investigations; and 3) materially
increased the risk that the Company’s supply chain of long-tailed macaques would be materially
interrupted thereby reducing the Company’s revenue and operating margin from its Safety
Assessment studies.

F. Charles River’s Financial Results for Second Quarter 2021 and
September 14, 2021 Investor Conference

223.  On August 4, 2021 the Company disclosed its financial results for the quarter ended
June 26, 2021 and Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to issue a press release that
was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K (“Aug. 4, 2021 Press Release”). Also on August 4, 2021,
Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to file its quarterly report on Form 10-Q with
the SEC for the quarter ended June 26, 2021 (“Q2 2021 10-Q”’), which was signed by Defendants
Foster and Smith.

224. The Aug. 4, 2021 Press Release represented that “RMS revenue growth was driven
by robust demand for research models across all client segments and geographic regions,
particularly in China, as well as higher revenue for research model services.” Similarly, the Q2
2021 10-Q reported that RMS revenue increased “due primarily to higher research model product
revenue across all geographies and higher research model services revenue” and DSA revenue

increased due “primarily to service revenue which increased in both the Safety Assessment and
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Discovery Services businesses due to demand from biotechnology and global biopharmaceutical
clients....”

225. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 192.

226. The Q2 2021 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factors in the 2020 10-K
concerning Charles River’s supply chain delineated in Paragraphs 147 and 170.

227. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraphs 146 and 148.

228. The Q2 2021 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factors in the 2020 10-K
concerning Charles River’s compliance with U.S. law and standards set by CITES and the
USFWS.

229. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 150.

230. On August 4, 2021, during a Charles River conference call with investors and
analysts attended by Defendants Foster and Smith, Defendant Foster represented that there was

“significant demand” for “more complex models and more translational models” and that the

growth margin contributions are “absolutely sustainable.”
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231.

Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time

they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to

make the statements made by him, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not

misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 192.

G.

232.

An Executive of a Charles River NHP Supplier is Indicted in
Connection with a U.S. Government Investigation of the NHP Supply
Chain

As a result of a nonpublic investigation that began before the Class Period (in or

around 2017), on or around August 4, 2021, the DOJ issued a press release titled “Man Convicted

of Lying to Federal Agents During International Wildlife Trafficking Investigation,” in connection

with U.S. v. Tucker, 21-cr-20263 (S.D. Fl.) (the “Tucker Action”).

233.

According to the press release, Mr. Tucker, an executive of Orient BioResource, a

Charles River supplier of Cambodian long-tailed macaques, admitted to lying to Special Agents

of the USFWS during an interview concerning potential illegal trafficking of wildlife:

During the interview, agents asked Tucker about his involvement in the
procurement and importation to the United States of long-tailed macaques --
small non-human primates regularly employed in scientific research -- from
Southeast Asia. . . . In particular, agents asked Tucker whether he or others
working for his employer, Orient BioResource Center (OBRC), prepared or
submitted to OBRC any audits or reports concerning visits to supplier sites in
Cambodia. . . the existence of site visit reports or audits was material to the on-
going investigation into the trafficking of the primates, whose possession, sale,
export and import is highly regulated by the international community and the
United States under the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species
of Wild Fauna and Flora, to which the United States is a party, and the U.S.
Endangered Species Act, Title 16, United States Code, Section 1538, et seq.
Congress has tasked the USFWS to administer and enforce the provisions of the
Treaty.

(Emphasis added).

234.

On August 6, 2021, Defendant Foster sold 10,000 shares of Charles River common

stock at $400.31 to $405 per share for proceeds of $4,017,867, and gifted 2,500 shares with a value

67



Case 1:23-cv-11132-DJC Document 36 Filed 11/14/23 Page 73 of 166

of $1,021,025 based on the closing price on August 6, 2021 of $408.41 per share.

235.

On August 9, 2021, Defendant Smith sold 1,750 shares of Charles River common

stock at prices from $405.93 to $408.26 per share for proceeds of $712,954.

236.

On September 14, 2021, during a conference call in connection with the Robert W.

Baird Global Healthcare Conference in which Defendant Foster participated on behalf of the

Company, Defendant Foster made the following statements:

Eric White Coldwell - Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated, Research Division
- Senior Research Analyst: . . . There’s been disruptions with freight, logistics,
shipping, you name it. To what extent have you had some of these experiences and
where -- maybe if you could give us some anecdotes of things where you’ve had
challenges on supply chain. . . . have you thought about investments yourselves and
making investments in raw materials, components, suppliers, distributors? Are
there any entities in the supply chain you actually think of taking control of because
they’re such a critical component that you need to run your business that it might
make sense to, at some level, even vertically integrate it?

Defendant Foster: So our procurement organization has grown significantly over
the last decade and it’s a much more professional, thoughtful group. And so even
without COVID, I think we’ve been doing a really good job in supply chain and
accessing the critical things that we need and getting multiple bids for them and
buying, where possible, across the world, so we get the benefit of scale. And so we
found ourselves in very good shape as supply chain tightened or was hampered
by COVID and have continued to work through that with pretty much no
disruptions at all that I’m aware of.

One important resource are large animals, which I think maybe you were referring
to in the back half of your question. I think access to large animals, which are
increasingly more important, particularly in biologics, safety work, is a complex
framework of suppliers. And so what we’ve done there is meaningfully
expanded our supply sources. By that, I mean countries of origin, numbers of
suppliers in those countries of origin. And in at least one situation that I’m
aware of, we have a joint venture with one of those businesses, so we have
greater access. So I think we’re doing well. We are preparing now, getting
prepared for ‘22. And so that strikes me as the most complex component.
Obviously, not something that’s physically -- I mean, it’s a biologic component.
It’s much more complicated. But I think we’re doing well. So I think our
procurement group is handling potential shortages quite well.

237.

Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time

they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to
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make the statements made by him, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, because Defendant Foster failed to disclose that in order to avoid disruptions to the
supply chain for long-tailed macaques, which were hampered and tightened due to COVID-19,
Charles River had “expanded” its “supply sources” and had “greater access” by engaging suppliers
like Orient BioResource and Envigo at a time when Cambodian suppliers of long-tailed macaques
had suspiciously and rapidly increased production and export of long-tailed macaques and it was
very likely that wild-caught long-tailed macaques were introduced into the Cambodian supply
chain. By engaging and purchasing from such suppliers, it is very likely that Charles River
received animals trapped from the wild, which materially and substantially increased the risk: 1)
that shipments received from these non-preferred suppliers contained animals that were not
purpose-bred; 2) materially increased the risk that the Company’s conduct and its supply chain
would be subject to heightened scrutiny including criminal and civil investigations; and 3)
materially increased the risk that the Company’s supply chain of long-tailed macaques would be
materially interrupted thereby reducing the Company’s revenue and operating margin from its
Safety Assessment studies. Moreover, in contrast to Foster’s representation that Charles River
“meaningfully expanded” its supply sources in terms of “countries of origin” and “numbers of
suppliers in those countries or origin,” Charles River’s supply chain of long-tailed macaques was
over concentrated in Cambodia and in its use of animal suppliers or brokers that, as Defendant
Foster admitted after the Class Period, “get animals from wherever,” are not “the best possible
people to use,” and do not “care where the animals come from or what the background is,” And
included multiple non-preferred suppliers of Cambodian animals from Envigo, Orient
BioResource and the Vanny Group.

238.  On October 14, 2021, the DOJ issued a press release titled “Man Sentenced for
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Lying to Federal Agents During International Wildlife Trafficking Investigation” concerning Mr.

Tucker of Orient Bio Resource that stated:

A Texas man was sentenced in federal district court in Fort Lauderdale, Florida
yesterday for knowingly and willfully making a materially false, fictitious, and
fraudulent statement and representation to Special Agents of the United States Fish
& Wildlife Service during a criminal investigation of international trafficking
of primates into the United States.

Gary Tucker, 64, of Alice, Texas, was sentenced to serve a three-year term of
probation, with a special condition of home confinement for a period of three
months, and to pay a criminal fine in the amount of $5,000 by U.S. District Judge
William P. Dimitrouleas. . . . In connection with his guilty plea, Tucker admitted
that in the course of an interview by Special Agents of the United States Fish &
Wildlife Service (USFWS) about potential illegal trafficking of wildlife, he was
asked about his involvement in the procurement and importation to the U.S.
of long-tailed macaques -- small non-human primates regularly employed in
scientific research -- from Southeast Asia. . . .

(Emphasis added).

239.

The Sentencing Memorandum in the Tucker Action, dated October 7, 2021 (ECF

No. 27 in the Tucker Action), identified Tucker as Vice President of Orient BioResource, and

stated the following:

the Government has been investigating whether foreign exporters and,
potentially, U.S. importers are improperly importing wild-caught non-human
primates into the United States despite the animals being labeled as captive
bred in regulatory and related documents . . . The conduct at issue in this case
arose from the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of Florida and the
USFWS’s ongoing investigation into the non-human primate importation
industry . . . news of [Tucker’s] conviction has been disseminated by local and
national sources. . . . Gary [Tucker]’s conduct, especially the widespread
knowledge of it among members of the industry and his community, will forever
stain his reputation and legacy.

(Emphasis added.)

240.

October 26, 2021, Defendant Foster gifted to his children 14,813 shares with a

value of $6,367,072 based on the closing price per share on October 26, 2021 of $429.83 per share.
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H. Charles River’s Financial Results for Third Quarter 2021

241. On November 3, 2021 the Company disclosed its financial results for the quarter
ended September 25, 2021 and Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to issue a press
release that was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K (“Nov. 3, 2021 Press Release”). Also on
November 3, 2021, Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to file its quarterly report
on Form 10-Q with the SEC for the quarter ended September 25, 2021 (“Q3 2021 10-Q”), which
was signed by Defendants Foster and Smith.

242.  The Nov. 3, 2021 Press Release reported that the DSA segment revenue increased:
“[flrom a client perspective, biotechnology clients were the primary driver of DSA revenue
growth, with solid contributions from global biopharmaceutical clients as well.” The Q3 2021 10-
Q similarly reported DSA revenue and operating income increased “due primarily to service
revenue which increased in both the Safety Assessment and Discovery Services businesses due to
demand from biotechnology and global biopharmaceutical clients; increased pricing of services .

243. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 192.

244. The Q3 2021 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factor in the 2020 10-K
concerning Charles River’s supply chain.

245. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under

which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in in Paragraphs 146 and 148.
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246. The Q3 2021 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factors in the 2020 10-K
concerning Charles River’s compliance with U.S. law and standards set by CITES and the
USFWS.

247. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 150.

248. On November 3, 2021, during a Charles River earnings conference call with
investors and analysts attended by Defendants Foster and Smith, Defendants Foster and Smith
made the following statements:

Defendant Smith: Although cost inflation and supply chain pressures have made
headlines recently, we believe we are effectively managing . . . our supply chain,
and higher costs in these areas have been reflected in our updated guidance. . . . we
are fortunate to be in the industry that we’re in. We’re not as buffeted by those
issues as some, but neither are we immune. So that said, we believe we’re
effectively managing those tighter . . . supply chains, but it will take effort and it
will take investment.

skekesk

David Howard Windley - Jefferies LLC, Research Division - MD & Equity
Analyst: And then a related follow-up question is around the mix in that business.
I’m thinking broadly about a pipeline that’s moving toward large molecule in
general, but also maybe at the bleeding edge moving towards cell and gene therapy
and you’ve highlighted that part of your business. And so the shifting mix but also
in that the supply chain for that shifting mix, how does that change the type of
animal models that you need to use in those studies? And do you have access to all
of those?

Defendant Foster: Yes. There’s -- we work really hard at making sure we have
sufficient supply of all of our animal models, particularly some of the larger
models. And we’ve had to identify and validate multiple new sources of supply
of multiple countries to accommodate just the increase in demand and the pace
of demand and just to ensure that the supply is there.

It’s an ongoing complex challenge, one that I think we’re managing well. And we
feel that we are directionally managing it quite well in terms of having
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sufficient numbers for 22.

So yes, I mean the -- I think the animal models will become increasingly more
complex, particularly some of the larger ones for the Biologics, in particular. I think
that’s been the case for some period of time.

249. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraphs 177 and 237.

250. After the November 3, 2021 Charles River conference call with investors and
analysts, analysts at Evercore ISI conducted a follow-up call with Charles River management,
which included Defendants Foster and Smith, and in a research report published on November 3,
2021 concerning Charles River, Evercore ISI repeated statements made by “Charles River
management” during the follow-up call:

Notes from the Top — Follow-Up Call with Management . . . .

Are there any supply chain issues that you would call out at this point?
[(Emphasis in original).]

Management said that procurement has done a particularly good job to ensure

that CRL has what they need at reasonable prices. Overall, nothing problematic
to call out on this front.

251. Defendants’ representations were materially false and misleading at the time they
were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraphs 146 and 221.

252.  On February 15, 2022, Defendant Foster sold 20,000 shares of Charles River

common stock at $307.75 to $334.06 per share for proceeds of $6,309,137.
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L. Charles River Supplier Envigo Receives DOJ Grand Jury Subpoena

253.  On February 16, 2022, Inotiv disclosed in a filing with the SEC that on “June 15,
2021, Envigo Global Services, Inc., a subsidiary of the Company acquired in the Envigo
acquisition, was served with a grand jury subpoena issued by the Department of Justice in Miami,
Florida requiring the production of documents related to the importation into the United States of
live non-human primates originating from or transiting through China, Cambodia and/or Vietnam

254. By this point in time, Charles River had acquired at least 1,918 long-tailed
macaques from Inotiv or through its subsidiaries since the start of the Class Period. In 2021 Envigo
and Orient BioResource supplied over 814 long-tailed macaques to Charles River, accounting for
approximately 5% of long-tailed macaques Charles River used in 2021 according to the USDA.

J. Charles River’s Financial Results for Fourth Quarter and Full Year
2021

255.  Also on February 16, 2022 the Company disclosed its financial results for the
quarter and year ended December 25, 2021 and Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company
to issue a press release that was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K (“Feb. 16, 2022 Press Release”).
Also on February 16, 2021, Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to file the 2021 10-
K with the SEC, which was signed by Defendants Foster and Smith.

256. The Feb. 16, 2022 Press Release reported that during the quarter ended December
25,2021 revenue in the Company’s DSA segment increased “principally by the Safety Assessment
business” and that revenue and operating margin increased in 2021. Similarly, the 2021 10-K
represented that in the DSA segment “Robust Safety Assessment revenue growth was primarily
driven by unprecedented client demand and increased pricing, which was supported by record

backlog levels.”
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257. Defendants’ representations were materially false and misleading at the time they
were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, for the reasons delineated above in Paragraph 192.

258. The 2021 10-K stated “[t]he research models we supply have been, and continue to
be, some of the most extensively used in the world, largely as a result of our geographic footprint
and continuous commitment to innovation and quality. . . . We are also a premier provider of high
quality, purpose bred, SPF large research models to the biomedical research community.”

259. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraphs 189-90.

260. The 2021 10-K stated the following concerning Charles River’s supply chain:

We are focused on ensuring that we have adequate inventory and supplies on hand

given the potential disruption of the COVID-19 pandemic to our suppliers and their

supply chain. Accordingly, we have and expect to continue to increase inventory

and supplies in 2022. We continuously engage with our suppliers to limit any

potential disruption to our supply chain. However, notwithstanding generally

successful efforts to maintain supply chain continuity, we have experienced
increased costs and delays throughout our supply chain during the pandemic.

261. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 144.

262. The 2021 10-K stated the following risk factor concerning Charles River’s supply
chain:

Several of our product and service offerings are dependent on a limited source of
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supply that, when interrupted, adversely affects our business.

We depend on a limited international source of supply for certain products,
such as large research models. Disruptions to their continued supply from time to
time arise from health problems (including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic
and the spread of other diseases), export or import laws/restrictions or embargoes,
tariffs, inflation, international trade regulations, foreign government or economic
instability, severe weather conditions, increased competition among suppliers for
models, disruptions to the air travel system, activist campaigns, commercial
disputes, supplier insolvency, geopolitical disputes, measures intended to slow the
spread of COVID-19 or other ordinary course or unanticipated events. Any
disruption of supply could materially harm our business if we cannot remove the
disruption or are unable to secure an alternative or secondary supply source on
comparable commercial terms. For example, as with other industry participants,
certain of our activities rely on a sufficient supply of large research models,
which has seen increasing demand as compared to supply in 2020 and 2021
and into 2022 due to a variety of factors. First, the surge of research relating
to COVID-19 has increased short term demand. Second, China supplies a
significant portion of certain critical large research models, which have been
subject to geographic export restrictions applicable to many animal species
since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic. While we continue to take
steps to find alternative supply channels and lock in supply with preferred
sources through multi-year and/or minimum commitment contracts, such
mitigating efforts may not prove successful at ensuring a steady and timely supply
or may require (and in the past have required) us to pay significantly higher prices
for such products during periods of global shortage or restrictions on the
transportation of products. Limited global supply or regional restrictions on
transportation for certain products may require us to source products from
non-preferred vendors, which may not be successful.

263. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated above in Paragraph 146.

264. The 2021 10-K stated the risk factor concerning Charles River’s compliance with
U.S. law and standards set by CITES and the USFWS:

Any failure by us to comply with applicable regulations and related guidance

could harm our reputation and operating results, and compliance with new
regulations and guidance may result in additional costs.

Any failure on our part to comply with applicable regulations could result in the
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termination of ongoing research or the disqualification of data for submission on
behalf of our clients to regulatory authorities. This could harm our reputation, our
prospects for future work and our operating results. . . . If our operations are found
to violate any applicable law or other governmental regulations, we might be
subject to civil and criminal penalties, damages and fines or the temporary closure
of our facilities. Any action against us for violation of these laws or regulations,
even if we successfully defend against it, could cause us to incur significant legal
expenses, divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business and
damage our reputation. . . .

Although we believe we are currently in compliance in all material respects
with applicable national, regional and local laws, as well as other accepted
guidance used by oversight bodies (including . . . the standards set by the .. ..
the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna
and Flora, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, The Centers for Disease Control . . .),
failure to comply could subject us to denial of the right to conduct business,
fines, criminal penalties and other enforcement actions.

265. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons set forth above in Paragraph 150.

266. The 2021 10-K stated the following concerning Charles River’s “Code of Ethics”:

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all of our

employees and directors, including our principal executive officer, principal

financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, or persons performing
similar functions. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our

website and can be accessed by selecting the “Corporate Governance” link at
http://ir.criver.com.

267. Under Charles River’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (updated December
31, 2021) (2021 Code”), “[c]ritical to the Company’s success is our compliance with legal
requirements and standards of honesty, safety, and integrity” and “we expect our suppliers,
vendors, and other business partners to comply with the high ethical and legal standards
described in the Code, as further described in our Supplier Code of Conduct. . ..” (Emphasis in

original). The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics included a hyperlink to the Company’s
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Supplier Code of Conduct.

268. The representations in both the 2021 Code and the Supplier Code of Conduct are
substantially similar to the representations delineated above in Paragraphs 195 and 200.

269. Defendants’ representations were materially false and misleading at the time they
were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, for the reasons set delineated in Paragraph 196-99 and 201.

270. On February 22, 2022, Defendant Foster exercised 17,436 options to acquire shares
of Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them at $285.41 to $292.845 per share for net
proceeds of $2,510,862.

271.  On February 23, 2022, Defendant Foster exercised 20,296 options to acquire shares
of Charles River common stock and sold 100% of them at $283.45 to $296.40 per share for net
proceeds of $3,622,705.

272. On March 3, 2022, Defendant Smith exercised 8,965 options to acquire Charles
River common stock and sold 100% of them at $280.98 to $285.29 per share for net proceeds of
$1,308,326.

K. Charles River’s Financial Results for the First Quarter 2022

273.  On May 4, 2022, the Company disclosed its financial results for the quarter ended
March 26, 2022 and Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to issue a press release that
was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K (“May 4, 2022 Press Release”). Also on May 4, 2022,
Defendants Foster and Smith caused the Company to file its Form 10-Q with the SEC for the
quarter ended March 26, 2021 (“Q1 2022 10-Q”), which was signed by Defendants Foster and
Smith.

274. The May 4, 2022 Press Release reported that DSA segment revenue and operating
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margin increased. Similarly the Q1 2022 10-Q reported that revenue and operating margin
increased in the DSA segment “primarily to service revenue which increased in both the Safety
Assessment and Discovery Services businesses due principally to increased pricing of services . .

275. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 192.

276. The Q1 2022 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factor in the 2021 10-K
delineated above in Paragraph 262 concerning Charles River’s supply chain (“you should carefully
consider the factors discussed in Part I, “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in [the 2021 10-K] . . . There have
been no material changes to the risk factors set forth in our [2021 10-K]...”).

277. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 146.

278. The QI 2021 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factors in the 2021 10-K
delineated above in Paragraph 264 concerning Charles River’s legal compliance.

279. Defendants Foster and Smith’s representations were materially false and
misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a
duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under

which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 150.
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L.

280.

Charles River Supplier Orient BioResource Receives DOJ Grand Jury
Subpoena

On May 16, 2022, Inotiv disclosed in a filing with the SEC that not only had the

DOJ’s investigation of Envigo continued, but also that Orient BioResource was under

investigation:

On June 15, 2021, Envigo Global Services, Inc. (“EGSI”), a subsidiary of the
Company acquired in the Envigo acquisition, received a grand
jury subpoena requested by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of
Florida (“USAQ?”) for the production of documents related to the procurement of
non-human primates (“NHPs”) from foreign suppliers for the period January 1,
2018 through June 1, 2021. The subpoenarelates to an earlier grand
jury subpoena requested by the USAO and received by EGSI’s predecessor entity,
Covance Research Products, in April 2019. Envigo acquired EGSI from Covance,
Inc. (“Covance”), a subsidiary of Laboratory Corporation of America Holdings, in
June 20109. . ..

On January 27, 2022, EGSI acquired OBRC, which owns and operates a primate
quarantine and holding facility located near Alice, Texas. In 2019, OBRC received
grand jury subpoenas requested by the USAO requiring the production of
documents and information related to its importation of NHPs into the United
States. On June 16, 2021, OBRC received a grand jury subpoena requested by the
USAO requiring the production of documents related to the procurement of NHPs
from foreign suppliers for the period January 1, 2018 through June 1, 2021.

281.

On June 6, 2022, Defendant Foster gifted 2,000 of Charles River common stock

with a value of $490,040 based on the closing price of $245.02 per share on June 6, 2022.

M.

282.

Charles River’s Financial Results for the Second Quarter 2022

On August 3, 2022 the Company disclosed its financial results for the quarter ended

June 25, 2022 and Defendant Foster caused the Company to issue a press release that was filed

with the SEC on Form 8-K (“Aug. 3, 2022 Press Release”). Also on August 3, 2022, Defendant

Foster caused the Company to file its Form 10-Q with the SEC for the quarter ended June 25, 2022

(“Q2 2022 10-Q”), which was signed by Defendant Foster.

283.

The Aug. 3, 2022 Press Release stated the following:

James C. Foster, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, said, “Our
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second-quarter financial results reflect the sustained trends that continue to support
our business, particularly our DSA and RMS business segments for which
demand continues to be strong and the performance remains consistent with our
initial outlook for the year. Safety Assessment continues to benefit from a
growing backlog that is well above the prior-year level and solid booking
activity, which support the anticipated DSA growth acceleration in the second half
of the year.”

284. Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by him, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 192.

285. The Q2 2022 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factor in the 2021 10-K
delineated in Paragraph 262 concerning Charles River’s supply chain.

286. Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a duty to disclose in order
to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 146.

287. The Q2 2021 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factors in the 2020 10-K
delineated above in Paragraph 264 concerning Charles River’s compliance with U.S. law and
standards set by CITES and the USFWS.

288. Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and they failed to disclose material facts that they had a duty to disclose in order
to make the statements made by them, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 150.

N. USFWS Refuses to Clear Shipment of over 1,000 Long-Tailed
Macaques Sourced from KF Cambodia to Charles River

289.  On or around September 21, 2022, the USFWS, which along with the DOJ was
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conducting an ongoing criminal investigation into the NHP importation industry, refused to clear
a shipment of 360 long-tailed macaques with a reported value of $3,240,000 from KF Cambodia
to Charles River at Dulles International Airport in Virginia.

290. Under 50 C.F.R. § 14.53, any USFWS officer may refuse clearance of imported or
exported wildlife when there are responsible grounds to believe that a federal law or regulation
has been violated. When a shipment is refused, the USFWS “will mail a notice of detention by
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, to the importer or consignee, or exporter, if
known or easily ascertainable. Such notice must describe the detained wildlife or other property,
indicate the reason for the detention, describe the general nature of the tests or inquiries to be
conducted, and indicate that if the releasability of the wildlife has not been determined within 30
days after the date of the notice, or a longer period if specifically stated, that the Service will deem
the wildlife to be seized and will issue no further notification of seizure.”

291.  According to USFWS data, before the refusal to clear the shipment on or around
September 21, 2022, no imports of long-tailed macaques imported from KF Cambodia had ever
been refused by the USFWS.

292.  Ator around that time, USFWS contacted primate sanctuaries to determine whether
they had capacity to host the blocked shipment of 360 long-tailed macaques, presumably for
purposes of preserving evidence in connection with its ongoing criminal investigation.

293. Subsequently, the USFWS refused to clear additional shipments from KF
Cambodia to Charles River in the U.S.

294.  On or around December 29, 2022, the USFWS refused to clear two shipments of
360 long-tailed macaques (720 into total) with a reported value of $5.4 million for each shipment

($10.8 million in total value) from KF Cambodia to Charles River at Dulles International Airport
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in Virginia.

295.  On or around January 22, 2023, the USFWS refused to clear two shipments of 105
long-tailed macaques and 84 long-tailed macaques, respectively, with a reported value of
$1,837,500 and $1,470,000, respectively ($3,307,500 in total reported value) from KF Cambodia
to Charles River at Houston International Airport in Texas.

296. In total, permits for 1,269 purportedly captive-bred long-tailed macaques from KF
Cambodia with a market value over $17.4 million were refused by the USFWS, which represented
nearly 8% of the total NHPs used by Charles River in 2022 as reported by the USDA.

0. September 28-29, 2022 Bloomberg and Jefferies Reports

297.  On September 28, 2022, Bloomberg published an article titled “Lab Monkeys Are
the Latest Covid Shortage; Beijing’s ban on macaque exports—needed to test vaccines and other
lifesaving drugs—could give its pharma industry an edge” that stated:

With the shortage has also come a spike in costs: Average price have more than

doubled since just before the pandemic . . . to about . . . ($11,000) per animal. One

research industry executive says it’s worse in some cases, rising to more than

$35,000 per primate at times . . . .

298.  On September 29, 2022 Jefferies issued a research report titled “Dramatic NHP
Supply Changes Explain Mgt’s Confidence” that described the NHP supply shortage and nearly
500% price increase in three years and stated “[w]e believe this is new information to the market”
and that this trend was driving growth in Charles River’s Safety Assessment “pricing, revenue
and backlog” and that this trend was material to Charles River’s outlook.

299.  According to the September 29, 2022 Jefteries report, NHP demand for use in
preclinical studies was driving most of Charles River’s pricing, revenue and backlog growth in

the Company’s DSA segment:

Secularly, pipeline evolution toward large molecules and advanced therapies is
increasing demand for NHPs, the model of choice for preclinical studies (immune
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system biology). This supply/demand imbalance is driving a ~6x price increase
over 3 yrs, based on data we’ve pulled together. If China becomes a net importer
of NHPs for the first time, the price squeeze could actually accelerate. This
scenario is positive for CRL and other CROs offering NHP tox studies, but
exposes the tenuous NHP supply chain.

NHP Pricing in DSA Overwhelms Broader Weakness. NHP pricing benefits
research model suppliers, but also DSA businesses that price NHPs into studies.
Protecting, if not enhancing, DSA margin is the dynamic that SA study protocols
often are finalized shortly before study start (not at time of booking), so NHP prices
can be “marked to market” proximate to study start. We believe NHPs account for
DSA’s stronger pricing, revenue growth, and bookings deep in the future. For CRL,
we estimate 48% of SA revenue will come from NHP studies in ‘23, up from 24%
in ‘20, which assumes only 4% volume growth but 40% price growth annually.
This strength is sufficiently covering up softness in Discovery and non-NHP SA,
which we believe were flattish on a CC basis in 1HQ22.

'23 Guidance Likely Exceeds Consensus. Using current NHP pricing of $20K-
$25K per model and conservative assumptions, we think DSA revenue can exceed
current consensus ($2.54B) while absorbing 180 bps of incremental FX headwind
since 2Q and LSD% declines in Discovery and non-NHP SA (Exhibit 3). Elevated
DSA cancellations are anticipated, mitigated by an unusually large backlog,
particularly for large animal (canines, NHPs) studies. A 10% NHP price increase
should drive $100M of DSA revenue. . . .

NHPs create an unusual moat for CRL, as 1 of 2 NHP players. The drug pipeline
is not moving away from large molecule, and the supply challenge is not quickly
solvable.

300. According to the September 29, 2022 Jefferies report, Charles River’s DSA-
segment margins were positively impacted by the shortage of long-tailed macaques and related

price increases:
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Exhibit 5 - CRL's Vertically Integrated Model In NHP SA Has Likely Allowed For Meaningful Gross Margin
Expansion
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301.  On September 30, 2022, Reuters published an article titled “BUZZ-Charles River
jumps after Jefferies raises to ‘buy’ on lab monkey shortfall,” that stated:

** Shares of contract research firm Charles River Laboratories International Inc
rise ~8% to $205.30 after Jefferies upgrades rating to “buy” from “hold”

** Brokerage also raises PT by $10 to $240; believes China’s halt on non-human
primate (NHP) exports is driving prices higher in co’s clinical trial business; fears
scarce supply may not abate

P. Charles River’s Financial Results for Third Quarter 2022

302. On November 2, 2022, the Company disclosed its financial results for the quarter
ended September 24, 2022 and Defendant Foster caused the Company to issue a press release that
was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K (“Nov. 2, 2022 Press Release™). Also on November 2, 2022,
Defendant Foster caused the Company to file its Form 10-Q with the SEC for the quarter ended
September 24, 2022 (“Q3 2022 10-Q”), which was signed by Defendant Foster.

303. The Nov. 2, 2022 Press Release reported that DSA segment revenue and operating
margin increased “primarily driven by broad-based growth in the Safety Assessment business,
resulting from meaningful price increases and substantially higher study volume . . ..” Similarly
the Q3 2022 10-Q reported that DSA segment revenue and operating margin increased “due

primarily to service revenue which increased in both the Safety Assessment and Discovery
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b

Services businesses due principally to increased demand and pricing of services . . . .’

304. Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by him, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, for the reasons set forth in Paragraph 192.

305. The Q3 2022 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factor in the 2021 10-K
delineated in Paragraph 262 concerning Charles River’s supply chain.

306. Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by him, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 146.

307. The Q3 2021 10-Q incorporated by reference the risk factors in the 2020 10-K
delineated in Paragraph 264 concerning Charles River’s compliance with U.S. law and standards
set by CITES and the USFWS.

308. Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by him, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 150.

309. On November 2, 2022, during a Charles River conference call with analysts and
investors attended by Defendant Foster, and Flavia Pease, the Company’s CFO (“Pease”), Pease
stated the following concerning the increased price for long-tailed macaques:

David Howard Windley - Jefferies LLC, Research Division - MD & Equity

Analyst: . . . I did want to follow up on your comments around pricing and

complexity. You did include some comments around pass-throughs in the deck
today, which I think is the first time you’ve done that, maybe that might be my
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fault. I guess I’d love for you to comment on that because, obviously, we do think
that the pricing of some of the inputs to some of your studies has gone up just
massively.

And I guess the part that I wouldn’t quite be able to follow is if you are treating
those as pass-throughs, those would have a very dampening effect on your margin
and we’re not seeing that. And so maybe you could -- I know you’re not going to
get into great detail, but maybe help us understand the mechanics of that just a little
bit?

Pease: So Dave, you’re correct that some costs have increased, and we are passing
those increased costs to clients and keeping the same level of margin that we have
whole. So they’re neither dilutive or accretive to margin, if that makes sense.

310. On November 2, 2022, Jefferies issued a research report concerning the pricing for
“inputs” in Charles River’s animal studies in the Company’s DSA segment:

For the first time, mgt noted passthrough costs present in DSA which are most
likely for NHPs. Given the dramatic escalation in NHP sourcing prices (CRL
sources from breeding farms outside the US), treating those as pass-throughs would
put significant pressure on GM% and OM%, which is not happening. OM% for
DSA was above expectations. Thus, we continue to believe that NHPs are
driving significant price, either by marking up the NHP directly or driving
higher mark-up on other study costs (labor, facilities, lab sciences, etc.). Also,
competitors who must source NHPs from outside NHP importers (like NOTV)
[Inotiv] are pricing under CRL on NHP studies. . . .

As noted above, we find the callout of seemingly margin dilutive pass-throughs

interesting considering OM% of 26.2% was the best ever and EBITDA grew +26%

YoY on +17% revenue growth. We are indifferent as to whether the margin is

assigned to animal models, labor, the facility, or otherwise.

311.  Also on November 2, 2022, Evercore ISI published a report on Charles River that
stated the following, including a report on a follow-up call with Charles River management, which
included Defendant Foster:

Notes from the Top — Follow-Up Call with CRL Management . . . .

Do you expect passthrough NHP pricing to remain elevated for the next year
or so? How long are you anticipating this impact to last?

Management did not comment given the difficult in predicting. Management is
therefore focused on ensuring they have the adequate supply for clients and
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capacity to support growing demand.

312. Defendants Charles River and Foster’s representations that were repeated by
Evercore were materially false and misleading at the time they were made, and they failed to
disclose material facts that they had a duty to disclose in order to make the statements made by
them, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, for the reasons
delineated in Paragraph 162, and because they failed to disclose that the Company’s supply of
long-tailed macaques from KF Cambodia had already been materially interrupted as a result of the
USFWS’s ongoing criminal investigation.

313. On November 3, 2022, Jefferies published a report concerning Charles River that
stated the following:

More Detailed Discussion of NHP Impact

Our previous “vertically integrated” illustration showed the impact of CRL

importing NHPs (assume into RMS), adding a mark-up at that level, supplying to

DSA, and adding a markup to the toxicology study customer at that level as well.

Where that profit landed, depended on the transfer price between RMS and DSA.

* Import price + distribution (RMS markup) + DSA study costs (DSA markup) . . .

NHPs drove approaching 4% more revenue growth vs 2Q, on-top of what they were

contributing in 2Q. Mgt also indicated that CRL is building inventory of these

models, which we think is wise, given their scarcity. That also allows them to

lock clients in to NHP studies while protecting themselves (maybe even

advantaging themselves) relative to the rapidly rising prices of these animals. . . .

In an environment where studies are booked further in the future, that dynamic

protects NHP study providers from getting squeezed on the NHP inflation . . . and
could potentially create baked in tailwind to pricing.

Q. The DOJ Indictment of Charles River’s Suppliers

314. On November 16, 2022, the Indictment was unsealed in which two Cambodian
government officials responsible for implementation and oversight of CITES, and six executives

of the Vanny Group were charged with taking part in a smuggling scheme involving long-tailed
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macaques.

315. The indictment identifies two unnamed co-conspirators, a Florida company with its
principal place of business in the Southern District of Florida that is engaged in the importation
and sale of NHPs, including long-tailed macaques, and a Texas company with its principal place
of business in Alice, Texas.

316. The unnamed co-conspirators are Worldwide Primates in Miami, Florida, and
Inotiv or its subsidiaries Orient BioResource and Envigo, in Alice, Texas.

317. The action is captioned U.S. v. Omaliss Keo, et al., 22cr20240 and is pending in
U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida. According to a DOJ press release, dated
November 16, 2022:

Members of an international primate smuggling ring have been charged with
multiple felonies for their role in bringing wild long-tailed macaques into the
United States.

The eight-count indictment charges two officials of the Cambodian Forestry
Administration, Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries; the owner/founder
of a major primate supply organization and its general manager; and four of its
employees with smuggling and conspiracy to violate the Lacey Act and the
Endangered Species Act. The defendants facing these felony charges are:

e Omaliss Keo, 58, of Phnom Penh, Cambodia, Director General of the
Cambodian Forestry Administration, Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Fisheries

e Masphal Kry, 46, of Phnom Penh, Cambodia, Deputy Director of the
Department of Wildlife and Biodiversity for the Cambodian Forestry
Administration, Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries

e James Man Sang Lau, 64, of Hong Kong, Founder/Owner Vanny Resources
Holdings, Ltd., and Vanny Bio Research (Cambodia) Corporation Ltd.?!

e Dickson Lau, 29, of Hong Kong, General Manager Vanny Resources Holdings
Ltd.

e  Sunny Chan, a resident of Hong Kong, Deputy General Manager (Operations)

21 Mr. Lau, as noted above, is affiliated with Vanny Chain Tech, which is a joint venture partner with the government
of Vietnam in Nafovanny.

&9



Case 1:23-cv-11132-DJC Document 36 Filed 11/14/23 Page 95 of 166

at Vanny Group

e Raphael Cheung Man, 71, of Phnom Penh, Cambodia, Public Relations and
Export Manager for Vanny Bio Research (Cambodia) Corporation Ltd.

e  Sarah Yeung, a Hong Kong resident and Finance Officer of Vanny Group

e Hing Ip Chung, 61, of Phnom Penh, Cambodia, General Manager of Vanny
Bio Research (Cambodia) Corporation Ltd.

If convicted, each defendant faces up to 5 years in prison on the charge of
conspiracy in count 1 and up to 20 years imprisonment on each of the
smuggling charges in counts 2 through 8. There also are potential fines with
respect to each count of up to $250,000 or twice the financial gain to the
defendants.

318. The Indictment alleges that Mr. Lau and Dickson Lau, operating from Hong Kong,
owned and managed a series of related corporations (Vanny Group) that conspired with black
market collectors and corrupt officials in Cambodia to acquire wild-caught macaques and launder
them through the Cambodian entities for export to the U.S. and elsewhere, falsely labelled as
captive bred.

319. In order to make up for a shortage of suitable monkeys at the putative breeding
facilities in Cambodia, the co-conspirators enlisted the assistance of the CITES authority in
Cambodia and the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (MAFF) to deliver wild-caught
macaques taken from national parks and protected areas in Cambodia. These macaques were taken
to breeding facilities and provided false CITES export permits. A collection quota of 3,000
“unofficial” monkeys was allowed, for which MAFF officials received cash payments.

320. The conspiracy charge of the indictment lists 31 representative “overt acts”
undertaken by one or more of the co-conspirators in their efforts to carry out their criminal
enterprise. These include meetings, financial transactions, shipments of hundreds of macaques—
wild caught mixed in with captive bred—to locations in Florida (Worldwide Primates) and Texas

(Inotiv) under false documents. Wild long-tailed macaques also were said to have been delivered
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by defendant Kry and other employees of MAFF to a facility in Pursat, Cambodia.

321. Between December 2017 and September 2022, Kry is alleged to have taken part in
conversations regarding the pricing for wild macaques to be captured and delivered to monkey
breeding facilities operated by the co-conspirators. Kry, who participated personally in delivering
these “unofficial” macaques to the facilities, including Vanny Cambodia, also was provided
payments for the illegal monkeys from the co-conspirators.

322. The Indictment alleges, in part, the following:

4. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators established
facilities in Cambodia purporting to breed long-tailed macaques for sale on the
world market.

5. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators engaged with
customers in the United States and elsewhere and entered into contractual
agreements to sell and export purportedly captive-bred macaques from Cambodia
to the United States.

6. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators established a
logistics system to allow buyers to inspect macaques prior to sale, including through
the use of veterinarians, to test the monkeys for disqualifying conditions, quarantine
shipments prior to export, and arrange the necessary ground and air transportation
to facilitate the transactions.

7. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators arranged to
illegally purchase additional long-tailed macaques from black market suppliers in
Cambodia and Thailand to make up for the lack of supply of suitable monkeys at
their purported breeding operations. The blackmarket suppliers, including MAFF,
identified in Vanny HK and VBRC records through the use of the letters A, B, C,
D, E, F, G, H, K, P, and X, would primarily deliver the illegally acquired monkeys
to the VBRC facility at Pursat.

8. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators utilized the
services of MAFF and its employees to further the purpose and objects of the
conspiracy, and:

a. To secure CITES export permits which falsely identified wild-
caught macaques as captive bred in the VBRC facilities;

b. To act as the source, under the designation of Black Market Supply
“A,” of wild-caught macaques from National Parks and protected
areas which MAFF employees delivered to VBRC for later sale and
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export;

c. To provide Transport Permits which allowed macaques unsuitable
for the export trade to be sent from the Pursat facility to the Phnom
Penh facility where they were euthanized and their identification
tags transferred to wild-caught macaques to make it appear the
black-market monkeys were captive bred at VBRC facilities;

d. To provide unofficial collection quotas, for which cash payments to
MAFF were authorized at Vanny HK and made by VBRC
employees.

9. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators delivered and

caused the delivery of wild-caught long-tailed macaques to various
international airports in the United States, accompanied by Cambodian
CITES Permits and FWS Form 3-177s falsely identifying the monkeys as
captive bred.

10. Upon entry into the United States, the long-tailed macaque
shipments would be forwarded by truck from the port of entry to a
quarantine facility designated by the importers/consignees, who were
located in various states, including the Southern District of Florida.

323.  On November 16, 2022, Charles River shares declined from a closing price on
November 15, 2022 of $250.07 per share, to close at $239.39 per share, a decline of $10.68 per
share or approximately 4.3% on heavier than usual volume.

324.  On November 17, 2022, Inotiv filed a report with the SEC on Form 8-K that stated
the Indictment has “criminally charged employees of the Company’s principal supplier of non-
human primates (“NHPs”), along with two Cambodian officials, with conspiring to illegally
import NHPs into the United States from December 2017 through January 2022 and in connection
with seven specific imports between July 2018 and December 2021.” (Emphasis added).

325. At the time, investors were unaware that Inotiv was a material supplier of
Cambodian long-tailed macaques to Charles River. Indeed, analysts concluded that Charles River
had no exposure to Vanny Cambodia or Inotiv and in fact could benefit from a further restriction

of the supply of long-tailed macaques. On November 29, 2022, Wells Fargo issued a research
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report concerning Charles River that stated “pre-clinical CROs with secure supply, such as CRL
who has no direct or indirect exposure to the supplier in question, could stand to benefit from
share gains as well as increased pricing power as a result of potential price elasticity leaking into
the small animal model market (CRL does not breed/sell NHPs, only small animal models)
supported by the FDA’s 1Q22 guidance update effectively increasing the fungibility of large
animal models for small animal models in-lieu of NHP shortages . . ..” (Emphasis added).

R. Charles River and Defendant Foster’s False and Misleading Statements
in Response to the Indictment

326. On November 30, 2020, Charles River filed a report with the SEC on Form 8-K
that stated the following in advance of Defendant Foster’s representations at the Evercore ISI
5th Annual HealthCONx Conference:

a. Charles River was not named or referenced in the DOJ proceedings, and the
Company does not have any direct supply contracts with the
indicted Cambodian supplier.

b. Charles River has global supply sources, including other sources in
Cambodia, which is the primary country of origin of NHP imports to the United
States and to Charles River. However, in light of the indictment, and subsequent
statements made by the Cambodia government, Charles River is operating under
the expectation that for some time period supply of Cambodia-sourced NHPs will
be difficult to obtain in the United States; and

c. The Company is diligently working to mitigate any Cambodia NHP supply
impact with ongoing efforts to procure NHPs under different supply arrangements
and from other global sources.

327. During the Evercore ISI 5th Annual HealthCONx Conference, Defendant Foster
made the following statements:

Elizabeth Hammell Anderson Evercore ISI Institutional Equities, Research
Division - MD & Fundamental Research Analyst: I know this has become a hot
topic this fall, but can you sort of provide us an update with supply situation given
recent developments, there’s been a lot of speculation and whatnot. So how does
that -- what's the lay of the land right now on that?

Defendant Foster: So very complex. NHP situation is always complex. It’s a very
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fluid situation, and NHPs have been an increasingly higher demand over time as
biologics have exploded and that’s kind of the model of choice for testing biologics.
And during recent times, we’ve seen analysts and media reports talk about pricing
and supply chain. And most recently, there’s been an indictment of one of the
Cambodian NHP suppliers.

So we get a bunch of our NHPs from Cambodia. Charles River was named or
referenced and these proceedings that charge the Cambodian supplier, there were
also a couple of Cambodian officials that were named in this indictment, and we
don’t have any direct contacts with that supplier either. So the supplier runs
[afoul] of the sort of transportation and shipping laws with the Department of
Justice and they pulled back. So we have -- as we’ve talked about a lot, we worked
arduously for the last few years, in particular, to have additional supply sources,
which we have.

We have multiple supply sources and multiple suppliers in individual countries,
including Cambodia, but Cambodia is still the primary country of origin of most of
the imports into the U.S. and into Charles River. But in light of this indictment and
subsequent statements made by the Cambodian government, we anticipate that for
some period of time, there’s going to be some disruption and difficulty in getting
NHPs into the U.S. That is speculation. We have no idea how pronounced that will
be, how long it will be.

And as I said, it’s totally fluid. Obviously, we’re working really hard to mitigate
any potential adverse impact with other supply sources with our current
supplier in Cambodia, with government, et cetera. So we’re all over this to
enhance and improve our supply arrangements. And I guess the last thing I would
say is we work really hard with our supplier due diligence in terms of their
management practices, veterinary practices, shipping practices, husbandry
practices to ensure the quality of the supplier relationships and to ensure that what
we do is fully compliant with U.S. and international regulations.

So really complex [] situation at the moment, more complex by the fact that one of
the big suppliers from Cambodia, who’s not a supplier of ours is unable to
ship. So that’s going to hurt some folks. And we have a little bit of a dialogue
from government officials who were displeased with the action taken by the DOJ
with regard to one of the Cambodian suppliers. They were, I think, defensive and a
bit reverent about the U.S. government saying that things aren’t being done well
that there’s — we’re concerned about some pushback by the government. So we
don’t know that for a fact, but watching it closely. So I would say that the complex
NHP situation at the moment is more complex, but we’re confident that we will
work through as well.

Elizabeth Hammell Anderson Evercore ISI Institutional Equities, Research
Division - MD & Fundamental Research Analyst: Got it. And then when do you
sort of see like from a COVID perspective, like obviously, there’s been changing
in the supply arrangement. When do you see that supply constraint kind of easing?
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Is that like a -- like a cross 2023 event? Is that more of a 2024 event in terms of
supply increases in that market?

Defendant Foster: Tough to say. I would say as a general proposition, we have
had a sufficiency of supply for ‘22. And directionally, have had — have developed
sufficient supply for the next fiscal year, subject to our now concern that the
government of Cambodia could be problematic. So I think that we have and will
continue to do a really positive job in staying close to our suppliers, increasing our
relationships with our suppliers both contractually and otherwise, we have some
joint ventures. We have the elongation of contracts. We have new geographies.

COVID made it a little bit difficult for us to go and inspect all of these facilities.
Facility that we work with in Cambodia is extremely high quality one, all the
ones that we work with are high quality ones. So we'll keep up that oversight and
our intention, obviously, is to work really hard. So we don’t have any disruption of
supply for ourselves and obviously for our clients. . .

Elizabeth Hammell Anderson Evercore ISI Institutional Equities, Research
Division - MD & Fundamental Research Analyst: . . . Is there anything you can
say on either one, the percentage of revenues from NHPs and then -- or maybe like
the percent of NHP supply that comes from Cambodia and sort of like -- can you
replace all of that? Can you replace most of it? Is that like a work in progress? Is
there anything else you can say on that front?

Defendant Foster: Sure. Without being too granular, it’s a -- the majority of the
animals that come for everyone, including us at the moment from Cambodia. So
it’s a central supply source. And just a quick history for people that don’t recall,
most of the monkeys used to come from China, who stopped shipping them a couple
of years ago to keep them in China for their own benefit. So we all pivoted to
Cambodia where the quality is actually good, and the genetics is similar and the
health status is good and the numbers are good. So -- and we have a really good
supplier over there and a good relationship and a big supply contract.

So if we don’t have undue government -- Cambodian government intrusion and
preventing that from happening, it's possible we’ll be fine. This is just -- and
obviously, we have other sources of supply, some of which we’ve had for years,
some of which are new, some of which are more nascent than others and kind of
the background data on the animal models is not quite as well known, but I do think
that both we and our clients will be comfortable using whatever models are
available because we don’t want to just have a chilling effect on drug development.

So — it’s -- this whole thing is so new, the sort of allegations on the supplier in
Cambodia was sort of dramatic. It’s not a supplier of ours. It’s not directed to
us. . . . So has no real short-term impact. We'll do everything we can to reduce the
impact, obviously, on our clients.

328.  On this news, Charles River’s shares declined from $239.50 per share at the close
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of trading on November 29, 2022, to trade as low as $210.36 per share during trading on November
30, 2022, or by over 12%, and closed at $228.57 per share on November 30, 2022, a decline of
$10.93 per share or 4.6%, on heavier than usual trading volume.

329. Analysts attributed the stock price decline to the potential impact on Charles
River’s financial results from the loss of supply of long-tailed macaques from Cambodia. For
example, on November 30, 2022, UBS issued a research report concerning Charles River that
based on Foster’s statements “we believe the impact of this news to be modest, but note that the
Discovery and Safety Assessment (DSA) business performs a wide variety of studies, some of
which require NHPs. . . we believe the issues to be temporary and note that the company is already
working to obtain supply from alternative sources.”

330. Also on November 30, 2020, Stephens issued a research report concerning Charles
River that stated the following:

this is new news to ourselves and the Company . . . CRL does not have any direct

supply contracts with the indicated Cambodian supplier. However, CRL did

suggest there could be an impact on the export of these models out of Cambodia in

the near-term (CRL’s largest NHP supplier is located in Cambodia).

Some Context. . . . If we assume NHPs generate $40 thousand - $60 thousand of

revenue/animal, this would imply $545 mil. - $818 mil. of revenue from NHPs in

FY22. This would represent ~28% of DSA revenue or ~17% of FY22 revenue.

* CRL said today the majority of their (and the industry’s) NHPs come from
Cambodia after China stopped exporting in recent years. . . .

* CRL does not believe this will impact near-term results, but it could impact their
FY23 outlook.

331. However, on November 30, 2022, Defendants Charles River and Foster’s false and
misleading statements concerning Charles River’s suppliers in Cambodia maintained the artificial
inflation in the price of Charles River’s common stock. While Defendant Foster represented that

Charles River does not have any “direct supply contracts” with the specific Vanny Group company
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whose executives were indicted (Vanny Cambodia), this representation was materially false and
misleading because Charles River and Foster failed to disclose Charles River had obtained long-
tailed macaques from the Vanny Group through the unnamed co-conspirators in the Indictment,
Worldwide Primates and Inotiv through Envigo and Orient BioResource. Furthermore, while
Charles River and Foster represented that the Company did not have “direct” supply contracts with
Vanny Cambodia whose executives were indicted, Charles River had and continued to directly
acquire live long-tailed macaques or animal specimen from other companies within the Vanny
Group, namely Nafovanny and KHI. Moreover, Defendant Foster’s statement that the Indictment
was “not related to us,” failed to disclose that in September 2022 the USFWS had already refused
or rejected Charles River’s import of long-tailed macaques from its direct supplier, KF Cambodia,
in connection with its ongoing criminal investigation and, like Vanny, KF Cambodia was unable
to export to the U.S.

332. On December 12, 2022, Inotiv filed a report with the SEC on Form 8-K and issued
a press release that stated “[t]he Company is proactively discussing these matters with its NHP
customers,” which includes Charles River because it purchased long-tailed macaques from Inotiv
or its subsidiaries Envigo and Orient Bioresource throughout the Class Period and as recently as
on or around November 7, 2022. Inotiv further stated:

Since learning of the issues related to the Supplier, the Company has been focused

on attempting to obtain additional information, assessing the impact on its NHP

sale activities, communicating with its customers . . .

The Company has not been directed to refrain from selling the Cambodian NHPs

in its possession in the U.S. However, due to the allegations contained in the

indictment involving the Supplier and the Cambodian Government officials, the

Company believes that it is prudent, at the present time, to refrain from selling or

delivering any of its Cambodian NHPs held in the U.S. until the Company’s staff

and external experts can evaluate what additionally can be done to satisfy itself that

the NHPs in inventory from Cambodia can be reasonably determined to be purpose-
bred. . ..
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We have been informed that Cambodia has currently ceased any exports of NHPs,
and therefore we are not currently importing any NHPs from Cambodia. We do not
know when or if they intend to resume allowing shipments or when and if the U.S.
Fish and Wildlife Service will allow shipments. . . .

333. Also on December 12, 2022, Evercore ISI issued a research report concerning
Charles River that stated:

What Happened?: This morning, Inotiv (NOTV) reported preliminary 4Q’22
revenues and a delay to their earnings call. . . . Cambodia has thus ceased any
exports of NHPs. CRL also sources a portion of their NHPs from Cambodia,
though they previously had no relationship with NOTV’s supplier. It is
currently unclear when Cambodia will resume shipments or if the US Fish and
Wildlife Service will allow shipments.

Our Take: . . . To size the potential impact on CRL, the USDA noted that CRL
used ~17,105 NHPs in 2021. Given pricing of $20-25k/NHP, we see CRL’s total
revenue from NHPs in 2021 as ~§350-$450 MM or ~$450-$500 MM in 2022.
Given the timing for 2022, we see this disruption as minimally impactful for the
current year. For 2023 and beyond, there are many moving pieces, with the biggest
swing factors being the potential re-opening of Cambodia exports (and timing) as
well as the potential for additional supply from other geographies and further price
increases. If CRL is unable to source additional NHPs and does not raise price
further (unlikely), we see the full-year potential impact of the Cambodian embargo
at ~$200 MM in 2023 (again, an extreme analysis) — with a more likely impact
being ~$100 MM or less (price rises + relaxing embargo at some point in 2023).
Given the recent 10% pullback in CRL’s stock, we see the magnitude of this impact
as already priced in pending additional updates of the situation.

334.  On December 15, 2022, UBS published a research report that, in response to
Charles River’s statements on November 30, 2022, stated that “[w]e think CRL would be in a
positive position relative to peers in case of a[n] export ban from Cambodia, due to its alternatives
sources and could potentially leverage further price increases due to the shortages.”

335. On December 17, 2022, NBC News published an article titled “How the race for a
Covid vaccine enriched monkey poachers and endangered macaques” that stated:

The smuggling of monkeys caught in the wild is believed to have been going on for

years due to the colossal demand for laboratory monkeys in the U.S. and the limited
supply at breeding facilities at home and abroad. The arrival of the pandemic and
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the race to find a Covid vaccine squeezed the market even further, experts say,
setting off a mad scramble for the animals that fueled a spike in monkey poaching
and contributed to the endangerment of the species most commonly used in drug
studies — the long-tailed macaque. . . .

With the demand soaring, the price of monkeys skyrocketed. A single long-tailed
macaque could fetch $40,000 at the height of the pandemic — up from $3,000 just
a couple of years earlier. . . .

With China out of the game, countries such as Mauritius and Cambodia stepped in.

. It wasn’t long before conservationists began noticing an increase in reports of
monkeys being pulled out of the wild by poachers in Southeast Asia lured by the
huge profits at stake.

Cambodia has faced accusations of “monkey laundering” for a number of years
now. In 2015, a research arm of CITES called the Species Survival
Network submitted a document to the convention that said field investigations in
Cambodia found that long-tailed macaques were being trapped without permits in
two provinces and transferred to breeding farms.

“To avoid detection by the authorities, the animals were reportedly brought into the
farms during the night, hidden under packs of ice in vehicles which had been
adapted to hold cages,” the document says.

The Fish and Wildlife Service has been concerned about the industry for years,
former agents told NBC News . . . . Two unidentified companies in the U.S. -- one
in Florida and one in Alice, Texas -- imported hundreds of the wild-caught
monkeys, according to the indictment, which referred to the companies as
unindicted co-conspirators.

The tiny town of Alice was the home of Orient BioResource Center, the company

where Tucker was a vice president when he was charged with lying to federal

agents. . . ..

336. OnJanuary 10, 2023, during a conference call with investors and analysts in which
Defendant Foster participated on behalf of Charles River, Defendant Foster made the following
statements:

Casey Rene Woodring - JPMorgan Chase & Co, Research Division - Research

Analyst: Jim, just to start, want to dig into the NHP situation. So you previously

stated that more than 50% of your NHP supply comes from Cambodia. And there’s

been estimates out there around the percentage of DSA revenue tied to NHPs as
high as 50%. Can you maybe just walk through what your NHP revenue exposure
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is? And by how much mitigation measures around supplier diversification could
limit the impact of a complete Cambodian supply shutdown, if that were to occur?

Defendant Foster: Yes. So I’'m not going to unpack it. Can you hear me? I’m not
going to unpack it -- that finally. It’s a fluid situation. It’s a really critical model for
all large molecule work, including cell and gene therapy. We have a multiplicity
of supply arrangements with several countries and several players within those
countries. We had -- I think we did a really good job ensuring a sufficient
supply in ‘21 and “22. We intend to do everything we can to have a sufficient
supply in ‘23. And we’ll go really deep on the details. I'm still not sure if we’ll go
that deep. But we’ll go really deep on the details when we give our guidance in
February.

337. Defendant Foster’s representations were materially false and misleading at the time
they were made, and he failed to disclose material facts that he had a duty to disclose in order to
make the statements made by him, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, for the reasons delineated in Paragraph 237 and 177.

S. Jefferies January 12, 2023 Report Links Charles River’s Supply of
Long-Tailed Macaques to Vanny Cambodia

338.  On January 12, 2023, Jefferies published a research report titled “Sponsor Survey;
CRL to Hold on Weak Early Dev and NHP Risks,” that following up on its September 29, 2022
report, stated:

Our previous NHP supply chain work concluded CRL’s NHP tox business was in
a privileged position and controlled its own destiny.

The indictment of Vanny and other Cambodian officials alters that viewpoint
as we estimate ~24% of CRL’s U.S. NHP usage relies on Vanny supply (likely
through an indirect relationship), a perspective underappreciated by investors.
Immediately finding new supply in an undersupplied market seems unlikely,
putting at risk a high growth contributor. . .

After further investigation we believe CRL received 20%+ of its NHP supply from
Vanny in *21 and ’22, through an indirect relationship . . . .

CRL issued in a statement that, “the Company [CRL] does not have any direct
supply contracts with the indicted Cambodian supplier [Vanny]”. However, data
suggests that other Cambodian suppliers do not export enough animals to fill the
50% of total NHPs that CRL gets from Cambodia. . ..
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From public data sources, we know that the number of NHPs exported to the U.S.
from Cambodia has hovered around 19,000/year. In our channel checks, we were
told that Vanny supplied between 40-50% range of total US NHPs. This was
supported by a tweet from the head of Cambodia’s Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry
and Fisheries (MAFF), Dith Tina. According to Mr. Tina, Vanny has exported an
average of ~13,500 HNPs annually into the U.S. over the last 3 years which
coincides with the 40-50% range of U.S. supply we hear from industry contacts.
That would leave the number of Cambodian NHPs from non-Vanny sources at
~4,000/year over the last 2 years.

We then compared non-Vanny exports to CRL imports. CRL uses ~17,000 NHPs
in U.S. tox studies each year. Allowing for some double-counting in certain types
of studies (per CRL), the 4,000 does not come close to the 50%+ from Cambodia
of CRL total imports (17,000 — minus the double-counted). . . . which would suggest
that CRL is getting 3,500+ NHPs from an intermediate supplier than does source
from Vanny.

Industry conversations have backed our analysis on CRL’s NHP suppliers . . . .

Exhibit 4 - CRL Likely Getting Some NHPs from Vanny

2020 2021 2022TD Source:
(1) Cambodian Exports to US 19,751 18,586 17,278 Public Data
(2) Vanny Exports to US 12978 14684 13102 Dith Tina Tweet
(3) Cambodian Exports, Non-Vanny 6,773 3,902 4176 (1)-(2)
(4) CRL NHP Usage (US only) 15,769 17,105 15,675 Public Dato
(5) CRL Reused 2057 2231 2045 Reuse rate: 15%
(6) CRL Imports 13,712 14,874 13,630 (4)-(5)
(7) CRL Cambodian Imports 7,542 8,181 7497 (6)*55% % CRL Imports from

Cambodia: 55%
(8) CRL Imports from Vanny 769 4279 3321 (3-7)

efferes

339.  On January 12, 2023, Charles River’s stock declined from a close on January 11,

2023 of $246.94 per share to close at $232.25 per share, a decline of $14.69 per share, or

approximately 6% on heavier than usual trading volume.

340. On February 15, 2023, Defendant Foster sold 20,000 shares of Charles River

common stock for proceeds of over $5 million. On February 16, 2023, Girshick, the Company’s
Chief Operating Officer who oversaw the Company Research Models and Services segment,
which acquired long-tailed macaques, and Parisotto, Executive VP Discovery and Safety
Assessment, who oversaw the Company’s Safety Assessment studies for which long-tailed

macaques were essential, sold Charles River stock for net proceeds of $464,875 and $661,247,
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respectively.

341. On February 22, 2023, before the market opened, the Company issued a press
release titled “Charles River Laboratories Announces Fourth-Quarter and Full-Year 2022 Results
and Provides 2023 Guidance” in which the following statements were made:

James C. Foster, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, said, . . . “2023

presents challenges with respect to NHP supply that we will proactively manage . .

U.S. Department of Justice Investigation into Non-Human Primate Supply
Chain

On February 17th, the Company received a subpoena from the U.S. Department of
Justice relating to an investigation into the Cambodian non-human primate (NHP)
supply chain. The Company has been informed that this investigation relates
specifically to several shipments of NHPs received by Charles River from its
Cambodian supplier. Charles River intends to fully cooperate with the U.S.
government as part of their investigation. Due to ongoing investigations and the
heightened focus on the Cambodian NHP supply chain in recent months, Charles
River has voluntarily suspended NHP shipments from Cambodia at this time.

2023 Guidance

The Company is providing financial guidance for 2023. The 2023 revenue growth
outlook reflects the impact of NHP supply constraints, which is expected to reduce
our consolidated revenue growth forecast by approximately 200 to 400 basis points
this year. This will pressure the DSA segment’s revenue growth rate in 2023 . . . .

Earnings per share in 2023 will be affected by the impact of NHP supply
constraints. . . .

(Emphasis added).

342.  Also on February 22, 2023, following the issuance of the press release and before
the market opened, Charles River hosted a conference call with investors and analysts in which
Defendant Foster participated. The following statements were made during the conference call:

Defendant Foster: I want to provide an update on the nonhuman primate or NHP

supply situation. As many of you are aware, there has been an ongoing industry-
wide investigation into NHP imports from Cambodia.
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On February 17, we received a subpoena from the U.S. Department of Justice
related to an investigation into the Cambodian NHP supply chain. We have been
informed this investigation relates specifically to shipments of NHPs received
by Charles River from our Cambodian supplier. . . .

Based on ongoing investigations and a heightened focus on the Cambodia NHP
supply chain, in recent months, we have voluntarily suspended planned future
shipments of Cambodian NHPs until such time that we and the U.S. Fish and
Wildlife Service can develop and implement new procedures to reinforce
confidence that the NHPs we import from Cambodia are purpose-bred. This
will take time to implement and the duration of which is unknown.

The investigation in current NHP supply situation will result in study delays
in our Safety Assessment business. By way of background, NHPs are the most
scientifically relevant large model for the regulatory required safety testing of
biologic drugs as mandated by the FDA and other international regulatory agencies.

Biologic drugs cannot be approved for commercial use without NHPs. And given
the proliferation of biologic drug development activity in recent years, NHPs have
been in high demand. . . . In recent years, NHPs sourced from Cambodia have been
responsible for approximately 60% of the NHPs supplied to the United States and
to Charles River for drug research and development. While there is no other near-
term global source to replace this supply, we are continuing to actively work to
diversify our NHP supply chain. . . .

The current Cambodian NHP supply constraints and the corresponding impact to
our Safety Assessment business are expected to reduce our consolidated revenue
growth forecast by approximately 200 to 400 basis points this year, resulting in
organic revenue growth guidance of 4.5% to 7.5% for the total company.

The non-GA AP earnings per share are expected to be in a range of $9.70 to $10.90
in 2023 with the wider ranges encompassing a number of scenarios related to the
timing of the resumption of Cambodian NHP imports this year. . . .

kksk

CFO Pease: Our 2023 guidance ranges reflect multiple scenarios with regards to
the estimated impact from the NHP supply constraint, as [Defendant Foster]
outlined, the impact of which is expected to result in reported revenue growth of
1.5% to 4.5% and organic revenue growth of 4.5% to 7.5% in 2023. . . As a
reminder, the Cambodian NHP supply situation does not have an impact on our
RMS segment as these large models are sourced and used to support our Safety
Assessment operation.

For the DSA segment, we expect the organic growth rate will be between low to

mid-single digits based on our NHP supply assumptions around the timing of the
resumption of imports. . . .
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For the operating margin, we would have expected to generate moderate margin
improvement in 2023 without an NHP supply impact. But given this meaningful
headwind, we expect the 2023 operating margin to be flat to down 150 basis points
depending on the timing of the resumption of Cambodia NHP shipment. . . .

(Emphasis added).

343.

During the question and answer segment of the conference call, an analyst asked

Defendant Foster about the impact of the criminal and civil investigations on the Company’s

customers, to which Defendant Foster stated:

Defendant Foster: . . . with regard to Cambodia, where 60% of the animals come
from, we are all at least temporarily foreclosed from bringing new animals in and
utilizing them on studies in the United States. . . .

So we are -- our focus now is to work with [USFWS] to come up with a
collaborative methodology that they’re in agreement with, and we can execute to
show parentage, which is sort of the underlying issue here. . . They’re saying that
they’re concerned about parentage. . . .

ks

Daniel Louis Leonard - Crédit Suisse AG, Research Division - Research
Analyst: And if I could ask a quick follow-up, can you help me better understand
the complexity of showing parentage for NHPs? Presumably, this isn’t just a
23andMe test. It’s more complicated than that, but I’d love to be able to better
understand that?

Defendant Foster: Yes. It’s -- [ don’t think it’s all that complicated. You just —
you’re proving genetics. And there are also sort of genetic assays that are available.

344.  Furthermore, Defendant Foster confirmed that USFWS blocked the use of long-

tailed macaques from KF Cambodia until the Company could confirm that the animals were legally

sourced:

Defendant Foster: ... Subpoena is relatively recent, Eric. And we’re a subject
here, meaning that they want to get information from us. Just to back up, you know
that another Cambodian supplier was indicted in November, and that’s not
somebody that we work with. And [we think] a couple of our competitors [] work
with, and that started the whole questioning and to prove through the methodology.
And so they are now looking at all of the suppliers in Cambodia, one of whom we
get our monkeys from. . . .
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skokok

Defendant Foster: . . . The U.S. government is saying, you can’t bring them in yet.
And the ones that you have in country, and we have some in country, you can’t use
yet until we sort of work out and ensure that they are indeed purpose-bred. . . .

345. Also on February 22, 2023, before the market opened, Defendant Foster caused
Charles River to file the 2022 10-K with the SEC, which was signed by Defendant Foster. The
2022 10-K stated the following:

in November 2022 the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) announced that a
Cambodia supplier of non-human primates and two Cambodian officials had been
criminally charged in connection with illegally importing non-human primates into
the United States. While the Company was not named or referenced in the
November 2022 proceedings, the Company shortly thereafter announced that
Cambodia was the primary country of origin of non-human primates imports
to Charles River, and that it had begun to operate under the expectation that for
some time period supply of Cambodia-sourced non-human primates (which
according to CDC statistics, account for approximately 60% of supply to the United
States) would be difficult to obtain in the United States. Subsequent to the
Company’s announcement, USFWS denied clearance to certain shipments of non-
human primates the Company had received from Cambodia. . . .

kksk

U.S. Department of Justice Investigation into Non-Human Primate Supply
Chain

On February 16, 2023, we were informed by the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ)
that in conjunction with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), it had
commenced an investigation into our conduct regarding several shipments of non-
human primates from Cambodia. On February 17, 2023 we received a grand jury
subpoena requesting certain documents related to such investigation. We are aware
of a parallel civil investigation being undertaken by the DOJ and USFWS. . . . we
have voluntarily suspended future shipments of non-human primates from
Cambodia until such time that we and USFWS can agree upon and implement
additional procedures to reasonably ensure that non-human primates imported to
the United States from Cambodia are purpose-bred. While these discussions with
USFWS are ongoing, we have also agreed to continue to care for the Cambodia-
sourced non-human primates from certain recent shipments that are now in the
United States. The carrying value of the inventory related to these shipments is
approximately $20 million. . . . .
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(Emphasis added).

346.

On this news, Charles River’s stock price declined from a close on February 21,

2023 of $243.60 per share to close at $219.09 per share at the close of trading on February 22,

2023, a decline of $24.51 per share, or over 10% on unusually heavy trading volume.

347.

On February 23, 2023, Jefferies published a research report titled “4 Key Insights+:

CRL 4Q22” that stated:

The previous view was that the DOJ might be gathering information from industry
players to better inform its previously disclosed case against Vanny and Cambodia
MAFF officials. Now, this is a grand jury investigation and specifically into
CRL conduct. . . .

A frequent investor response in the context of these NHP supply issues has been
“won’t they just find other suppliers/more volume?” In 1Q23, statements by CRL’s
primary competitor that it had secured domestic supply and added more NHP
vendors.

Investors and observers of this situation should keep in mind the parameters.

* These animals generally have one offspring per pregnancy, not a litter. This point
was reinforced on CRL’s call.

* The gestation period is ~6 months.

* The “yield” of research animals annually is ~20% of the breeding stock.

* Multiple mgt teams in this sector have told us that building up an adequate
breeding stock to supply research animals takes years. Mr. Foster called CRL's
previous effort a decade of losses.

* These animals have been in short supply for years, and more specifically since
China stopped exporting. CRL mgt mentioned 2018. We see China imports to the
US going to zero in the US data in 2H20. One should assume that preclinical players
have been exhausting sources of additional supply for a couple of years. This didn’t
just start in the last 6 months.

» Total US imports had averaged 31.6k in ‘18-°19. In 2020, that dropped to 28.9k
with China ceasing exports during the year. However, that recovered to 32.3k in
2021.

» Cambodia increased from ~11.4k US imports in 2019 to 18.6k US imports in
2021. The ex-US volumes are not adequate to explain the difference (e.g., if
Cambodia pivoted a bunch of volume away from ex-US clients to US).

* How did Cambodia ramp to that? Based on the DOJ's actions, the answer
may be . .. illegally.
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We acknowledge the country of origin does matter. What makes the alleged actions
by Vanny illegal is 1) shipping wild-caught animals for research is illegal in
Cambodia. . . . 2) Falsifying the export documents (saying wildcaught NHPs are
captive-bred) is a violation of the Lacey Act. . . .

Long story short, if a player in the NHP market (RMS or DSA) says they’ve
secured thousands more animals from Cambodia, we should be cautious until
either a “parentage” test is successfully developed and scaled or the DOJ is
unsuccessful in its case to show illegal wild-catching of NHPs in Cambodia.

(Emphasis added).

V1. THE END OF THE CLASS PERIOD

348. On March 15, 2023, after the opening of trading, Barclays hosted a conference call
for analysts and investors in which Defendant Foster participated on behalf of Charles River.
During the conference call, Defendant Foster admitted that Charles River had used non-preferred
suppliers of long-tailed macaques from Cambodia:

Defendant Foster: So there are no U.S. breeding sources. There are a couple of
companies that sort of brokers that get animals from wherever. We have used those
folks to some extent historically. I'm trying to be careful picking my words here.
We prefer not to use them. Reputationally, I just don’t think they’re the best
possible people to use. And I don’t actually think they care where the animals
come from or what the background is and they’ve been kind of inappropriate
with pricing. So there are probably -- people say there are, I assume they’re telling
the truth. There are probably animals in country brought in from the outside,
including it could be from Cambodia. It could be from the source that DOJ is
looking at. I don’t know that. We’re just not using them, number one. Number two,
I don’t think it’s large numbers of the [animals]. Number three, I don’t know how
sustainable that is. . . .

(Emphasis added).

349.  On March 15, 2023, Charles River’s stock declined from a closing price on March
14, 2023 of $205.02 per share to close at $194.90 per share, a decline of $10.12 per share
approximately 5% on heavier than usual trading volume.

350. On March 16, 2023, NBC News published an article titled “The fate of 1,000

research monkeys is unclear after government intervention” that reported on the 1,269 long-tailed

107



Case 1:23-cv-11132-DJC Document 36 Filed 11/14/23 Page 113 of 166

macaques Charles River sought to import from KF Cambodia during the Class Period and that
during the Class Period were blocked by the USFWS in connection with its ongoing investigation:

The more than 1,000 long-tailed macaques were imported by Charles River
Laboratories, a research company based in Massachusetts. . . . [A USFWS]
spokesperson said the monkey shipments were refused clearance as a result of an
ongoing investigation . . . . The Justice Department has for years been investigating
whether American companies, including Charles River, were involved in the
smuggling of monkeys poached from the wild and brought to the U.S. with falsified
paperwork. . . . Angela Grimes, the chief executive of Born Free USA, said the
organization was first contacted by Fish and Wildlife in September [2022]. The
agents were looking for a home for 360 monkeys. Fish and Wildlife officials called
by in February and said the number of monkeys had ballooned to 1,200, Grimes
said. . ..

351.  On March 27, 2023, Jefferies published a research report concerning Charles River
that stated “Vanny (#1) and KF (#2) are Cambodia’s largest exporters of NHPs. At [the March
2023 Society of Toxicology meeting in Nashville, Tennessee], [Charles River] mgt confirmed KF
is CRL’s supplier and CRL owns 90% of a related company in China, and reaffirmed it is not
accepting Cambodian NHP shipments globally. Our data suggest Vanny shipped >12,500 NHPs
to the US in 2022 vs. >4,500 from KF (data through ~Dec 15). Thus, Vanny and KF may account
for >95% of Cambodian exports to the US, which totaled 17,998 in 2022” and stated the following:

we see some risk that the investigation includes all NHP suppliers in Cambodia (not

just Vanny), which could result in setbacks to reopening that supply source. . . .

CRL describes Cambodia as 60% of its supply.

Based on usage numbers, that should be ~9,000 NHPs annualized (allowing for

some reuse rate), or about 4,500 for half the year. At current pricing discussed on

the [Society of Toxicology meeting] floor ($35k “wholesale”, $42k “retail”), that

would be $155M-$190M before taking into account the other elements of the study

bid (facility, study director, lab techs, histology, pathology, etc.) The 400 bp

headwind (high end) equates to $159M. . ..

352.  On March 30, 2023, Charles River filed its 2023 Proxy Statement pursuant to

Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act on Schedule 14 that stated:
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We recognize that recent events have raised questions regarding non-human
primate importation practices, which are affecting the biomedical research industry,
including investigations into shipments of non-human primates received by our
Company from Cambodia. We are committed to working with the U.S. government
and our industry partners to develop and implement additional procedures to
reinforce confidence that the non-human primates we import are purpose-bred in
accordance with applicable laws.

353. On May 11, 2023, Charles River issued a press release that disclosed its financial
results for the quarter ended April 1, 2023 that was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K and filed a
quarterly report with the SEC on Form 10-Q. The May 11, 2023 press release characterized the
ongoing investigation of Charles River by the U.S. government as “investigations by the U.S.
government into the NHP supply chain applicable to our Safety Assessment business.”

354. Also on May 11, 2023, Charles River hosted an earnings conference call for
analysts and investors in which Defendant Foster participated on behalf of Charles River. During
the conference call, the following statements were made:

Defendant Foster: As you know, we suspended shipments of Cambodian NHPs

into the U.S. in February. We took this action so that we could develop and

implement new testing procedures that would reinforce our confidence that the

NHPs we import from Cambodia, are purpose bred. We have made advancements

towards identifying a new testing platform and implementing the new testing

procedures and are engaged with the relevant government agencies in furtherance

of the needed resolution. . . . And we’re quite confident from what we know that

our supplier -- he has purpose breading these animals according to all of our

expectations, and we can demonstrate that. . . .

But we’re confident that we can prove it and demonstrate it scientifically without
a shadow of a doubt. . . .

355. In response to an analyst’s question, Pease confirmed that the Company’s supply
of long-tailed macaques had impacted revenue and margin in the DSA segment:
David Howard Windley - Jefferies LLC, Research Division - MD & Equity

Analyst: . . . Are the NHPs contributing to margin? Or are they a detriment to
margin?
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Pease: Dave. So a couple of things. Yes, the DSA margin was very robust in the

first quarter. . . . The timing on when we start NHP studies can have an impact on

the mix that they have -- that they contribute towards or not to the margin. So

depending on that and how we ended up the year in how many new NHP studies

were starting or not in each quarter can have a modest impact on the margin. . . . .
(Emphasis added).

A. Charles River is Under Investigations by the SEC Enforcement
Division

356. As later revealed in Charles River’s quarterly report for the quarter ended July 1,
2023 filed with the SEC on Form 10-Q on August 9, 2023 (“Q2 2023 10-Q”), on May 16, 2023,
the Company received an inquiry from the Enforcement Division of the SEC requesting it to
voluntarily provide information primarily related to the sourcing of non-human primates in Asia,
and the Company is cooperating with the request. Relatedly, on May 23, 2023, Inotiv received a
voluntary request from the SEC seeking documents and information for the period December 1,
2017 to the present regarding the Company, Envigo, and Orient BioResource’s importation of
NHPs from Asia, including information relating to whether their importation practices complied
with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.

357. On June 8, 2023, Jefferies hosted a conference call in which Ms. Girshick, Charles
River’s Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer participated on behalf of Charles
River. During the June 8, 2023 conference call, Ms. Girshick made the following statements:

Girshick: . . . none of the nonhuman primate farms can scale really, really quickly.

So that -- as you said, the gestation doesn’t allow that. The animals have to be a

certain age. So what we are looking at is, in many cases, how many animals do we

need on a study? What is the age range of an animal on a study? But would we --

and with that, we can maximize supply.

358.  On June 13, 2023, UBS published a report that discussed a UBS-hosted call with a

contract research organization expert and that stated the following:

From a supply chain due diligence perspective, the speaker on the UBS-hosted call
discussed an interesting red flag: given the gestation periods and fecundity of

110



Case 1:23-cv-11132-DJC Document 36 Filed 11/14/23 Page 116 of 166

primates, the rapid increase in supply originating in Cambodia simply was not
possible without including (illegally-sourced) wild animals into the mix. The
speaker suggested industry participants should question any new source that
provides a rapid and significant increase in supply.

(Emphasis added).

B. The U.S. Recommends the CITES Convention’s Animal Committee to
Investigate the Cambodian Supply of Long-Tailed Macaques

359. In connection with the meeting of the CITES Convention’s Animal Committee on
June 19-23, 2023, the U.S. government indicated that there was new information that indicates that
“urgent action may be needed concerning problems relating to the implementation of provisions
under the Convention for captive production of specimens” and submitted an “Exceptional Case
for Inclusion of Species-Country Combination in Review of Trade in Animal Specimens Reported
as Produced in Captivity — Macaca Fascicularis” (created in or around April 26, 2023).%2

360. The U.S. stated that in 2015, concerns were noted and asked to be brought to the
attention of the Standing Committee to the Secretariat of the CITES Convention for further
attention with regard to “the high levels of illegal trade in the species [long-tailed macaques],
particularly between Cambodia and Viet Nam.”

361. The U.S. further observed that “primate researchers have raised concerns that the
official trade numbers fail to capture laundering of wild-caught individuals as captive bred,
harvesting to establish or augment captive breeding operations, capture for the pet trade, hunting
for consumption, and culling due to human-macaque conflict. . . .”

362.  “In light of the 2022 reclassification by IUCN of M. fascicularis as Endangered,
the sustained high levels of exports of the species reported as produced in captivity, and recent

indications of large-scale laundering of wild-caught specimens through captive breeding

22 https://cites.org/sites/default/files/documents/AC/32/agenda/E-AC32-15-03.pdf
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facilities,” the U.S. recommended that CITES further investigate the long-tailed macaque trade

from Cambodia under procedures provided by the CITES Convention.

C.

363.

Charles River Abandons Commitment to Address USFWS
Requirement That the Company Demonstrate Its Long-Tailed
Macaques Were Captive Bred

On August 9, 2023, Charles River issued a press release that disclosed its financial

results for the quarter ended July 1, 2023 that was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K, and the

Company filed the Q2 2023 10-Q with the SEC. The press release stated that the Company updated

its guidance to reflect “implementation of mitigation efforts around NHP supply constraints.”

364.

The Q2 2023 10-Q stated the following:

The Company continues to care for the Cambodia-sourced non-human primates
from certain recent shipments in the United States. The carrying value of the
inventory related to these shipments is approximately $20 million. On May 16,
2023, the Company received an inquiry from the Enforcement Division of the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) requesting it to voluntarily provide
information primarily related to the sourcing of non-human primates in Asia, and
the Company is cooperating with the request.

365. Also on August 9, 2023, the Company hosted an earnings conference call for

analysts and investors in which Defendant Foster participated on behalf of the Company. During

the conference call, the following statements were made:

Defendant Foster: we believe that we have successfully mitigated the logistical
challenges posed by the current NHP supply constraints by conducting more studies
outside of the U.S. . . . we have already made significant progress with these
initiatives and do not foresee any meaningful NHP supply constraints affecting the
business in the fourth quarter and next year. . . .

Going forward, we are operating under the assumption that we will conduct
meaningfully less NHP related study work in the U.S. . ..

366. On August 9, 2023, Jefferies published a research report concerning Charles River

that stated the following:

Mgt and Investors Cheering up on NHPs. We Aren’t. . . . The market seems
encouraged by: 1) NHP supply returning to normal in 4Q, and 2) shifting NHP
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studies ex-US to Canada + EU as a viable long-term solution. To us, this scenario
is possible, not base case. Ex-US regulators should be aware of the DOJ/FWS
investigation into Cambodian NHP exports and the [Indictment], since FWS took
its concerns to CITES Animals Committee in June prompting a review (ongoing)
of trade from multiple Southeast Asian countries including Cambodia. The CITES
Standing Committee, which has authority to suspend trade, is meeting Nov 6-10.
With the court case, DOJ investigation, SEC inquiry, CITES review and
upcoming meeting, we wouldn’t call this “all clear.”

(Emphasis added).

D. Charles River’s September Investor Day Conference

367. On September 21,2023, Charles River hosted its Investor Day Conference in which
Defendant Foster participated, among other senior Charles River executives. A slide presentation
published in connection with the Investor Day Conference revealed that NHP study revenue, which
had since been interrupted by the Indictment and the ongoing criminal and civil investigation, had

a material impact on revenue growth in the Company’s DSA segment during the Class Period:

NHP Supply Overview

) s Geographic Breakout
Leveraging our global infrastructure of NHP-related SA Studies

= Believe we have mitigated the overall impact of NHP supply
constraints including the suspension of Cambodian imports into the US 4

= Leveraging our global SA infrastructure by conducting more studies
outside the US
- Our global scale is a competitive advantage

S

~70
= Going forward, we will conduct meaningfully less NHP-related study aus  mous mUS  mOUS

work in the US

- Our international Safety Assessment infrastructure will accommodate this work NHP Pricing Impact to
and these sites have historically conducted NHP-related study work DSA Revenue Growth Rate

= Broad-based DSA revenue growth over last 3 years propelled by 0 0
clients’ investments in their R&D pipelines 1 1 5 /0'1 2 /0
* NHP-related study revenue has benefited the DSA growth rate due to 2°2°'%ﬁéﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂﬁ??mw
- Robust increase in study volume from biologics-related development work 9 0/
~
0

- Escalating NHP prices that have risen at a faster rate than base SA pricing
2020-2023E DSA revenue growth CAGR
(excluding NHP pricing impact*)

. See ir.criver.com for reconciliations of GAAP to non-GAAP results.
Chanes River Laboratones (CRL) * Assumes NHP prichg at 2020 levels as a baselne for IS analyss, which wil "
create 3 -275 bpS heaowind fo the 2023-2020E DSA reported growth CAGR.

368. During the conference, Parisotto, the Company’s Corporate Executive VP of
Global Discovery and Safety Assessment, made the following statements:
NHP related revenue has benefited the DSA growth rate due to 2 things: a robust

increase in biologics related development work and escalating NHP prices that have
risen at a rate faster than base pricing. . . .
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369. On September 21, 2023, Jefferies published a research report that stated the
following:

Open NHP Questions. Mgt disclosed NHP pricing accounts for ~275 bps of the
~11.7% DSA revenue CAGR from 2020-23E, implying ~$185M rev contribution
in ‘23 alone and, by our math, $550M+ over the three years. . . .

370. On September 22, 2023, Guggenheim published a research report that stated the
following:

Key NHP takeaways from the Q&A. 1) NHP price increases have been a tailwind
for the DSA business from ‘20-°23 (if the company maintained NHP pricing at
2020 levels, that would have led to 275 bps of slower growth over the time period);
2) This trend of price increases appears to be moderating, so we do not expect it to
provide as significant of a tailwind over the next three years; and 3) The company
expects to have less of their NHP-related work take place in the U.S. going forward,
further diversifying their operations.

371.  On September 25, 2023, Stephens published a research report that stated the
following:

Moving forward it is estimated they will conduct ~50% of NHP-related studies
outside of the U.S. vs. ~30% beforehand. In response to a common investor
question, CRL noted that NHP pricing represented a 250 - 300 bps annual tailwind
to DSA growth from 2020 to 2023. In order to mitigate pricing challenges and
uncertainty in supply, the Company has made efforts to partner with or invest in
pieces of suppliers of NHP’s in order to better control the pricing and volume.
Going forward, CRL plans to own more of their suppliers or JV with them
(including CRL employees in the facility) to ensure proper oversight.

E. NHP Pricing Materially Impacted Charles River’s Reported Revenue
Growth during the Class Period

372. On November 8, 2023, Defendant Foster caused Charles River to disclose the
Company’s financial results for the quarter ended September 30, 2023 by issuing a press release
that was filed with the SEC on Form 8-K and filing a quarterly report with the SEC on Form 10-

Q. Also on November 8, 2023, Charles River hosted a conference call with analysts and investors
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attended by Defendant Foster. During the conference call, Defendant Foster and Pease made the
following statements that show the impact of NHP pricing during the Class Period:

[Defendant Foster:] I’d like to comment on our NHP-related study work. At our
Investor Day in September, we provided some information around the benefit from
NHP pricing on our DSA revenue growth rates. We believe that additional
information would be useful for investors and analysts to gain a better
understanding of the impact of NHP pricing and NHP-related safety assessment
studies on our business.

Over a three-year period, ending in 2023, NHP pricing is expected to benefit DSA
revenue growth by a total of just $230 million or approximately 30% of our total
DSA revenue growth since 2020. Without the impact of NHP pricing, DSA revenue
would still have increased at a high single-digit growth CAGR since 2020.

In total, NHP Safety Assessment study revenue, which includes both services and
the embedded NHP revenue, is expected to represent approximately 30% of DSA
segment revenue in both 2022 and 2023.

NHP pricing has rapidly escalated since 2020 due to both NHP supply constraints
and the continued increase of biologic drugs in development. Supply constraints
began in China around the pandemic and intensified last year due to the Cambodian
NHP supply situation in the U.S. This has caused NHP pricing to increase by
approximately $20,000 per model in aggregate since 2020.

In 2023, we expect to utilize approximately 11,400 NHPs in safety assessment
studies worldwide. This represents a reduction of approximately 25% from over
15,000 in the prior year, principally driven by the current level of
biopharmaceutical demand and our clients' focus on their post-IND safety
assessment work, which generates higher service revenue per model due to the
longer-term nature of these studies, with fewer NHPs are used to generate that
service revenue.

skokok

[Pease:] we commented on this over the last several quarters. NHP work, on a
relative basis, has slightly higher margins than some of the other species (inaudible)
we do. They tend to be more complex, sometimes longer. And so there is a mix
impact that has been favorable as biologics had grown, and that drives higher
demand for NHP work within our total study species work that we do.

VII. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

373. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a class, consisting of all persons and entities that purchased
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or otherwise acquired Charles River securities between May 7, 2020 and March 15, 2023,
inclusive, and who were damaged thereby (the “Class”). Excluded from the Class are Defendants,
the officers and directors of the Company, at all relevant times, members of their immediate
families and their legal representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns, and any entity in which
Defendants have or had a controlling interest.

374. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable. Throughout the Class Period, Charles River’s common stock actively traded on the
NYSE. As of January 25, 2023, there were 50,985,527 shares of Charles River common stock
outstanding. While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this time and
can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there are at least
hundreds or thousands of members in the proposed Class. Millions of Charles River shares were
traded publicly during the Class Period on the NYSE. Record owners and other members of the
Class may be identified from records maintained by Charles River or its transfer agent and may be
notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice similar to that customarily
used in securities class actions.

375. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all
members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of
federal law that is complained of herein.

376. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class
and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.

377. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and
predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the

questions of law and fact common to the Class are:
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a. whether the federal securities laws were violated by Defendants’ acts as
alleged herein;
b. whether statements made by Defendants to the investing public during the

Class Period were materially false, misleading and omitted and misrepresented material

facts about the business, operations, and prospects of Charles River; and

c. to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the
proper measure of damages.

378. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as the
damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and burden
of individual litigation makes it impossible for members of the Class to individually redress the
wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action.

VIII. UNDISCLOSED ADVERSE FACTS

379. The market for Charles River’s securities was open, well-developed and efficient
at all relevant times. As a result of these materially false and misleading statements, and failures
to disclose, Charles River’s securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period.
Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired Charles River’s
securities relying upon the integrity of the market price of the Company’s securities and market
information relating to Charles River, and have been damaged thereby.

380. During the Class Period, Defendants materially misled the investing public, thereby
inflating the price of Charles River’s securities, by publicly issuing false and misleading statements
and omitting to disclose material facts necessary to make Defendants’ statements, as set forth
herein, not false and misleading. The statements and omissions were materially false and

misleading because they failed to disclose material adverse information and misrepresented the
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truth about Charles River’s business, operations, and prospects as alleged herein.

381. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized
in this Complaint directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing cause of the
damages sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class. As described herein, during the
Class Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and misleading
statements alleged above and in Section V. These material misstatements and omissions had the
cause and effect of creating in the market a positive assessment of the Company and its financial
well-being and prospects, thus causing the Company’s securities to be overvalued and artificially
inflated at all relevant times. Defendants’ materially false and misleading statements during the
Class Period resulted in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s
securities at artificially inflated prices, thus causing the damages complained of herein when the
truth was revealed.

IX. LOSS CAUSATION

382. During the Class Period, Defendants made materially false statements and
statements that were materially misleading because Defendants failed to disclose material facts
that they had a duty to disclose and engaged in a course of conduct that artificially inflated the
prices of Charles River common stock and operated as a fraud or deceit on purchasers of Charles
River common stock.

383. As detailed above, when the truth about Charles River’s misconduct was revealed
through a series of partial disclosures, the value of the Company’s stock declined precipitously as
the prior artificial inflation came out of the stock’s price. The declines in the price of Charles
River’s shares were the direct result of the nature and extent of Defendants’ fraud being revealed
to investors and the market, and include the declines in Charles River’s stock price as alleged in

Paragraphs 34, 323 (Nov. 16, 2022 disclosure and stock price decline); Paragraphs 38, 328 (Nov.
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30, 2022 disclosure and stock price decline); Paragraphs 44, 339 (Jan. 12, 2023 disclosure and
stock price decline); Paragraphs 49, 346 (February 22, 2023 disclosure and stock price decline);
Paragraphs 51, 349 (March 15, 2023 disclosure and stock price decline). The materialization of
the risks that were undisclosed during the Class Period caused Charles River’s stock to
significantly decline.

384. The timing and magnitude of the share price declines negate any inference that the
losses suffered by Plaintiff and other members of the Class were caused by changed market
conditions, macroeconomic or industry factors, or Company specific facts unrelated to the
Defendants’ fraudulent conduct. The economic loss, i.e., damages, suffered by Plaintiff and other
Class members, was a direct result of Defendants’ fraudulent scheme to artificially inflate the price
of the Company’s stock and was reflected in the subsequent significant declines in the value of the
Company’s stock when Defendants’ prior misrepresentations, undisclosed material risks and other
fraudulent conduct were revealed.

385. At all relevant times, Defendants’ materially false and misleading statements or
omissions alleged herein directly or proximately caused the damages suffered by the Plaintiff and
other Class members. Throughout the Class Period, Defendants issued materially false and
misleading statements and omitted material facts necessary to make Defendants’ statements not
false or misleading, causing the price of Charles River’s common stock to be artificially inflated.
Plaintiff and other Class members purchased Charles River common stock at those artificially
inflated prices, causing them to suffer damages.

386. Defendants’ wrongful conduct, as alleged herein, directly and proximately caused
the economic loss suffered by Plaintiff and the Class.

X. ADDITIONAL SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS

387. Asalleged herein, Defendants acted with scienter since Defendants knew, or at least
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disregarded acted with a high degree of recklessness, that the public documents and statements
issued or disseminated in the name of the Company were materially false and misleading; knew,
or at least disregarded with a high degree of recklessness, that such statements or documents would
be issued or disseminated to the investing public; and knowingly and substantially participated or
acquiesced in the issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as primary violations
of the federal securities laws. As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, the Individual Defendants,
by virtue of their receipt of information reflecting the true facts regarding Charles River, their
control over, and receipt and modification of Charles River’s allegedly materially misleading
misstatements and their associations with the Company which made them privy to confidential
proprietary information concerning Charles River, participated in the fraudulent scheme alleged
herein.

388. Defendants Foster and Smith had the motive and opportunity to commit the acts
alleged herein in order to inflate the price of Charles River common stock and sell their personal
shares at artificially prices, and sold artificially inflated shares of Charles River common stock that
were unusual and suspiciously timed, and for unusual amounts, as alleged above and in Section V.
Defendants Foster and Smith had the motive (concrete benefits that could be realized by the
materially false and misleading statements alleged herein) and the opportunity (the means and
likely prospect of achieving concrete benefits by the means alleged) to commit the fraud alleged.

389. As alleged above, Defendants Foster and Smith sold Charles River common stock
or gifted shares that were later sold while in possession of material nonpublic adverse or negative
information concerning the Company, conduct that they knew, or disregarded with a high degree
of recklessness, was wrongful and violated the law, the Sept. 2018 Code, and the 2021 Code:

Dealing in Securities: Insider Trading
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As you do your job, you may become aware of material information about Charles
River, a client or supplier or another company before it is announced to the public.
You may not sell or buy a company’s stock or other securities while you have
material inside information about that company. It is also against the law and
Company policy to share or “tip” material inside information to anyone (including
a family member or friend) who uses that information to trade or to simply
recommend that they buy or sell that company’s securities. Material inside
information should not be disclosed to anyone, except to those within Charles River
who need to know it as part of their jobs and to others outside the Company, to the
extent you have been specifically authorized to disclose it to them.

390. The scienter of Charles River’s executives, officers and employees who acted
within the scope of their authority and as agents of Charles River during the Class Period, including
Defendants Foster and Smith, is imputed to Defendant Charles River.

391. On April 7, 2022, the Company issued a press release titled “Charles River
Laboratories Publishes 2021 Corporate Citizen Report” that quoted Defendant Foster as stating
“[t]his ethos is embedded in our culture and extends to our entire organization.” The Company’s
2021 Corporate Citizen Report stated that the Company holds “annual and periodic meetings with
key suppliers” and states the following:

Responsible Supply Chain Management . . . .

Our supply chain is managed by the Vice President of Global Procurement, who

reports to the Corporate Vice President of Procurement and Facilities Support, who

in turn reports to the CFO [Defendant Smith]. To manage supply chain efforts,

our JAGGAER Supplier Management Module provides visibility into key supplier

characteristics that help manage strategic relationships through a focus on mutual,

continuous improvement. Our JAGGAER Supplier Management Module also

helps Charles River evaluate potential new supply chain partners by assessing

potential risk from both a business continuity and ethics perspective.

To assess additional supply chain risks, we use tools that improve the

completeness and accuracy of our supplier data, while also allowing us to

gather information identifying potential associated risks.

For new and existing suppliers, we leverage these tools to build new processes

and procedures for:
* Continuously monitoring key risk indicators . . . .
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Moving forward, we will streamline our supply chain to increase visibility, reduce
risk, and increase meaningful engagement with supplier partners over the long term
(Emphasis added).

XI. APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE (FRAUD-ON-THE-
MARKET DOCTRINE)

392. The market for Charles River’s securities was open, well-developed and efficient
at all relevant times. As a result of the materially false and misleading statements and failures to
disclose material facts Defendants had a duty to disclose, Charles River’s securities traded at
artificially inflated prices during the Class Period. On September 24, 2021, the Company’s share
price hit a Class Period-high of $460.21 per share. Plaintiff and other members of the Class
purchased or otherwise acquired the Company’s securities relying upon the integrity of the market
price of Charles River’s securities and market information relating to Charles River, and have been
damaged thereby.

393. During the Class Period, the artificial inflation of Charles River’s shares was caused
by the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized in this Complaint causing the
damages sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class. As described herein, during the
Class Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and misleading
statements about Charles River’s business, prospects, and operations. These material
misstatements and omissions created an unrealistically positive assessment of Charles River and
its business, operations, and prospects, thus causing the price of the Company’s securities to be
artificially inflated at all relevant times, and when disclosed, negatively affected the value of the
Company shares. Defendants’ materially false and misleading statements during the Class Period
resulted in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities at such

artificially inflated prices, and each of them has been damaged as a result.
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394. At all relevant times, the market for Charles River’s securities was an efficient
market for the following reasons, among others:

a. Charles River shares met the requirements for listing, and the Company’s
stock was listed and actively traded on the NYSE, a highly efficient and automated market;

b. As a regulated issuer, Charles River filed periodic public reports with the
SEC;

c. Charles River regularly communicated with public investors via established
market communication mechanisms, including through regular dissemination of press
releases on the national circuits of major newswire services and through other wide-ranging
public disclosures, such as communications with the financial press and other similar
reporting services; and

d. Charles River was followed by securities analysts employed by brokerage
firms who wrote reports about the Company, and these reports were distributed to the sales
force and certain customers of their respective brokerage firms, including BofA Securities,
Baird, Citi Research, Deutsche Bank Research, Evercore ISI, Guggenheim Securities,
Jefferies, J.P. Morgan, Morgan Stanley, Morningstar, Stephens, TD Cowen, UBS, Wells
Fargo Securities, and William Blair. Each of these reports was publicly available or entered
the public marketplace.

395. As a result of the foregoing, the market for Charles River’s securities promptly
digested current information regarding Charles River from all publicly available sources and
reflected such information in Charles River’s share price. Under these circumstances, all
purchasers of Charles River’s securities during the Class Period suffered similar injury through

their purchase of Charles River’s securities at artificially inflated prices and a presumption of
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reliance applies.

396. A Class-wide presumption of reliance is also appropriate in this action under the
Supreme Court’s holding in Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 (1972),
because the Class’s claims are, in large part, grounded on Defendants’ material omissions. Because
this action involves Defendants’ failure to disclose material adverse information and material
undisclosed negative risks regarding the Company’s business operations and financial prospects—
information that Defendants were obligated to disclose—positive proof of reliance is not a
prerequisite to recovery. All that is necessary is that the facts withheld be material in the sense that
a reasonable investor might have considered them important in making investment decisions.
Given the importance of the Class Period material omissions set forth above, that requirement is
satisfied here.

XII. NO SAFE HARBOR

397. The statutory safe harbor provided for forward-looking statements under certain
circumstances does not apply to any of the allegedly false statements pleaded in this Complaint.
The statements alleged to be false and misleading herein all relate to then-existing facts and
conditions. In addition, to the extent certain of the statements alleged to be false may be
characterized as forward looking, they were not identified as “forward-looking statements” when
made and there were no meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those in the purportedly forward-looking statements.
In the alternative, to the extent that the statutory safe harbor is determined to apply to any forward-
looking statements pleaded herein, Defendants are liable for those false forward-looking
statements because at the time each of those forward-looking statements was made, the speaker
had actual knowledge that the forward-looking statement was materially false or misleading,

and/or the forward-looking statement was authorized or approved by an executive officer of
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Charles River who knew that the statement was false when made.

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
Violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Rule 10b-5 Promulgated Thereunder
(Against All Defendants)

398. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained above as if fully
set forth herein.

399. During the Class Period, Defendants caused, disseminated or approved the false
and misleading statements alleged above, which they knew (consciously intended to defraud) were
materially false and misleading, or they at least acted with a high degree of recklessness, in that
they contained material misrepresentations and failed to disclose material facts necessary in order
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading.

400. Defendants violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 in that they:

(a) Employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud,

(b) Made untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state material facts
necessary in order to make statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which they were made not misleading; or

(c) Engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business that operated as a
fraud or deceit upon Plaintiffs and others similarly situated in connection
with their purchases of Charles River’s securities during the Class Period.

401. Plaintiffs and members of the Class have suffered damages in that, in reliance on
the integrity of the market, they paid artificially inflated prices for Charles River’s securities.

Plaintiffs and the Class would not have purchased Charles River’s securities at the prices they paid,
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or at all, if they had been aware that the market prices had been artificially and falsely inflated by
Defendants’ false and misleading statements.

402. As adirect and proximate result of these Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiffs
and the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their purchases of Charles
River’s securities during the Class Period.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

Violation of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act
(Against the Individual Defendants)

403. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained above as if fully
set forth herein.

404. The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of Charles River within the
meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein. By virtue of their high-level
positions, and their ownership and contractual rights, participation in and awareness of the
Company’s operations and intimate knowledge of the statements filed by the Company with the
SEC and disseminated to the investing public, the Individual Defendants had the power to
influence and control and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision-making of
the Company, including the content and dissemination of the various statements which Plaintiffs
contend are false and misleading. The Individual Defendants were provided with or had unlimited
access to copies of the Company’s reports, press releases, public filings and other statements
alleged by Plaintiffs to be misleading prior to and shortly after these statements were issued and
had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the statements to be corrected.

405. In particular, the Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in
the day-to-day operations of the Company and, therefore, are presumed to have had the power to
control or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations as alleged

herein and exercised the same.
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406. As set forth above, Charles River and the Individual Defendants each violated

Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by their acts and omissions as alleged in this Complaint. By virtue

of their positions each as a controlling person, the Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.

407.  As adirect and proximate result of Charles River’s and the Individual Defendants’

wrongful conduct, Plaintiffs and other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with

their purchases of the Company’s common stock during the Class Period.

XIII.

XIV.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows:

a. Determining that the Action is a proper class action under Rule 23 of the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure;

b. Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiff and the other
members of the proposed Class against Defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages
sustained as a result of Defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial,
including interest thereon;

C. Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses
incurred in the Action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and

d. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.

Dated: November 14, 2023 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Frederic S. Fox

Frederic S. Fox (admitted pro hac vice)
Donald R. Hall

Jeffrey P. Campisi

Pamela A. Mayer
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Kaplan Fox & Kilsheimer LLP
800 Third Avenue, 38th Floor
New York, NY 10022

T: (212) 687-1980

F: (212) 687-7714
ffox@kaplanfox.com

Lead Counsel for Lead Plaintiff State Teachers
Retirement System of Ohio and the Proposed
Class

Edward F. Haber (BBO# 215620)
Patrick J. Vallely (BBO# 663866)
Shapiro Haber & Urmy LLP
One Boston Place, Suite 2600
Boston, MA 02108

T: (617) 439-3939

F: (617) 439-0134
ehaber@shulaw.com
pvallely@shulaw.com
ndill@shulaw.com

Liaison Counsel for Lead Plaintiff State Teachers
Retirement System of Ohio and the Proposed Class
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Exhibit A — Indictment
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.UNITED STATES..DISTRICT COURT.
'SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

.22-20340-CR-WILLI’AMS(S)]

CASE NO. _
16 U.S.C. § 3372(a)(1)
16 U.S.C. § 3373(d)(1), (2)
16 U.S.C. § 3374
18 U.S.C.§ 371
18 U.S.C. § 545
18 U.S.C. § 2
18 U.S.C. § 982(2)(2)(B)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
v.

OMALISS KEO,
MASPHAL KRY,
" JAMES LAU,
DICKSON LAU,
SUNNY CHAN,
RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN,
SARAH YEUNG, and ’
" HING IP CHUNG,
’ Defendants. /

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT -

- The Grand Jury charges that:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At all times material to this Indictment:

FILED BY__KAN

Nov 3, 2022

AMGELA E, NOBLE
CLERK LS, DIST. CT.
5. 0. OF FLA. - Miami

D.C.

1. The Lacey Act made it unlawful-for any person to import, export, transport, sell,

receive, acquire, or purchase any fish or wildlife or plant taken, possessed, transported, or sold in

violation of any law, treaty, or regulation of the United States. 16 US.C.§ 3372(a)(1).

2. The_ Lacey. Act, 16 U.S.C. §§ 3372(d)(1) and (2), also made it unlawful for any

p'ers,on to make or submit any false record, account, or label for, or any false identification of, any
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wildlife which has been, or is intended to be - (1) irnported, exported, transported, seld, purchased,
: or received from any foreign country; or (2) transported in inte;state or foreign commerce.
3. The Lacey Act deﬁnes “wildlife” as “any wild animad, whether alive or dead,
- including Wi’;hout limitations any wild memmal, bird, reptile, amphibian, fish, mollusk, crustacean,
:‘arthr'op,od, cdelenter_ate, dr other invertebrate, whether or not bred, hatched, or born in captivity,
and includes any part, product, egg, or offspring thereof.” 16 U.S.C. A§ 3371(a).

4. ~ In order to protect certain species against over-exploitation, the United States -

became a signato'ry to an international treaty known as the Convention on International Trade in

- Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (hereinafter “CITES”). Depending on the required

level of protection needed by a species, CITES uses a system of Appendixes to cla351fy protected

- wildlife and plants. Appendix I of CITES includes species which are threatened with extinction

-~ and fo% Which trade must be subject to particularly strict regulation and for Wnich no trade is

allowed for commercial nurposes. CITES, Art. Il at § 1. Appendix IT of CITES includes wildlife

species whicn although not necessarily threatened with extinction now, may become so. unless
trade in specimens of such species is strictly regulated. CITES, Art. Il at 2.

S. The United States and the Kingdom of Cambodia, along Witn over 180 other
countries, were parties to CITES, and bound to abide by its provisions and restrictions. Parties to
the Convention regulate trade in specilnens of various species and their parts, products, and
derivatives through a system of permits (“CITES Permit”). Such documents ‘enable the
Convention panies to monitor the effects of the volume and type of trade to ensure trade is legal
and not detrimental to the survival of the species included in the various Appendixes.

6. The United States Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”), Department of the Interior,

- is designated by Congress pursuant to the Endangered Species Act (ESA), Title 16, United States
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Code, Section 1537(a), as the CITES; enforcement authority within the ‘United States. The
Departmentrof the Interior publishes regulations to implement CITES in 50 C.F.R. Part 23 A list

of all species protected by CITES and the ESA implementation program is maintained pursuant to

‘the Convention by the‘CITES Secretariat. 50 C.F.R. §§ 23.7 and 23.9.

7. The prov151ons of CITES are implemented through the ESA Wthh states 1n
relevant part, “Itis unlawful for any person . . . to engage in any trade in any specimens [of wildlife]

contrary to.the provisions of ... [CITES] or.to possess any- specimens [o‘fwildlife] traded contrary

to the provisions of [CITES] ” “Trade” means, among other thrngs export.’5 CITES, Art Lat

- 9 (c). “Specrmen means - any animal :.. whether alive or dead.” CITES, Art. I at g (b).

8. . Long-tarled macaques (Macaca fascicularis), sometimes also known as crab-eating

‘macaqrues; are protected under Appendix II of CITES. 50 CFR. §§ 23.7:_ and 23.9;

'”https:_//checklist.cjtes.Or,Q/#/en/search/output layout=alphabetical&level_of listing=0&show_syn

onvms%I&shoW author=1&show english=1&show_spanish=1&show french~=1&sc-ientiﬁc na

me=Macaca+faScIcularis&pa,qe=’lA&per page=20. The long-tailed macaque has been regulated
under CITES since 1977.-
9. yB‘e_fore importing a specimen of any animal protected under Appendix II of CITES :

into the United States, a valid CITES export permit must be obtained from the competent authority

“of thexcountr“y of export or re-export. A separate original or a-true copy of a’CITES‘ Permit must
' abe 1ssued before the 1mport occurs and the document must. accompany each shlpment and be '

o presented to FWS upon 1mportatron CITES, Art IV 8§ 1 and 2;50 C.FR. § 23 20(c) 23 26(b)

10.- CIT ES Permits are 1nd1v1dua11y numbered and: include ~1nformat10n‘ such as the

importer of record, exporter, species being traded, a description of the specimens, the CITES

Appendix ngrnber, asource code, the quantity, and the date of issuance. The source code indicates
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the particulars of the specimen(s) listed on the CITES Permit: among others, the code “W” denotes
a specimen taken from the wild; “R” denotes a ranched specimen, taken as an egg or juvenilé from
the wild and reared in a controlled environment; “C” deﬁotes animals bred in captivity; all subject
to certain other terms and provisions on the Convention.

11. Under Title 50, Part 14, of the Code of Federal Regulations, all imports of wildlife,
including long-tailed macaques, must be declared to the FWS on a completed, signed, and certified
Declaration for Importation or Exportation of Fish and Wildlife (Form 3-177) and made available

, for inspection. Form 3-177 requires importers or their agents to provide, among other information,
the source of the wildlife they are importing, specifically whether the wildlife was captive-bred,
farm-raised, or wild-caught. importers or their agents must furnish all applicable information
requested on the Form 3-177 and must certify that the information furnished is true and complete

~ to the best of his/her knowledge and belief. 50 CFR 14.61.

12. OMALISS KEO was the Director General of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry
and Fisheries (MAEF) of the Government of Cambodia and Chairman of the CITES Scientific
Authority for Terrestrial Forest and Wildlife Resources, with oversight and responsibility for the
issuance of CITES export permits.

13. MASPHAL KRY was the Deputy Director of the Department of Wildlife and
Biodiversity within the Forestry Administration of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Fisheries (MAFF) of the Government of Cambodia.

14: JAMES LAU was the President, Chief Executive Officer, and o%er of Vanny
Bio-Research Center (“Vanny HK”), latér re-named Vanny Science Development LTD, which
was a Hong Kong-based company engaged in, among other business, the capture and laundering

of wild-caught long-tailed macaques in Cambodia, for export to thé United States and elsewhere.
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N

15. DICK_SONLA’U Was the .General”Manager of Vanny HK and also served as the
Sctentiﬁc Manager for Vanny HK . )
16.- SUNNY CHAN was the Manager or‘»‘OperatiQnS :for Vfanny HK. CHAN handled
‘the coordination of shipments of wild caugnt long—tailed macaques exported to the United States
from_Cambcdia | | 77
1.7.: ‘, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN was. the Pubhc Relations Manager and Export
o ? Manager for two facrhtres of Vanny HK 1n Cambodla operated.by a subsidiary, Vanny Bio-

' Research Cambodla (“VBRC”) at Phnom Penh and Pursat. CHEUNG coordlnated the delivery N
of w1ld caught long-tarled macaques to the VBRC facﬂltles in Cambodra for export to the Unrted
»States. |

o 18 SARAH YEUNG, who was phys1ca11y Iocated at the ofﬁces of Vanny HK ‘was
‘the Finance Manager for VBRC YEUNG executed the ﬁnancral transactlons that prov1ded
funding to VBRC’s Phnom Penh and Pursat fa0111t1es for payment to ,.black market collectors and

- MAFF ‘emplo'yees for wild long-tailed macaques captured by them and deIiVered to: VBR,C’S
facrlities, for export to the Unjted States. S , o ~ |

| 19: HING IP CHUNG was’ General Manager_and -Managing,Dir_erctor of VBRC.
- CHUNG fa_ciflitated’payments’to Cambodian government ofﬁciais for their invgol_\‘fementlin the
capture of wil_d,~ long-tailed macaquec and payments‘ made to p}ack market co‘ﬂectors cf wild-

| caught longétai'led macaques for export to the United State_§.7(
20. - Urn'ndicted» Co-Conspirator 1 (UCC-I) Was a company formed under the :laW'sk. of
the State o‘f‘yFlorida,' with its listed place of business in the Southernv-District of Florida, which

engaged in the importation and sale of non-human primates, including ilong-tailed_macaques., .
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21.  Unindicted Co-ConSpirator 2 (UC\C-Q) i'évas a company formed prllder«tlil_e laws ,Of '
the State of Texas, with its listed place of busineséi in Aﬁce, Texas, which -eﬁgaged in the
importatioﬁ and sale ko,f non-human pfimétes, inc_:lﬁd_ing long-tailéd macaques. .
| COUNTI
Conspiracy
(18U.S.C. §371)

: 1. The; Genergl Allegations section of this Indiqtfnent is reallggéd and incorporated
rrefer_ence heréin? as,though set fOrtﬁ inits entirety. . | |

2. ‘ Beginning' on an MO,W date, bgt at Ieas;[ aé_ earlyxa‘s on or about ;Déc.ember 19,\ |

2017, and continuing through on or about January 30, 2022, in the Southern Dist’rict of Floﬁda - |

~and clsewhercv,ﬂthe defendants,

OMALISS KEO,
MASPHAL KRY,
JAMES LAU,
DICKSON LAU,
SUNNY CHAN,
RAJ’HAEL'CHEUNG MAN, -
" SARAH YEUNG, and

“HING IP CHUNG,

did willfully, that is,” with the intent to further the objects of the ‘conspiracy, -and knowingly
~combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other and with other persons l;)oth known and

unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit certain offenses against the United States, that is:

a. toimport, export, transport, sell, receive, acquire, and purchase any wildlife, .
that is, long-tailed macaques (Macaca fascicularis), knowing that said
wildlife was taken, possessed, transported, and sold in violation of any law,

- treaty, and regulatlon of the United States, in violation of Title 16, United
States Code, Section 3372(a)(1); ' :

b. to make and submit any false record, account, and label for, and any false

- identification of, any wildlife, that is, long—taﬂed macaques (Macaca.
Jascicularis), which has been, and is intended to be, imported; exported, -

transported, sold, purchased and recelved from any forelgn country; and
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transported in intérstate or foreign commerce, in violation of 16 U.S.C. §
3372(d)(1), (d)(2); and

c. to fraudulently and knowingly import and bring into the United States any
merchandise contrary to any law and regulation of the United States, in

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 545.

Purpose of the Conspiracy

3. The purpose of the conspiracy was for the defendants and their co-conspirators,
known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to smuggle CITES Appendix II protected species, that is,

long-tailed macaques (Macaca fascicularis), into the United States for financial gain.

Manner and Means of the Conspiracy
The manner and means by which the defendants sought to accomp}lish the objects and
purpose of the conspiracy incluéed, among others, the following:
4, The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators established facilities in
Cambodia purporting to breed long-tailed macaques for sale on the world market.
5. | The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators engaged with éustomers in the
United States and elsewhere and entered into contractual égreements to sell and export purportedly
captive-bred macaques from Cambodia to the United States. |
6. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators established a logistics system
~'to allow buyers to inspect macaques prior to sale, including through the use of veterinarians, to
test the monkeys for disqualifying conditions, quarantine shipments prior to export, and arrange
the necessary ground and air transportation to facilitate the transactions.
7. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators arranged to iliegally purchase
" additional long-tailed macaques from black market suppliers in Cambodia and Thailand to make
up for the lack of supply of suitable monkeys at their purported breeding operations. The black-

market suppliers,.including MAFF, identified in Vanny HK and VBRC records through the use of
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the letters A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, K, P, and X, would primarily deliver the illegally acquired
monkeys to the VBRC facility at Pursat. 7

8. ~ The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators utilized the services of MAFF
and its employees to further the purpose and objects of the conspiracy, and:

'a. To secure CITES export permits which falsely identified wild-caught.macaques
as captive bred in the VBRC facilities;

b. .To act as the source, under the designation of Black Market Supply “A,” of
wild-caught macaques from National Parks and protected areas which MAFF
employees delivered to VBRC for later sale and export; - ‘

c. To provide Transport Permits which allowed macaques unsuitable for the
export trade to be sent from the Pursat facility to the Phnom Penh facility where
fhey were euthanized and their identification tags transferred fo wild-caught
macaques, to make it appear the black-market monkeys were. captive bred at
VBRC facilities; | .

d. To prov%de unofficial collection quotas, for which cash payments to MAFF
were authorized at Vanny HK and made by VBRC employees.

9. The defendants and their unindicted co-conspirators c}elivered and caused the
" delivery of wild-caught long-tailed r;lacaques to various international airports in thie United States,
accompanied by Cambodian CITES Permits and FWS Form 3-177s falsély identifying the
monkeys as captive bred.

10.  Upon entry into the United States, the long-tailed macaque shipments would be
forwarded by truck from the port of entry to ‘a quarantine facility designated by the.
importer/corisignees, who were located in various states, including the,_Soﬁthern Di:strict of Florida.

Overt Acts
In.furtherance of the conspiracy, and to effect the objects and purpose the;reof, there were -

committed and caused to be committed by at least one of the co-conspirétoré herein, within the

Southern District of Florida and elsewhere, at Jeast one of the following overt acts, among others:
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1. On or about December 19, 2017, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN met with
OMALISS KEO and discussed KEQ’s role in the collection of wild long-tailed macaques from

Cambodian National Parks.

2. On or'about December 19, 2017, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN advised JAMES

LAU, HING IP CHUNG, and SARAH YEUNGV by email that OMALISS KEO would arrange
for MAF F staff to collect somewhere around 2,006 monkeys for VBRC, for which VBRC would
"be charged a ‘_‘Royalt}; tax of US 3 1»: 5 0 to Nation Treasure . . . ,” and fhat KEO “Will instfuct_ the

Di;ecfor of the National Park.to. work out a survey repoft of the animal population.”

3. On or ,abouf; May 4, 2018, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN emaileva_AMES LAU,

HING IP CHUNG, and SARAH YEUNG advising them that he héd ;told OMALiSS KEO that
théy were éhort of an;'mafs to export and needed 300 to 500 h_eads:to fulfill a July brder and that
. KEO wou_l;i try to pg:rsuade his superior to allow collection of the needed monkeys. The email
- further reported that any collection by MAF F personhel would Eavé to be _aftér upcomiqg July 29
elections to avoid unnecessary attention frbm the public and-non—govemrﬁentai organizations
N GOs) but that VBRC could collect monkeys immediately and they would be off set agamst a

. collection quota of 2,000 monkeys that would be issued on May 17. The emall also requested that

the defendants arrange to make'a payment of $40,000 to MAFF.

4. On or about June 14, 2018 RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN reported in an email
addressed to JAMES LAU, HING IP CHUNG, SARAH YEUNG, and SUNNY CHAN that
CHEUNG MAN received information from OMALISS KEO that the Minister had approved and

issued the collection quota and final payment should be made to MAFF.
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5. Later on June 14, 2018 in an email addressed to JAMES LAU HING IP;
CHUNG, SARAH YEUNG, and SUNNY CHAN RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN requested from .

YEUNG a “ﬁrm date for remittance” as he needéd to respond to OMALISS KEO and advised

the recipients that “besides election campaigns start most officials need the fund.”

6. On or about June 25; 2018, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN along W1th HING IP

_CHUNG SARAH YEUNG, and SUNNY CHAN received a remittance document from an

employee at Vanny HK reﬂectmg that $83 259.00 originatmg from Vanny Chain Technology

(Hong Kong) Limited passed through the Bank of America N.A. in New York NY and was

: received by VBRC S Cambodlan bank. ltemized,on the remittance was '$’4O,OOO.OV(), for “PP Animal

L

Collection 2000 Heads.”(

. -Onor about June 26 201 8 an employee of" Vanny HK sent an emall to RAPHAEL

" | CHEUNG MAN HING IP CHUNG SUNNY CHAN, and SARAH YEUNG w1th an attached

VBRC 1nternal accountmg document “PP Purchase Application Form PF NumberCl/E/ 18-06-

18”’which ‘reﬂe’ct‘ed a “Donation for CPP Party. (Request from Mr. Omaliss)” 1n the amount of

~ $10,000.00. The document was signed by CHUNG and CHEUNG MAN and contained a

notation that read, “Spoke to Mr. Lau.”

8. - Later on June 26,2018, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN by email provided a copy of

MAFF Coll‘ection, Permit No. 6298, for the collection of 2,000 mo_nkeys by ‘VBRC to JAMES

'LAU, HING IP-CHUNG, SARAH YEUNG, and SUNNY CHAN.

9. Onorabout July 21,2018, VBRC shipped 440 samples of blood serum drawn

from long-tailed macaques to an analytical laboratory in San Antonio, Texas to_be tested;

shipping : documents accompanying the samples ‘identified’ them as related to shipment

10
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1

USAI1811, and the accompanying CITES Permit KH1324 identified the source of the

monkeys as captive bred.

10. On <;r about July 25, 2018, UCC-1, located in the Southern District of Florida,
imported a shipment identified asTUSA 1810 containing 150 long-tailed macaques from VBRC

at John F. Kennedy Airport (JFK), New York.

11. On or about July 25, 201 8, an FWS Form 3-177 and CITES Permit KH1294 were

presented to FWS at JFK which reflected that shipment USA1810 was composed entirely of

captive bred inacaques.

12. On or about August 13, 2018, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN reported to JAMES

LAU, DICKSON LAU, HING IP CHUNG, SARAH YEUNG, and SUNNY CHAN that he had

met with MAFF officials, including MASPHAL KRY, known to CHEUNG MAN as “MARK'

SOPHAL,” during which they discﬁs‘sed the price for the official quota of $‘1*50 for each of the

2,000 monkeys, and a price of $220 each for the unofficial quota of 3,000, which MAFF employees

. would collect and transport to the VBRC facility at Pursat. CHEUNG MAN further reported that

- MAFF preferred to begin collecting as soon as possible -during. the rainy season, expected to

complete all necessary collection before the end of the year, and MAFF v&;ould provide VBRC 4
to 6 ’I'iours of notice prior to the deliveries, with the likely arrival time at night, and that OMALiSS
KEO Ver_iﬁed these points several days later. MAFF hadi also assured CHEUNG MAN that
“unofficial animals™ would not appeér on VBRC’s .monthly‘-‘report, and MAFF would conceal the

unofficial monkeys from the local Phnom Penh and Pursat officials.

11 -



Case 1:225as20B26-K¥V1 1 B BuideriD SculEreateb or-fed D1NcREt IR AR of RégGe 12 of 27

13. On or about August 24, 2018, UCC-1, located in the Southern District of
Florida, imported a shipment identified as USA1811 containing 360 long-tailed maéaques

from VBRC at JFK Airport, New York.

14.  On or about August 24, 2018, an FWS Form 3-177 and CITES Permit KH1320
were presented to FWS at JFK which reflected that shipment USA1811 was composed entirely of

captive bred macaques.

15. On or about November 2, 2018, RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN sent an email to
DICKSON LAU, HING'IP CHUNG, SARAH YEUNG, and SUNNY CHAN in which he

reported having met with the MAFF collection team leader, MASPHAL KRY, known to

. CHEUNG MAN as “MARK: SOPHAL,” and advanced US$10,000 to him to carry on the

collection, that they had- mutually agreed that MAFF would collect and déliver 300 animals
weighing between 2 to 4 kgs within the month to VBRC, and that the MAFF empioyee was aware
that VBRC woulcin’t accept and would reject any inferior animal. CHEUNG MAN asked his
superiors for the funds necessary to settl__e before the end of the month, representing the amomts

owed to MAFF for the 300 monkeys and for Royaity taxes due on thé official quota animals.

16.  On or about May 11, 2019, a shipment of 360 long-tailed macaqués, containing -

approximately 74 wild caught monkeys, and identified as USA1973, was imported into the United

~ States at JFK, and delivered to UCC-2 in Alice, Texas.

17.  On May 11,2019, an FWS Form 3-177 and CITES Permit KH1391 were presented

to FWS at JFK in New York, which reflected that shipment USA1973 was composed entirely of

captive bred macaques.

12
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18.  Onor about June 27; 2019, a shipment of 360 long-tailed macaques, containing
approximately 194 wild caughtjmonkeys and identified as USA1974, was imported into the United

States at JFK, and delivered to UCC-2 in Alice, Texés.

19.  On June 27,2019, an FWS Form 3-177 and CITES Permit KH1407 were presented
to FWS at JFK in New York, which reflected that shipment USAl 974 was composed-entirely of

captive bred macaques.

20.  Onorabout August29,2019, MASPHAL KRY, accompanied by two other MAFF

-employees, delivered 13 wild long-tailed macaques to th‘e»VBRC' facility at Pursat.’

21. On or about September 1, 2019, MASPHAL KRY, accompanied by two other
MAFF employees, delivered 24 wild long-tailed macaques to VBRC’s facility in Pursat, during
which KRY suggested that the land immediately behind the VBRC facility shoﬁld‘ be purchased

‘to make a road that would make it “more safe for the smuggling.”

-22. On or about September 3, 2019, Black Market Supplier D was paid approximately
$10,380 for the delivery of approximately 60 wild caught long-tailed macaques-to the VBRC

facility at Pursat.

23.  On or about October 8, 2019, HING.IP CHUNG informed SARAH YEUNG by
~ email that VBRC didn’t have enough cash on hand after having made payments to MAFF and
requested $3‘0,OOO.OOV'erm YEUNG for the collection fund to pay for an additional 100 animals

which weré on their way.

24. On or about October 20; 2019, MASPHAL KRY, ,agcompani,ed by two other

- MAFF employees, delivered 20 wild long-tailed macaques to the VBRC facility’ in Pursat.

13
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25.  Onor about December 13, 2019, Black Market Supplier A was paid approximately
$8,360 for the delivery of approximately 38 wild caught long-tailed macaques tothe VBRC facility

at Pursat.

26.  On or about January 16, 2020, a shipment of 288 long-tailed macaques, containing
approximately 237 wild caught monkeys and identified as USA2071, was imported into the United

States at JFK, and delivered to UCC-2 in Alice, Texas.

27. On or about Jaﬁuary 16, 2020, an FWS Form 3-177 and CITES Permit KH1523
were presented to FWS at JFK in New Ydrk, which reflected that shipment USA2071 was

composed entirely of captive bred macaques.

28.  On or about January 30, 2020, Black Market Supplier C was paid approximately
$10,645 for the delivery of approximately 68 wild caught long-tailed macaqués to the VBRC -

facility at Pursat.

29.  On or about February 21, 2020, a shipment of 288 long-taited macaques,' E
containing approximately 138 wild caught monkeys and identified as USAI 916, was imported into

the United States at Newark, New Jersey,-and delivered to UCC-1 in Miami, Florida.

30. On or about February 21, 2020, an FWS Form 3-177 and CITES Permit KH1524
were presented to FWS at Liberty International Airport in Newark, New J ersey which réﬂected

that shipment USA1 916‘<Was cqmposed entirely of captive bred macaques.

31, From on or about March 11, 2020, to on or about October 20, 2020, VBRC paid.
approximately $2,515,954 for approximately 14,323 wild caught long-tailed macaques received

from 7 black market suppiiers.

14
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32. © On or about June 21, 2020, MASPHAL KRY delivered 35 wild long-tailed
macaques to the VBRC facility in Pursat and provided contact information using the name

“PHAL.”

"~ 33.  On or about June 29, 2020, Black vMarket Supplier A was paid approximately
$4,840 for the delivery of approximately 22 wild caught long-tailed macaques to the VBRC facility

at Pursat.

34.  On November 11, 2020, a shipment of 396 longffailed macaques, containing
approximately 323 wild caught monkeys and identified as USA2011, was imported into the United

States at Dulles International. Airport, Virginia, and delivered to UCC—I in Miami, F lorida.

35.  Onor about January 26, 2022, in an éxchénge of social media_ app communications,

- RA‘PHAEL"VCHEUNG disCuséed ther deliyery by Black Market Supplier D of W11d caught long-

tailed macaques to VBRC and received reﬂnn'conﬁrniation that 115 macaques had in fact been
received and discussed the expected delivery by Black Market Supplier K of 170 Wildcaught_long- /

tailed macaques.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

COUNTS2-8
Smuggling
(18 U.S.C. § 545)

1.. The General Allégati‘oﬁs section of this Indictment is realleged andgincorporate\d by
“reference herein, as though set forth in its entirety.
2. On or _aboﬁt} the:dates identified below with respect to each Count, in Miami-Dade

- County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants,

15
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OMALISS KEO,
MASPHAL KRY,
JAMES LAU,
DICKSON LAU,
SUNNY CHAN,
RAPHAEL CHEUNG MAN,
" SARAH YEUNG, and

HING IP CHUNG,

 did fraudulently and knowingly import and bring into the United States any merchandise, that is,

wild caught long—talled macaques (Macaca fascicularis), contrary to any law and regulatlon of the

: Umted States, through the presentatlon of false and fraudulent CITES Permits and FWS Form 3-.

177s:

COUNT DATE | SHIPMENT | MACAQUES QUANTI’I‘_Y/ AIRPORT OF ~ | CONSIGNEE
. { NUMBER DECLARED VALUE ENTRY . LOCATION

2 07/25/18 | USA1810 150/ $306,000 JFK - Miami, FL

3 08/24/18 USA1811 : 360/ $661,680 - JFK  Miami, FL

4 05/30/19 | USA1907 360 / $714,600 JFK - Miami; FL

5 02/21/20 | USAI1916 288 / $697,500 Newark Liberty | Miarﬁi, FL |

6 " | 11/11/20 USA2011 396/ $1,162,860 Dulles Int’l. ‘ Miami, FL

7 05/27/21 | USA2104 540/ $1,755,000 Dulles Int’]. _Miami, FL

8 12/17/21 USA2169 540 / $4,050,000 O’Hare - Miami, FL

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections,545 and 2.

FORFEITURE

1. The allegations of this Superseding Indictment aré hereby realleged and by this
* reference fully incorporated herein for the purpose of alleging forfeitures to the United States of

America of certain property in which the defendants, OMALISS KEO, MASPHAL KRY,

16
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JAMES LAU, DICKSON LAU, SUNNY CHAN, RAPHAEL ‘CHEUNG MAN, SARAH

'YEUNG, and HING. IP CHUNG, have an interest.

2. Upon conviction of a conspiraqy tofcqmmit, or'a violation of, Title 16, United States
Code, Section 3372, as allege'd,in this Supérseding Indictment, the defendants shéll forfeit to the
United States any and all wildlife imported, exported, transported, sold, received, acquired, or
purchased contrary to Title 16, United States Code, Section 3372, pursuant to Title 16, United
States Code, Section 3374. —

- 3. | -Upon ‘cor;victio.n of a violation of Title 18, United States Code‘, 'S'e'ction 545, as
alleged in this Supers’eding Indiétment, the defendants shall forfeit to tﬁe United Sfates of America -
any and all property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from précéeds traceable to -
the offense or‘foenses, pursuant to Titl;e.18, United Statc_:s Code, Section 982(a)(25CB).

All pursuant to Title 16, United States Code, Section 33774(d), TitIe 18, Uni‘:ged States Code,
Section 982(a)(2)(B), and the»’procedures set forth in Title 21, United States Code’,ﬁ Sectién 853, aé

incorporated by 28, United States Code, Section 2461.

A TRUE BILL

suax ANTONIO/G{@NQALEZ/
UNITED STATES ATFORNEY

‘ T omas Watts- FltzGérald
Assistant United States Attorney

17 .
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA - CASE NO.: 22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s)
v. A : ' -
OMALISS KEO. ET AL. ‘ CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL ATTORNEY*
/ Superseding Case Information:
" Defendants. -

Court Division (select one) _ New Defendant(s) (Yes or No) Yes

Miami Key West FTP - Number of New Defendants 1

FTL WPB ‘ Total number of New Counts ()
-I do hereby certify that:

1

" 10.
11.
12.
13.

14.

I have carefully considered the allegations of the indictment, the number of defendants, the number of probable

i w1tnesses ‘and the legal complexities of the Indictriient/Information attached hereto.

1 am aware that the information supplied on this statement will be relied upon by the Judges of this Court in setting
their calendars and scheduling criminal trials under the mandate of the Speedy Trial Act, Title 28 U.S.C. §3161.

Interpreter: (Yes or No) YQS

List language and/or dialect: Mandarin Chlnese Kmer

This case w111 take 15 days for the parties to try.

Please check appropriate category and type of offense listed below:

(Check only one) - (Check only one)
1 0'to. 5days [ Petty

I 6 to 10 days Minor

I E111 to 20 days Misdemeanor

IV 21 to 60 days Felony

v 61 days and over-

Has this case been previously filed in this District Court? (Yes or No) Yeg -

If yes, Judge Williams ' - CaseNo. 22.20340-CR SMII I IAMS
Has a complamt been filed in this matter? (Yes or No) No

If yes, Magistrate Case No:
Does this case relate to a previously filed matter in this District Court‘7 (Yes or No) Yes
Ifyes, Judge Case No. Please see attached form
Defendant(s). in federal custody as of ’
Defendant(s) in state custody as of
Rule 20 from the District of.

Isthis a potentlal death penalty case? (Yes or No) No

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region of the U.S. Attorney s Office
prior to August 8, 2014 (Mag. Judge Shaniek Maynard? (Yes or No)-No

Does this case originate from a matter pending in the Céntral Region of the U.S. Attorney’s Office

- prior to October 3, 2019 (Mag. Judge Jared Strauss? (Yes or No) No

TR

Thbmas Watts- Flt%Gerald :
Assistant United States Attorney
FLA BarNo. - 0273538
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT -
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
Case No. 22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V.
: . CERTIFICATE OF TRIAL
OMALISSKEO,ETAL. / ATTORNEY CONTINUED

) ,PREVIO[;JSLY_ FILED MATTERS IN DISTRICT COURT
'1:18;mj-2»1§§:4-110; R : R 1:20-}nj-4133-;Louis
1:1 8—mJ—25 é\()-iﬁ/léaliley '» : - S B 1 :2"1 -mj -225 1 -AOR
,«17:18-,r”ﬁj-380g,.JJo' ~ B 1:21-mj-22§25A0R
1:19-mj-2184-MeAliley S 1:‘2‘1-mj—22‘53"-iAOR
1519-mj-21§5-McA1i1¢y < o 1:21-mj-2294-A0R
_.1:19¥h1jl29,20-iJ0 - o - ”l:21-mj—-31413—.§AQ-R

| lf:iO;mj;-226'7-MéAliiey ‘ | R 1:22-mj-2071-§LQuis
1320@}259}1{@%1 L - 1:22-mij-2115-Reid
1’:2osmj-2674.-z§OR |
| 1:20-mj2730-EGT

1:20-mj-4080-EGT -
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: Omaliss Keo

Case No: 22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s)

Coimt(s) #:1

~ Conspiracy

- Title 18, United States Code, Section 371 - }
-~ % Max. Term of Imprisonment: 5 Years Imprisonment - -~ - .- - ee v e o
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment af appllcable) N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years
* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

Count(s) #: 2-8

Smuggling

Title 18, United States Code, Section 545

* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Years Imprisonment

* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisomﬁent (if applicable): N/A

* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years '

* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

|

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does not include -
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF. FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET
lDefe'n'-dant.'s'Name: _Masphal Kry \
Case No: 22-203:4‘-‘0-:CR~WI.LLIAMS(S i
Count(s) #: 1 |
Conspiracy

, ,/Tltle 18, Umted States Co

|

de, Sect10n 371

* Mandatory Min. Term
* Max. Supervised Rele

hment::5 Years Imprlsonment e e e

of Imprlsonn'lent (f apphcable) N/A
se: 3 Years

* Max. Flne Greater of 250 000 or twwe the pecunlary galn/loss

Count(s) #: 2-8

: Smu,qgling

Title 18, United States’ Code, Section 54‘1

* Max. Term of Imprlsonment 20 Years Imprisonment

* Mandatory Min. Term

of Imprisonment (if appllcable) N/A

* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Yéars

* Max Fme Greater of $250 000 or tw1ce the pecumary gam/loss

R B LilheeitaSoes

*Refers only to possible term ()f incarceration; slipervised release and fines. It does not include

restitution, special

assessments, paroleterms; or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name; Jamés Lau

Case No: 22;20340-CR-\K7ILLIAMS(5>) '
Count(s) #: 1 |

Conspiracy

--Title 18, Umted States Code Sectlon 371

“*'Max. Term of Imprisonment: 5 Years Imprlsonment
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprlsonment (if applicable): N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss
Count(s) #: 2-8

Smuggling

Title 18, United States Code, Section 545

* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Years Imprisonment
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if apphcable) N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

*Refers.only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: Dickson Lau A

Case No: 22-20340-CR—WILLIAMS(S§

Count(s) #: 1

Conspiracv , -

 Title 18, Unlted States Code Section 371 .
ST T Max. Term of Tmprisonment: 5 Years Imprlsonment
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprlsonment af appllcable) N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

~ * Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or thice the pecuniary gain/loss

Count(s) #: 2;8

Smuggling

Title 18, United States Code, Section 545 |

* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Years Imprisonment

* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if appllcable) N/A
-* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

‘* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervfsed release and fines. It does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: Sunny Chan

Case No: _ 22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s)

Count(s) #: 1

Conspiracy

. Title 18, United States Code, Section 371 , o
. * Max. Term of Imprisonment: 5 Years Imprisonment - S R
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if appllcable) N/A

* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

Count(s) #: 2-8

Smuggling

Title 18, United States Code, Section 545

* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Years Imprisonment

* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (1f applicable): N/A

* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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'UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name; Raphael Cheung Man

Case No: _22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s)

Count(s) #: 1 |

Conspiracy

- Title 18, United States Code, Section 371
' f"‘-f* Max. Term of Imprlsonment S Years Imprlsonment
" - *Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisoiiment (if applicable): N/A -
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years
* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

Count(s) #: 2-8

Smuggling

Title 18, United States Code, Section 545

* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Years Imprisonment

* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if appllcable) N/A

* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years

* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised ’:release and fines. It does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

Defendant's Name: 7 Sarah Yeung

Case No: _ 22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s)
Count(s) #: 1

Conspiracy

-+ Title 18, United States Code, Section 371
ot % Max. Term of Imprisonment: 5 Years Imprlsonment _
E Mandatory Min. Term of Imprlsonment (if applicable): N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years
* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

Count(s) #: 2-8

Smuggling

Title 18, United States Code, Section 545
* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Years Imprisonment
~ * Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years
* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration; supervised release and fines. It does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT.
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

PENALTY SHEET

| Defendant's Name:  Hing Ip Chung

Case No: _22-20340-CR-WILLIAMS(s)

Count(s) #: 1

Conspiracy

Title 18, United States Code, Section 371
. * Max. Term of: Imprisonment: 5 Years -Imprisonment
o Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if applicable): N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years
* Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain/loss

Count(s) #: 2-8

Smuggling

Title 18, United States Code, Section 545
* Max. Term of Imprisonment: 20 Years Imprisonment
* Mandatory Min. Term of Imprisonment (if appllcable) N/A
* Max. Supervised Release: 3 Years
"~ * Max. Fine: Greater of $250,000 or twice the pecumary galn/loss

*Refers only to possible term of incarceration, supervised release and fines. It does not include
restitution, special assessments, parole terms, or forfeitures that may be applicable.
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS

I, Stacey L. Wideman, on behalf of State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio (“STRS
Ohio™), hereby declare that:

I. I am the Chief Legal Officer of STRS Ohio and I am authorized to make a
certification on behalf of STRS Ohio.

2. I have reviewed the attached Amended Class Action Complaint for Violations of the
Federal Securities Laws (“Amended Complaint™) and I authorize its filing on behalf of STRS Ohio
in the action (“Action™).

3. STRS Ohio did not purchase the securities that are the subject of this action at the
direction of plaintiff’s counsel or in order to participate in any private action arising under the
federal securities laws,

4. STRS Ohio is willing to serve as a representative party on behalf of a class, including
providing testimony at deposition and trial if necessary. STRS Ohio fully understands the duties
and responsibilities of the Lead Plaintiff under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995, specifically concerning its selection and retention of counsel and overseeing and directing
the prosecution of the action on behalf of the class.

5.  STRS Ohio’s transactions in Charles River Laboratories International, Inc. (“Charles
River”) securities during the proposed class period in the Amended Complaint are set forth in
Schedule A, which is attached hereto.

6. In addition to the Action, STRS Ohio sought to serve and serves or served as a
representative party on behalf of a class in the following actions under the federal securities laws
filed during the three-year period preceding the date of this Certification:

o Ohio Public Employees Retirement System and The State Teachers Refirement
System of Ohio v. Discovery, Inc. et al., 1:22-cv-08171 (8.D.N.Y); and

e Bajjuri v. Raytheon Technologies Corp. et al., 4:20-cv-00468 (D. Ariz.).

7. STRS Ohio sought to serve as a lead plaintiff in the following class action filed under
the federal securities laws during the last three years but was not appointed as a representative
party by the court:

e Owensv. FirsiEnergy Corp. et al., 2:20-cv-03785 (8.D. Chio).

8. STRS Ohio will not accept any payment for serving as a representative party on
behalf of a class beyond its pro-rata share of any recovery, except as ordered or approved by the
court, including any award to a representative plaintiff of reasonable costs and expense directly
related to the representation of the class.
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9.  Ideclare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct, executed on
this | Hh day of November, 2023,

SHOCO A NIdomgm
Stacey L. Wideman

Chief Legal Officer
State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio
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Schedule A
STRS Ohio’s Transactions in Charles River Securities

Security Name Identifier Transaction Date Quantity | Price
Common Stock:

Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 6/17/2020 2487 | $180.0630
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 7/15/2020 (9,200) | $194.5898
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 7/16/2020 (2,400) | $191.6040
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 9/3/2020 (2,500) | $207.3053
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 9/17/2020 (1,093) | $217.3264
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 12/17/2020 522 | $243.2331
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 1/5/2021 (3,650) | $253.2393
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 1/14/2021 (6,446) | $268.0111
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 2/10/2021 (5,780) | $280.5392
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 3/18/2021 (33) | $291.4000
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 4/28/2021 (434) | $333.4623
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 4/29/2021 (357) | $333.2458
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 5/24/2021 (6,390) | $331.3341
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 6/24/2021 (2,074) | $367.7645
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 8/2/2021 (2,090) i $406.1526
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 9/16/2021 (365) | $439.8200
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 9/20/2021 (578) | $432.6045
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 9/21/2021 (587) | $441.9700
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/1/2021 12,100 1 $406.0728
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/1/2021 2,900 ¢ $412.2078
Charles River Laboratories 159864107 BUY 10/1/2021 10,000 : $412.3121
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/5/2021 14,844 | $400.9804
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/5/2021 156 1 $399.5623
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/6/2021 15,000 $397.7935
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/6/2021 7,500 1 $408.0682
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/7/2021 20,000 1 $422.2096
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/14/2021 4,302 | $408.8377
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/14/2021 5,698 | $407.9203
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/18/2021 15,000 i $413.9012
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/20/2021 12,500 ; $421.0962
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 10/26/2021 10,000 | $427.2799
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 12/7/2021 (246) | $364.0359
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 12/17/2021 820 | $359.5100
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 1/11/2022 10,000 | $356.8439
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Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 2/8/2022 6,000 | $339.1900
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 3/17/2022 (298) | $273.8500
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 4/8/2022 8,000 | $305.2354
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 4/21/2022 20,000 | $292.6652
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 6/21/2022 (615) 1 $208.3769
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 SELL 6/21/2022 (5,379) | $208.7600
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 11/11/2022 25,000 | $244.7304
Charles River Laboratories | 159864107 BUY 3/16/2023 6,190 | $192,9363
Notes:

PVTPL CHARLES RIVER

LABORATORI 3.75%

DUE 03-15 2029 BN6J2C7 BUY 3/23/2021 170,000 { $100.0000
PVTPL CHARLES RIVER

LABORATORI 3.75%

DUE 03-15 2029 BN6J2C7 SELL 3/8/2022 (130,000) $93.3870
PVTPL CHARLES RIVER

LABORATORI 4% DUE

03-15 2031 BN6I2F0 BUY 3/8/2021 75,000 | $100.0000
PVTPL CHARLES RIVER

LABORATORI 4% DUE

03-15 2031 BN6J2F0 BUY 512712021 150,000 | $102.1750
PVTPL CHARLES RIVER

LABORATORI 4% DUE

03-15 2031 BN6J2F( SELL 3/28/2021 (75,0000 | $100.8750
PVTPL CHARLES RIVER

LABORATORI 4% DUE

03-15 2031 BN6J2F0 SELL 3/8/2022 (110,000) $93.6440
PVTPL CHARLES RiVER

LABORATORI 4.25%

DUE 05-01 2028 BK59DC4 BUY 4/22/2022 47,000 $95.7580
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I, Frederic S. Fox, hereby certify that, on November 14, 2023, I caused the foregoing to be
served on all counsel of record by filing the same with the Court using the CM\ECF system which

will send electronic notices of the filing to all counsel of record.

/s/ Frederic S. Fox
Frederic S. Fox




